
CYNGOR BWRDEISTREF SIROL
RHONDDA CYNON TAF

COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Bydd cyfarfod o'r CABINET yn cael ei gynnal yn Siambr y Cyngor, Cwm 
Clydach, CF40 2XX

Dydd Iau, 13eg Chwefror, 2020 am 10.30 am

Dolen gyswllt: Hannah Williams - Uned Busnes y Cyngor 
 (Rhif ffôn. 01443 424062)

Os bydd cynghorwyr neu aelodau o'r cyhoedd yn dymuno cael cyfle i annerch 
y Cabinet am unrhyw fater ar yr agenda isod, rhaid iddyn nhw ofyn am gael 
gwneud hynny erbyn canol Dydd Mawrth, 11 Chwefror 2020. Rhaid iddyn nhw 
hefyd gadarnhau ai yn y Gymraeg neu yn y Saesneg y byddan nhw’n annerch.

Nodwch mai'r Cadeirydd biau'r penderfyniad i ganiatáu'r cais am annerch y 
Cabinet. Bydd pob cais yn cael ei ystyried ar sail y materion sy'n cael eu trafod 
ar yr agenda, buddiant y cyhoedd/y Cynghorydd ynglŷn â phob mater, a'r 
gofynion o ran y materion sydd i'w trafod ar y diwrnod hwnnw. I wneud cais, 
anfonwch e-bost i UnedBusnesGweithredolaRheoleiddiol@rctcbc.gov.uk

MATERION I'W TRAFOD

1. DATGAN BUDDIANT 
Derbyn datganiadau o fuddiannau personol gan Aelodau, yn unol â gofynion y 
Cod Ymddygiad.

Nodwch:

1. Mae gofyn i Aelodau ddatgan rhif a phwnc yr agendwm mae eu 
buddiant yn ymwneud ag ef a mynegi natur y buddiant personol 
hwnnw; a

2. Lle bo Aelodau'n ymneilltuo o'r cyfarfod o ganlyniad i ddatgelu buddiant 
sy'n rhagfarnu, rhaid iddyn nhw roi gwybod i'r Cadeirydd pan fyddan 
nhw'n gadael.

2. COFNODION 
Cadarnhau cofnodion o gyfarfod y Cabinet a gynhaliwyd ar 23 Ionawr 2020 yn 
rhai cywir.

(Tudalennau 5 - 12)

mailto:UnedBusnesGweithredolaRheoleiddiol@rctcbc.gov.uk


3. CYNLLUN DIRPRWYO'R ARWEINYDD 
Derbyn Cynllun Dirprwyo'r Arweinydd yn dilyn y diwygiad diweddar:

 Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol G. Hughes wedi'i benodi i Grŵp Llywio 
Pwyllgor Gweithredu Diwylliant a Chelfyddydau Strategol.

4. ARGYMHELLION GRWP LLYWIO'R CABINET AR FATERION YR 
HINSAWDD 
Derbyn adroddiad y Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth, Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
a Chyfathrebu, sy'n cyflwyno argymhellion Grŵp Llywio'r Cabinet ar Faterion yr 
Hinsawdd, ar ôl iddo gwrdd ar 28 Ionawr 2020 i drafod adroddiad ynglŷn â'r 
Polisi Rheoli Glaswellt Blodau Gwyllt Drafft ar gyfer Rhondda Cynon Taf ac 
adroddiad ynglŷn â'r camau y mae modd eu cymryd yn yr Ardaloedd Rheoli 
Ansawdd Aer, er mwyn sicrhau bod ansawdd aer yn gwella ledled y 
Fwrdeistref Sirol.

(Tudalennau 13 - 62)
5. GWNEUD GWAHANIAETH: CYNLLUN CORFFORAETHOL Y 

CYNGOR 2020-2024 (DRAFFT) 
Derbyn adroddiad y Prif Weithredwr, sy'n amlinellu drafft o'r Cynllun 
Corfforaethol newydd 2020-2024 ar gyfer y Cabinet. 

(Tudalennau 63 - 112)
6. TRAFOD SWYDDI SWYDDOGION YMGYSYLLTU Â THEULUOEDD 

Derbyn adroddiad y Cyfarwyddwr, Gwasanaethau Addysg a Chynhwysiant, 
sy'n rhoi cyfle i'r Cabinet drafod y cyllid a'r broses ddilynol mewn perthynas â 
chyflogi Swyddogion Ymgysylltu â Theuluoedd mewn chwe ysgol 
uwchradd/ysgol pob oed er mwyn mynd i'r afael â phresenoldeb mewn 
ysgolion.

(Tudalennau 113 - 122)
7. CANLYNIADAU ARHOLIADAU CYFNOD ALLWEDDOL 4 A 

CHYFNOD ALLWEDDOL 5 A CHATEGORÏAU YSGOLION CYNRADD 
AC UWCHRADD AR GYFER 2019/20 
Derbyn adroddiad Cyfarwyddwr, Gwasanaethau Addysg a Chynhwysiant sy'n 
cadarnhau canlyniadau arholiadau Cyfnod Allweddol 4 a Chyfnod Allweddol 5 
yn 2018/19, a chategorïau Ysgolion Cynradd ac Uwchradd yn ôl system 
gategoreiddio Llywodraeth Cymru ar gyfer 2019/20.

(Tudalennau 123 - 136)
8. CYDWEITHIO AR YR UNED TRAFNIDIAETH INTEGREDIG 

Derbyn adroddiad y Cyfarwyddwr Ffyniant, Datblygu, a Gwasanaethau Rheng-
flaen, sy'n ceisio cymeradwyaeth y Cabinet ar gyfer Uned Trafnidiaeth 
Integredig Cynghorau Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili a Rhondda Cynon Taf, sef 
prosiect cydweithredol i greu canolfan ragoriaeth ar gyfer darparu 
gwasanaethau trafnidiaeth ar draws y ddau awdurdod lleol. 

(Tudalennau 137 - 150)

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/TheCabinet/RelatedDocuments/LeadersSchemeofDelegation3A.pdf


9. CEFNOGI BUSNESAU TREF A MANWERTHU YN RHONDDA 
CYNON TAF – CYNLLUN LLEIHAU ARDRETHI BUSNES LLEOL 
Derbyn adroddiad y Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Cyllid a Digidol, sy'n darparu 
canlyniadau'r broses ymgynghori ar Gynllun Lleihau Ardrethi Busnes Lleol ar 
gyfer Rhondda Cynon Taf, yn ogystal â diweddariad am barhâd Cynllun 
Rhyddhad Ardrethi'r Stryd Fawr ac Ardrethi Manwerthu Llywodraeth Cymru ar 
gyfer 2020/21. 

(Tudalennau 151 - 162)
10. MATERION BRYS 

Trafod unrhyw faterion brys y mae'r Cadeirydd yn eu gweld yn briodol.

Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a Chyfathrebu

Cylchrediad:-

Y Cynghorwyr: Y Cynghorydd A Morgan (Cadeirydd)
Y Cynghorydd M Webber (Is-gadeirydd)
Y Cynghorydd R Bevan
Y Cynghorydd A Crimmings
Y Cynghorydd  M Norris
Y Cynghorydd J Rosser
Y Cynghorydd R Lewis
Y Cynghorydd C Leyshon

Swyddogion: Chris Bradshaw, Prif Weithredwr
Christian Hanagan, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth y Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd a Chyfathrebu
Gio Isingrini, Cyfarwyddwr Cyfadran y Gwasanaethau Cymuned a 
Gwasanaethau i Blant
Nigel Wheeler, Cyfarwyddwr Cyfadran – Ffyniant, Datblygu, a 
Gwasanaethau Rheng-flaen
Paul Mee, Cyfarwyddwr – Iechyd a Diogelwch y Cyhoedd, a 
Gwasanaethau’r Gymuned.
David Powell, Cyfarwyddwr Materion Eiddo’r Cyngor
Richard Evans, Cyfarwyddwr - Materion Adnoddau Dynol
Simon Gale, Cyfarwyddwr Materion Ffyniant a Datblygu
Andy Wilkins, Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol
Barrie Davies, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Cyllid a Digidol
Gaynor Davies, Cyfarwyddwr Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant
Derek James, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth – Materion Ffyniant a Datblygu



Tudalen wag



 

 

 
PWYLLGOR CABINET CYNGOR RHONDDA CYNON TAF 

 CABINET 
Cofnodion o gyfarfod y Cabinet a gynhaliwyd   Dydd Iau, 23 Ionawr 2020 am 10.30 am ym 

Siambr y Cyngor, Y Pafiliynau, Parc Hen Lofa'r Cambrian, Cwm Clydach, Tonypandy, CF40 2XX. 
 
 

Y Cynghorwyr Bwrdeistref Sirol - Cabinet Aelodau oedd yn bresennol:-:- 
 

Y Cynghorydd A Morgan (Cadeirydd) 
 

Y Cynghorydd M Webber Y Cynghorydd R Bevan 
Y Cynghorydd A Crimmings Y Cynghorydd  M Norris 

Y Cynghorydd R Lewis Y Cynghorydd C Leyshon 
 
 

Swyddogion oedd yn bresennol 
 

Mr C Bradshaw, Prif Weithredwr 
Mr C Hanagan, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a Chyfathrebu 
Mr G Isingrini, Cyfarwyddwr Cyfadran y Gwasanaethau Cymuned a Gwasanaethau i Blant 
Mr N Wheeler, Cyfarwyddwr Cyfadran – Ffyniant, Datblygu, a Gwasanaethau Rheng-flaen 

Mr D Powell, Cyfarwyddwr Materion Eiddo’r Cyngor 
Mr P Mee, Cyfarwyddwr – Iechyd a Diogelwch y Cyhoedd, a Gwasanaethau’r Gymuned. 

Mr R Evans, Cyfarwyddwr - Materion Adnoddau Dynol 
Mr B Davies, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Cyllid a Digidol 
Mr S Humphreys, Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol 

Ms A Batley, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau i Blant 
Mr. M. Phillips, Rheolwr Gwasanaethau Refeniw 

Ms G Davies, Cyfarwyddwr Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant 
 

Y Cynghorwyr Bwrdeistref Sirol eraill oedd yn bresennol 
 
  

Y Cynghorydd G Davies 
 
 
 
 

91   Ymddiheuriadau am Absenoldeb  
 

 

 Daeth ymddiheuriad am absenoldeb gan Gynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol J. 
Rosser.  
 

 

92   Datgan Buddiant  
 

 

 Yn unol â Chod Ymddygiad y Cyngor, doedd dim datganiadau o fuddiant ynglŷn 
â'r agenda.  
 

 

93   Cofnodion  
 

 

 PENDERFYNWYD cymeradwyo cofnodion y cyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 4 Rhagfyr,  

Tudalen 5

Agendwm 2



 

2018 yn rhai cywir.  
 

94   Cynllun Dirprwyo'r Arweinydd  
 

 

 Rhoddodd y Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth, Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a 
Chyfathrebu y newyddion diweddaraf i'r Aelodau am y newid i Gynllun Dirprwyo'r 
Arweinydd, a PHENDERFYNWYD: 

1. Nodi cynnwys Cynllun Dirprwyo'r Arweinydd   
2. Nodi bod hawl gan Arweinydd y Cyngor i newid y Cynllun Dirprwyo 

mewn perthynas â swyddogaethau gweithredol unrhyw bryd yn y 
flwyddyn; a bod diweddariad o adran 3A yn cael ei gyflwyno i 
Aelodau yng nghyfarfod nesaf y Cabinet. 

 
 

 

95   Ailgylchu yn RhCT - Argymhellion y Grŵp Llywio ar Faterion yr Hinsawdd  
 

 

 Cyflwynodd y Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth, Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a 
Chyfathrebu argymhellion Grŵp Llywio'r Cabinet ar Faterion yr Hinsawdd, a 
ystyriodd adroddiad ar gyflawniad ailgylchu ar gyfer 6 mis cyntaf 2019/20, y 
Cyfleuster Adennill Deunydd newydd, datblygiadau ym Mryn Pica ar gyfer y 
dyfodol a newidiadau deddfwriaethol posibl. 
 
Hysbysodd y Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth yr Aelodau, yn dilyn trafodaeth yn eu 
cyfarfod ar 18 Rhagfyr 2019, fod y Grŵp Llywio o'r farn bod Cyngor RhCT ar 
flaen y gad o ran gwelliant parhaus yn yr ardal. Teimlai'r Grŵp Llywio bod y 
Cyngor mewn sefyllfa gadarnhaol i newid y targed ailgylchu i 80% erbyn 
2024/25, ar y cyd ag ymgyrch farchnata addas i roi gwybod ar y camau gorfodi 
sy'n wynebu preswylwyr os na fyddant yn ailgylchu.  
 
PENDERFYNODD y Cabinet: 

1. Nodi cynnwys yr adroddiad a drafodwyd gan Grŵp Llywio'r Cabinet ar 
faterion yr Hinsawdd ar 18 Rhagfyr 2019 a; 

2. Newid y targed ailgylchu i 80% erbyn 2024/25. 
 
 

 

96   Ffynnon Dwym Ffynnon Taf - Argymhellion y Grŵp Llywio ar Faterion yr 
Hinsawdd  
 

 

 Cyflwynodd y Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth, Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a 
Chyfathrebu argymhellion Grŵp Llywio'r Cabinet ar Faterion yr Hinsawdd, a 
oedd wedi trafod adroddiad ar y sefyllfa gyfredol o ran Prosiect Ynni 
Adnewyddadwy Ffynnon Dwym Ffynnon Taf. 
 
Dywedodd y Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth wrth y Cabinet fod y Grŵp Llywio wedi 
cael cyflwyniad Power Point manwl yn ei gyfarfod ar 18 Rhagfyr 2019, a oedd yn 
ceisio egluro cefndir y prosiect, y ffordd arfaethedig ymlaen a'r goblygiadau o ran 
costau. Roedd y Grŵp Llywio yn arbennig o falch o glywed bod disgwyl i'r 
prosiect craidd cyfredol arbed 37.1 tunnell o CO2, a chytunwyd i argymell i'r 
Cabinet gymeradwyo'r prosiect. 
 
Manteisiodd yr Arweinydd a'r Dirprwy Arweinydd ar y cyfle i ddiolch i'r Grŵp 
Llywio am eu gwaith, ac i'r Aelod Lleol am wthio prosiect mor gadarnhaol yn ei 
flaen. 
 

 

Tudalen 6



 

PENDERFYNWYD: 
1. Nodi cynnwys yr adroddiad a drafodwyd gan Grŵp Llywio'r Cabinet ar 

faterion yr Hinsawdd ar 18 Rhagfyr 2019 a; 
2. Cymeradwyo camau nesaf y prosiect. 

 
 

97   Adroddiadau Blynyddol Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol Cymru 
2018-2019  
 

 

 Darparodd y Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth, Gwasanaethau Plant Adroddiad 
Blynyddol Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol Cymru i'r Cabinet. Mae'n 
ofynnol ei ddwyn gerbron y Cabinet yn rhan o Reoliad 22 o Reoliadau 
Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Awdurdod Lleol (Cymru) 2007 ac Adran 15 (c) o 
Gyfarwyddiadau Deddf Mabwysiadu a Phlant 2002 (Rheoliadau Mabwysiadu ar 
y Cyd) (Cymru) 2015. 
 
Cyfeiriwyd yr aelodau at Atodiad 1 yr adroddiad, lle manylwyd ar yr Adroddiad 
Blynyddol ar gyfer 2018-19. Dysgon nhw y bu cynnydd yn nifer y plant a leolwyd 
i'w mabwysiadu a bod recriwtio rhieni yn parhau i fod yn her. Aeth y swyddog 
ymlaen i siarad am y buddsoddiad o £2.3 miliwn gan Lywodraeth Cymru, a oedd 
wedi'i ddarparu i gefnogi'r blaenoriaethau a gwella cyflawniad, o bosibl.   

 
PENDERFYNODD y Cabinet: 

1. Nodi cynnwys yr adroddiad. 
 

 

98   Dirprwyo awdurdod i orfodi darpariaethau Deddf Rhentu Cartrefi (Cymru) 
2019 (Ffioedd ac ati)  
 

 

 Cyflwynodd y Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth - Iechyd a Diogelwch y Cyhoedd, a'r 
Gymuned yr adroddiad, sy'n ceisio cymeradwyaeth y Cabinet i ddirprwyo 
awdurdod i'r Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth - Iechyd a Diogelwch y Cyhoedd, a'r 
Gymuned ac i'r Awdurdod Trwyddedu unigol yng Nghymru (Rhentu Doeth 
Cymru) o ran defnyddio pwerau gorfodi Deddf Rhentu Cartrefi (Ffioedd ac ati) 
(Cymru) 2019. 
 
Soniodd y Cyfarwyddwr am Ddeddf Rhentu Cartrefi (Ffioedd ac ati) (Cymru) 
2019, a ddaeth i rym ar 5 Mai 2019.  Esboniwyd bod asiantau gosod a 
landlordiaid sy'n rheoli eu heiddo eu hunain yn cael eu hatal rhag codi unrhyw 
ffioedd cyn, yn ystod neu ar ôl tenantiaeth oni bai eu bod wedi'u heithrio'n 
benodol yn y Ddeddf.  
 
Tynnodd y Cyfarwyddwr sylw'r Aelodau at Adran 4.4 yr adroddiad, lle 
amlinellwyd y taliadau y mae hawl gan asiantau gosod a landlordiaid hunanreoli 
eu codi. Esboniwyd y gallai'r Cyngor a Rhentu Doeth Cymru orfodi'r gofynion 
newydd ac y byddai'n cyfrannu at brofiad tecach a mwy tryloyw i denantiaid sy'n 
dibynnu ar y sector rhentu preifat.  
 
Cyn y drafodaeth, dywedodd y Cyfarwyddwr wrth yr Aelodau am wall yn Adran 
2.1 yr adroddiad gan ddweud, pe byddent yn bwriadu cymeradwyo'r 
argymhellion, y dylid dileu'r gair 'of'  o'r teitl ‘Renting of Homes (Fees etc.) 
(Wales) Act 2019’ yn y fersiwn Saesneg. 
 
Siaradodd yr Aelod o'r Cabinet ar faterion Cymunedau, Diwylliant a’r Iaith 
Gymraeg yn gadarnhaol am Ddeddf Rhentu Cartrefi (Ffioedd ac ati) (Cymru) 
2019, gan nodi ei bod yn gwella hawliau tenantiaid ac yn darparu diogelwch 

 

Tudalen 7



 

ariannol i breswylwyr.  
 
Holodd y Dirprwy Arweinydd a fyddai'r Ddeddf yn cael effaith gadarnhaol ar Dai 
Amlfeddiannaeth (HMOs), a chadarnhaodd y Cyfarwyddwr ei fod yn gam 
cadarnhaol ymlaen yn hynny o beth ac y byddai'n atal cytundebau benthyciad ac 
ati.  
 
Roedd y Cabinet yn hapus i ddarparu cefnogaeth, yn amodol ar ddiwygio Adran 
2.1, a PHENDERFYNWYD: 

1. Rhoi awdurdod dirprwyedig i'r Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth - Iechyd a 
Diogelwch y Cyhoedd, a'r Gymuned ar gyfer gorfodi darpariaethau Deddf 
Rhentu Cartrefi (Ffioedd ac ati) (Cymru) 2019 a nodi y byddai'r Swyddog 
Monitro yn gwneud unrhyw welliant dilynol sy'n ofynnol i'r Cyfansoddiad y 
Cyngor;  

2. Rhoi awdurdod dirprwyedig i Reolwr Gweithrediadau Rhentu Doeth 
Cymru ar gyfer gorfodi darpariaethau Deddf Rhentu Cartrefi (Ffioedd ac 
ati) (Cymru) 2019 a nodi y byddai'r Swyddog Monitro yn gwneud unrhyw 
welliant dilynol sy'n ofynnol i'r Cyfansoddiad y Cyngor;  

 
 

99   Cyllideb Refeniw'r Cyngor ar gyfer 2020/21  
 

 

 Derbyn adroddiad y Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Cyllid a Digidol, sy'n rhoi 
gwybodaeth i'r Cabinet am setliad llywodraeth leol 2020/2021 a chanlyniadau 
cam 1 o ymgynghoriad y gyllideb, i gynorthwyo gyda'i drafodaethau wrth lunio'r 
strategaeth cyllideb refeniw ar gyfer blwyddyn ariannol 2020/21. Caiff hon ei 
hargymell i'r Cyngor i'w chymeradwyo. 
 
Tynnodd y Cyfarwyddwr sylw'r Aelodau at Atodiad A yr adroddiad, lle 
paratowyd papur trafod gan Uwch Arweinwyr y Cyngor mewn ymateb i Setliad 
Llywodraeth Leol 2020/21. Roedd y swyddogion wedi rhoi sylw dyledus i'r 
Cynllun Corfforaethol drafft newydd “Gwneud Gwahaniaeth” 2020-2024, wrth 
lunio'r cynigion a nodwyd yn yr adroddiad. Roedd yr adroddiad yn manylu ar 
farn y swyddogion, sef codi'r Dreth Gyngor ar gyfer 2020/21 ar lefel sy'n 
cydbwyso'r awydd am ddarparu gwasanaeth teg a chyfiawn â'r angen i 
gydnabod yr effaith y gall beichiau treth gormodol ei chael ar aelwydydd lleol. 
 
Soniodd y Cyfarwyddwr am y Setliad Llywodraeth Leol 2020/2021 Arfaethedig, 
a ragwelodd y byddai cynnydd Cyngor RhCT yn cael ei bennu ar 4.5%. 
Eglurwyd bod sefyllfa ariannol gyffredinol y Cyngor yn parhau i fod yn gadarn, 
ond dydy balansau'r Cronfeydd Cyffredinol ddim yn ormodol. Mae rhaid i'r 
Cyngor, felly, barhau i ganolbwyntio ar gynnal balansau'r Cronfeydd Cyffredinol 
ar isafswm o £10M, er mwyn lliniaru unrhyw risg o ansefydlogrwydd gyllideb yn 
y dyfodol. Yn ogystal â hynny, mae cyfle i ddefnyddio'r Gronfa Gweddnewid 
Gwasanaeth a Chynllunio Ariannol Tymor Canolig yn bragmataidd ar gyfer 
arian pontio heb wneud niwed i i sefydlogrwydd ariannol y Cyngor, neu ostwng 
balansau ein Cronfeydd Cyffredinol yn is na £10 miliwn.  
 
O ran gosod lefel Treth y Cyngor, soniodd y Cyfarwyddwr am ddefnyddio dull 
rhesymol, a fyddai'n cydbwyso'r effaith ar wasanaethau a gallu'r cyhoedd i dalu. 
Aeth ymlaen i roi gwybod i'r Cabinet am yr adborth o Gam 1 y broses 
ymgynghori, a oedd yn ceisio barn y Pwyllgor Craffu Cyllid a Chyflawniad, 
preswylwyr a rhanddeiliaid mewn perthynas â'r blociau adeiladu strategol 
allweddol a ddefnyddir i lunio cyllideb y Cyngor. Nododd yr Aelodau mai'r cynnig 
gwreiddiol a gafodd ei fodelu oedd cynyddu Treth y Cyngor yn 2020/21 o 3.00%, 

 

Tudalen 8



 

ond cynigiwyd y dylid cynyddu Treth y Cyngor o 2.85% yn lle hynny. Byddai hyn 
yn cynyddu'r bwlch cyllidebol sy'n weddill o £0.132 miliwn. 
 
Tynnodd y Cyfarwyddwr sylw'r Aelodau at Adran 8 o adroddiad yr Uwch 
Arweinwyr, lle nodwyd cynigion Cyllideb 2020/21 i'w hystyried gan y Cabinet. 
Ceisiodd y cynigion barhau i amddiffyn y gwasanaethau rheng flaen a 
blaenoriaethu meysydd allweddol, megis cynyddu Cyllideb yr Ysgol o £148.9 
miliwn i £161.6 miliwn, cynnydd o £12.7 miliwn, neu 8.5%. 
 
Rhoddodd y Cyfarwyddwr fanylion y cynigion canlynol:  

• Cynllun rhyddhad lleol - Ardrethi Annomestig     
• Ymgysylltu â Phobl Ifanc / Troseddu Ieuenctid 
• Pyllau Padlo 
• Benthyca Darbodus ar gyfer Buddsoddi yn ein Seilwaith 
• Cefnogi Canolfan Gelf y Miwni 
• Ffioedd a chostau 
• Arbedion Ail-dendro Cludiant Cartref i Ysgol 
• Cynllun Gostyngiadau Treth y Cyngor  
• Strategaeth Llety â Chymorth ac Arbedion 

 
Gorffennodd y Cyfarwyddwr trwy roi gwybod i Aelodau'r Cabinet, pe bydden 
nhw'n bwriadu cymeradwyo'r cynigion ger eu bron, y byddai Cam 2 yr 
ymgynghoriad yn cychwyn ar unwaith. Byddai'r Strategaeth Gyllideb ddrafft yn 
cael ei chyflwyno i'r Cabinet i'w chymeradwyo ar 20 Chwefror 2020 ac yna i'r 
Cyngor i'w gadarnhau ar 4 Mawrth 2020. 
 
Manteisiodd yr Arweinydd ar y cyfle i ddiolch i'r Uwch Arweinwyr, swyddogion 
cyllid a rheolwyr gwasanaeth am yr adroddiad cadarn, a fyddai'n caniatáu i'r 
Cyngor leihau'r bwlch yn y gyllideb ymhellach, wrth gynnal neu ehangu 
gwasanaethau allweddol i drigolion Rhondda Cynon Taf. Roedd yr Arweinydd yn 
falch o nodi bod y cynigion yn dangos y cynnydd arian parod mwyaf i ysgolion - 
bron i 13 miliwn, cynnydd o 9.3 miliwn ar gyfer gofal cymdeithasol, cynnydd o 
13% yn y gyllideb darpariaeth ieuenctid a £50,000 ar gyfer pyllau padlo. 
Dywedodd yr Arweinydd, er ei fod yn buddsoddi'n sylweddol yn ei wasanaethau, 
fod Cyngor RhCT wedi cynnig y cynnydd isaf yn Nhreth y Cyngor, o bosibl, o'i 
gymharu â'r Awdurdodau Lleol cyfagos, lle roedd toriadau gwasanaeth yn dal i 
gael eu cynnig.  
 
Gan gyfeirio at adborth ymgynghoriad Cam 1, dywedodd yr Arweinydd fod 
80.8% o drigolion wedi nodi y byddent yn talu cynnydd o 3% yn Nhreth y Cyngor 
i gynnal y lefel gyfredol o wasanaethau, a bod y cynnydd arfaethedig mewn 
gwirionedd yn 2.85%. 
 
Manteisiodd yr Aelod o'r Cabinet ar faterion Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol ar y 
cyfle hefyd i ddiolch i'r swyddogion am yr adroddiad cynhwysfawr. Croesawodd 
yr Aelod o'r Cabinet y cynnig, gan nodi er bod y Cyngor o dan bwysau 
sylweddol, fod y Cyngor yn parhau i ganolbwyntio ar feysydd dyrchafol fel 
ysgolion a darpariaeth ieuenctid. 
 
Siaradodd y Dirprwy Arweinydd am y broses ymgynghori ac roedd yn falch o 
nodi bod 90% o'r preswylwyr yr ymgynghorwyd â nhw yn cytuno ar y 5 maes 
blaenoriaeth allweddol; aeth ymlaen i ddiolch i OPAG, Fforwm Ieuenctid y Sir a'r 
Fforwm Anabledd am eu mewnbwn gwerthfawr. Aeth y Dirprwy ymlaen i siarad 
am y buddsoddiad i ddatblygu Canolfan Gelf y Miwni, YMCA a Dyffryn Taf, a 

Tudalen 9



 

fyddai’n cyfrannu at wneud Pontypridd yn ganol tref fywiog. 
 
Cafwyd trafodaethau ynghylch y cynnig i gynnwys £50,000 yn y Strategaeth 
Gyllideb ar gyfer pyllau padlo. Cydnabu'r Cabinet y straeon llwyddiant a'r gwerth 
ychwanegol o gynnwys grwpiau cymunedol ar gyfer datblygiadau ehangach.  
 
Siaradodd yr Aelod o'r Cabinet ar faterion Gwasanaethau’r Amgylchedd, 
Hamdden a Threftadaeth am y cynnydd o 50c ar gyfer nofio i oedolion yn y Lido, 
gan nodi ei bod yn braf gweld bod preswylwyr yn gwerthfawrogi’r cyfleuster ac 
yn barod i dalu mwy.  
 
Gyda chytundeb yr Arweinydd, ac yntau yn Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor, siaradodd 
Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol P. Jarman am yr eitem, ac ymatebodd yr 
Aelodau i hyn.  
 
Wrth ymateb i awgrymiadau'r Aelod, pwysleisiodd yr Arweinydd yr angen i 
flaenoriaethu ar draws meysydd gwasanaeth, gan ystyried yn gryf yr effaith y 
gall beichiau treth gormodol ei chael ar breswylwyr.  
 
Cafwyd trafodaethau ynghylch darpariaeth ieuenctid, gydag Aelodau'r Cabinet 
yn nodi bod buddsoddiadau'r Cyngor mewn addysg, cyswllt di-wifr canol trefi, 
hamdden, ardaloedd chwarae, theatr a grwpiau chwaraeon i gyd o fudd i bobl 
ifanc ar gyfer y dyfodol. Siaradodd yr Aelodau hefyd am Gynllun Graddedigion a 
Phrentisiaethau'r Cyngor, sy'n rhoi hyfforddiant, sgiliau a chyfleoedd cyflogaeth i 
bobl ifanc, er eu bod yn gost refeniw i'r Cyngor. 
 
Dywedodd yr Arweinydd fod croeso i Grwpiau gwleidyddol eraill gyflwyno 
cynigion cyllideb amgen i'w hystyried.  
 
Cynigiodd yr Aelod o'r Cabinet ar faterion Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol rewi'r 
taliadau am brydau ysgol am ddwy flynedd, ar ôl y cynnydd o 5c yn 
2020/2021, y cytunodd yr Aelodau eraill iddo. 
 
PENDERFYNODD y Cabinet: 

1. Nodi bod y gweithdrefnau sy'n ymwneud ag adeiladu cyllideb 
refeniw, y broses ymgynghori cyllideb, ac adrodd i'r Cyngor, wedi'u 
nodi yn "Y Gyllideb a'r Fframwaith Polisi", sy'n cael ei gynnwys yng 
Nghyfansoddiad y Cyngor; 

2. Nodi ac ystyried canlyniadau proses cam 1 o ymgynghori ar y 
gyllideb; 

3. Strategaeth ddrafft 2020/2021 Cyllideb Refeniw, y manylir arni yn y 
Papur Trafod ynghlwm 'Atodiad A', fel sail y bydd ail gam yr 
ymgynghori yn digwydd; 

4. Cynnig rhewi'r taliadau am brydau ysgol am ddwy flynedd, ar ôl y 
cynnydd o 5c yn 2020/2021; 

5. Yr amserlen ddrafft ar gyfer pennu cyllideb refeniw 2020/2021, sydd 
wedi'i nodi yn Atodiad A2. 

6. Derbyn adborth o ail gam yr ymgynghoriad cyllideb er mwyn ystyried 
a phenderfynu ar y strategaeth gyllidebol derfynol i'w chyflwyno i'r 
Cyngor; a 

7. Bod y Cyngor yn parhau i gefnogi'r strategaeth ariannol tymor 
canolig gyda'r nod o sicrhau'r effeithlonrwydd parhaus o ran darparu 
gwasanaethau, trawsnewid gwasanaethau wedi'u targedu a 
newidiadau eraill sy'n cynnal uniondeb ariannol y Cyngor wrth 
barhau i anelu cymaint â phosibl i ddiogelu swyddi a gwasanaethau 

Tudalen 10



 

allweddol.  
  
 

100   Trafod cadarnhau'r cynnig isod yn benderfyniad  
 

 

 PENDERFYNWYD: “Bod y cyfarfod yma yn cadw aelodau o'r wasg ac aelodau 
o'r cyhoedd allan o ystafell y cyfarfod, dan Adran 100A(4) o Ddeddf Llywodraeth 
Leol (fel y'i diwygiwyd), yn ystod trafod yr agendwm nesaf, ar y sail y byddai'n 
debygol o olygu datgelu gwybodaeth eithriedig yn ôl diffiniad paragraff xx o Ran 
4 o Atodlen 12A i'r Ddeddf.” 
 
 

 

101   Cynllun Rheoli Asedau Corfforaethol - y diweddaraf  
 

 

 Yn dilyn trafod adroddiad y Cyfarwyddwr Materion Eiddo'r Cyngor, sy'n cynnwys 
Gwybodaeth Eithriedig fel y diffinnir ym Mharagraff 14 o Ran 4 o Atodlen 12A o'r 
Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol (fel y'i diwygiwyd), sef gwybodaeth ynglŷn â materion 
ariannol unigolyn penodol (gan gynnwys yr awdurdod sy'n dal yr wybodaeth 
honno), PENDERFYNWYD: 

1. Nodi cynnwys yr adroddiad; a 
2. Cynyddu'r targed i 35% ar gyfer lleihau ôl troed llety swyddfa erbyn 

2021/22. 
 

 

102   Dileu dyledion nad oes modd eu casglu  
 

 

 Yn dilyn ystyried adroddiad y Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Cyllid a Digidol sy'n 
cynnwys gwybodaeth eithriedig fel y'i diffinnir ym Mharagraff 14 o Ran 4 o 
Atodlen 12A o Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol, 1972 (fel y'i diwygiwyd), sef 
gwybodaeth sy'n ymwneud â materion ariannol unrhyw rai penodol (gan 
gynnwys yr awdurdod sy'n dal y wybodaeth honno), PENDERFYNWYD: 

1. Dileu'r cyfrifon sydd wedi'u nodi yn Atodiad 2 i'r Ddarpariaeth o Ddyledion 
sydd wedi'i chynnwys yng nghyfrifon y Cyngor (gan geisio taliad os daw 
rhagor o wybodaeth am unrhyw ddyled i'r amlwg). 

 
 

 

 
 

Daeth y cyfarfod i ben am 11.45 am Cllr A Morgan 
Cadeirydd. 

 

Tudalen 11



Tudalen wag



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

 13TH FEBRUARY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE CLIMATE CHANGE CABINET STEERING 
GROUP 

REPORT OF THE SERVICE DIRECTOR OF DEMOCRATIC SERVICES AND 
COMMUNICATION IN CONSULTATION WITH COUNCILLOR RHYS LEWIS 
(CLIMATE CHANGE CHAMPION)

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide the Cabinet with the recommendations 
of the Climate Change Cabinet Steering Group, which met on the 28th January 
2020, to consider a report on the draft Wildflower Grass Management Policy for 
Rhondda Cynon Taf and a report on the action that can be taken in the Air 
Quality Management Areas, to ensure air quality improves across the County 
Borough.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that the Cabinet:

2.1 Note the content of the two reports considered by the Climate Change Cabinet 
Steering Group on the 28th January 2020, which are attached as Appendix 1 
and Appendix 2 to the report and;

2.2 Agree the recommendations of the Climate Change Cabinet Steering Group:

I. To approve the Wildflower Grass Management Policy for Rhondda Cynon Taf

II. To continue progressing with the short-term and practicable actions identified 
in Table B of the Air Quality Management Areas report; 

III. That having regard to the current local circumstances, the Director of Public 
Health, Protection and Community Services work with the Group Director of 
Prosperity, Development and Frontline Services to identify the viable, long-term 
actions from Table B of the Air Quality Management Areas report, to include in 
the Council’s Highway Capital Programme for Cabinet consideration; and

IV. That the Council seek to engage with its residents on the Clean Air Day, which 
is taking place on 20th June 2020, which is funded by the Welsh government 
and forms part of the wider Clean Air Day campaign across the UK.

Tudalen 13

Agendwm 4



3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 To acknowledge the work of the Climate Change Cabinet Steering Group and 
their recommendations.

4. THE CLIMATE CHANGE CABINET STEERING GROUP

4.1 The Climate Change Cabinet Steering Group met on the 28th January 2020, 
where they considered the following reports:

4.2 THE DRAFT WILDFLOWER GRASS MANAGEMENT POLICY FOR 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF.

4.3 In recent years, the loss of wildflower grassland habitats and the pollinating 
insects they support has become an issue of public concern. Publically owned 
grasslands and grass verges have significant potential as reservoirs of 
wildflower rich habitat that can contribute to reconnecting and restoring 
grassland biodiversity. As these areas are in public view, they also offer 
opportunities for awareness raising, local community support and action. 

4.2 Following its consideration of the report on the Council’s Biodiversity at its 
meeting in December 2019, the Climate Change Cabinet Steering Group 
considered the report of the Group Director of Prosperity, Development and 
Frontline Services and the Director, Public Health, Protection and Community 
Services, which sought the Steering Group’s feedback on the draft Wildflower 
Grass Management Policy for Rhondda Cynon Taf.

4.3 The Steering Group were informed that whilst biodiversity has been lost in 
certain parts of the UK, Rhondda Cynon Taf is fortunate to have a wide range 
of native wildflowers growing naturally in its fields, verges and woodlands.  All 
of the plants are perfectly adapted to the soil, climate and habitat and are part 
of the ‘ecosystem’ providing food not only for pollinators but for many insects 
and other animals.  

4.4 The Steering Group were in favour of the proposals to increase the number of 
sites in wildflower management and to establish a Biodiversity website, which 
would be used to engage the community by providing information and raise 
awareness. 

4.5 Discussions ensued around the ‘Grab a Rake’ campaign, which had been 
devised to involve the local community in the management of some of the grass 
verges left for biodiversity. Members spoke positive of including the community 
in the campaign and the additional education value, commenting that 
community ownership is essential in raising awareness.

4.6 The Steering Group agreed that a clear message would need to be promoted 
to ensure that communities are fully aware that the uncut grass is a positive 

Tudalen 14

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/ClimateControlCabinetSteeringGroup/2019/11/18/Reports/Item4Biodiversity.pdf


measure. As such, Members were of the view that appropriate signage would 
need to be established at the sites. 

4.7 Members of the Steering Group spoke of their own experiences with similar 
community initiatives and acknowledged that smaller, cost-effective schemes 
contribute to the wider agenda. 

4.8 WHAT ACTION CAN BE TAKEN TO IMPROVE THE AIR QUALITY 
MANAGEMENT AREAS, TO ENSURE AIR QUALITY IMPROVES ACROSS 
THE COUNTY BOROUGH.

4.9 Poor air quality is the largest environmental risk to public health in the UK and 
is a public health priority for Wales.  It has been estimated that the annual 
mortality burden of human-made air pollution in the UK is 28,000 to 36,000 
deaths every year, in comparison 20,000 deaths have been attributed to alcohol 
related diseases and obesity is currently believed to be responsible for more 
than 30,000 deaths every year.  It is understood that often the most vulnerable 
within our communities are most at risk from the potential effects of air 
pollutants and perversely are more often likely to experience it.

4.10 The Climate Change Cabinet Steering Group considered the report of the 
Director, Public Health, Protection and Community Services. The report sought 
consideration of the action that can be taken in the Air Quality Management 
Areas, to ensure air quality improves across the County Borough.

4.11 The Steering Group were provided with examples of the 16 Air Quality 
Management areas identified within Rhondda Cynon Taf and were pleased to 
note that the majority of the Borough is believed to experience good air quality 
and that those areas identified were isolated hot spots. They were informed that 
very specific local circumstances can result in levels of Nitrogen Dioxide that 
can exceed an Air Quality Objective. 

4.12 The Steering Group were informed of the grant funding, which had been utilised 
to deliver improved street lighting to serve the active travel access route to 
Pontypridd High School.  It was acknowledged that the holistic, multi-agenda 
outcome approach had been essential and had benefited a number of agendas, 
including local engagement, active travel, air quality, climate change and 
biodiversity.

4.13 The Steering Group were referred to Appendix 1 of the report, where the 
individual Air Quality Action Plans were listed. A number of the improvements 
were considered to be practical in delivering short-term air quality improvement 
within the Air Quality Management Areas. However, the Steering Group 
acknowledged that the current transport related issues and infrastructure within 
RCT would not sufficiently support some of the long-term, sustainable actions 
identified. It was therefore recommended that discussions continue to take 
place between the Director of Public Health, Protection and Community 
Services and the Group Director of Prosperity, Development and Frontline 
Services to identify the viable, long-term actions from Table B of the report, to 
include in the Council’s Highway Capital Programme for Cabinet consideration.

Tudalen 15

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-air-pollution/health-matters-air-pollution
https://gov.wales/air-quality-management-guidance-local-authorities


4.14 Discussions ensued around community engagement and the Clean Air Day, 
which is taking place on 20th June 2020, which is funded by the Welsh 
government and forms part of the wider Clean Air Day campaign across the 
UK. The Steering Group felt that the Council’s participation in the initiative 
would promote a positive message to its residents but agreed that the correct 
message would need to be conveyed, whether that be in respect of car sharing, 
cycling to work or tree planting. 

5.       LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED

5.1 In respect of the draft Wildflower Grass Management Policy, the Council has a 
statutory biodiversity duty under S.6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 and 
general responsibilities with regard to land management under various Acts 
including Highways legislation.

5.2 There are no legal implications aligned to the Air Quality Management Areas 
report.

6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no equality or diversity implications as a result of the 
recommendations set out within the report.

7. CONSULTATION / INVOLVEMENT

7.1 The draft Wildflower Grass Management Policy has been developed in 
consultation with Council staff who have responsibility and practical expertise 
in grassland management as well the Council’s ecologist.  Local residents and 
Councillors have contributed to the pilot projects, some being actively involved 
in ‘Grab a Rake’ to remove cuttings from small sites which are unsuitable for 
‘cut and collect’ machinery.

7.2 There are no Consultation implications aligned to the Air Quality Management 
Areas report.

8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

8.1 Over the course of the next few years the Council will seek to realign its revenue 
and capital budgets to ensure that it has the financial resources to invest in 
major projects that can have a positive impact on reducing the Council’s carbon 
footprint.

8.2 There are likely to be some minor financial implications associated with the draft 
Wildflower Grass Management report. The Council’s grassland management 
budget is significant and the changes proposed can largely be accommodated 
within this.  There may be additional costs associated with removing cut 
material, however this should be balanced but the reduced frequency of cuts 
on these sites.  The pilots have demonstrated that, over time, the volume of cut 

Tudalen 16



material decreases as the wildflower percentage increases. Site signage is 
likely to be expanded, using the brimstone butterfly emblem, to mark sites in 
conservation management.  The machinery required for ‘cut and collect’ is 
different to routine grass cutting and its use requires training for the operatives.  
The current tracked machine has a large capacity and is suitable for cutting wet 
ground outside the routine grass cutting season.  The machine and the initial 
staff training was largely funded by grant aid from Natural Resources Wales.  
As the programme develops, there will be a need for additional machinery (in 
particular for smaller sites) for repairs and eventual replacement and for 
additional staff training.  

9. LINKS TO THE CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE 
WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT

9.1 The work of the Climate Change Steering Group will seek to reduce the impact 
the Council and its residents and businesses have on the environment and 
enable the Council to make progress towards achieving the 2030 target.

9.2 All reports considered by the Climate Change Cabinet Steering Group will take 
full regard to the seven national wellbeing goals.

10.       CONCLUSION

10.1 The Council’s Cabinet has revisited its commitment to becoming a Carbon 
Neutral Council, and has set an ambitious target of achieving this by 2030, 
along with the residents and businesses of the County Borough. The Climate 
Change Cabinet Steering Group has set out an ambitious programme to 
enable the Council to make progress towards achieving the 2030 target.

10.2 On the 28th January 2020, the Climate Change Cabinet Steering Group met to 
consider a report on the draft Wildflower Grass Management Policy for 
Rhondda Cynon Taf and a report on the action that can be taken in the Air 
Quality Management Areas, to ensure air quality improves across the County 
Borough.

10.3 The recommendations of the Climate Change Cabinet Steering Group have 
been put forward for Cabinet consideration. 

Tudalen 17



LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

AS AMENDED BY

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

13TH FEBRUARY 2020

CONSULTATION ON THE DRAFT WILDFLOWER GRASS MANAGEMENT 
POLICY FOR RHONDDA CYNON TAF - RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE 

CLIMATE CHANGE CABINET STEERING GROUP 

REPORT OF THE SERVICE DIRECTOR OF DEMOCRATIC SERVICES AND 
COMMUNICATION IN CONSULTATION WITH COUNCILLOR RHYS LEWIS 
(CLIMATE CHANGE CHAMPION)

Tudalen 18



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

CLIMATE CHANGE STEERING GROUP

28TH JANUARY 2020

WHAT ACTION CAN BE TAKEN IN THE AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT AREAS, 
TO ENSURE AIR QUALITY IMPROVES ACROSS THE COUNTY BOROUGH

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH, PROTECTION & COMMUNITY 
SERVICES DISCUSSION WITH THE CABINET’S CLIMATE CHANGE CHAMPION 
(COUNCILLOR RHYS LEWIS)

Author(s): Neil Pilliner, Environmental Protection & Housing Standards 
Manager, Gareth Purnell, Pollution Control Officer 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 The purpose of this report is to consider what action can be taken in the Air 
Quality Management Areas, to ensure air quality improves across the County 
Borough.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 It is recommended to note the contents of this report as part of the ongoing 
work of the Climate Change Cabinet Steering Group and recommend a way 
forward for Cabinet.

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 The contents of this report provides key air quality information as required by 
the Discussion Paper ‘Work Programme for the Climate Change Cabinet 
Steering Group’

4. BACKGROUND TO LOCAL AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT

4.1 It has been understood for some time that the quality of air that people 
experience can have a substantial effect on their health and wellbeing. Since 
the first half of the 20th century, awareness amongst the general public of the 
importance of air quality has increased significantly. Originally emphasised 
within the UK by the visually dramatic sulphurous smog events of the 50s, then 
subsequently by the phasing out of anti-knocking lead in petrol during the 90s 
and up to the present day by photochemical smog associated with international 
cities such as Los Angeles, New Delhi and Beijing.

Tudalen 19



4.2 Although indoor air quality can be highly relevant to a person’s health, by 
necessity Local Air Quality Management is focused upon the public’s exposure 
to outdoor air pollutants1.

4.3 The understanding of air quality has substantively evolved over time as the 
causes of air pollution have changed.  Within Rhondda Cynon Taf, as is the 
case throughout Wales, Nitrogen Dioxide2 [NO2] and Particulate Matter3 [PM10] 
are of the most concern, due to their ubiquitous prevalence and potential 
significant impact upon public health.  Short-term exposure to elevated levels 
of Particulate Matter [PM10] has been shown to cause eye, nose and throat 
irritation, asthma symptom exacerbation, headaches and nausea. Longer-term 
exposure has been linked to an increase in morbidity4 and higher mortality risks 
associated with heart disease, stroke, respiratory diseases, lung cancer, etc. 
The Committee on the Medical Effects of Air Pollutants (COMEAP) has 
established that short-term exposure to NO2, particularly at high concentrations, 
is a respiratory irritant that can cause inflammation of the airways leading to, 
for example, cough, production of mucus and shortness of breath. Studies have 
shown associations of NO2 in outdoor air with reduced lung development, and 
respiratory infections in early childhood and effects on lung function in 
adulthood.

4.4 Poor air quality is the largest environmental risk to public health in the UK and 
is a public health priority for Wales.  It has been estimated that the annual 
mortality burden of human-made air pollution in the UK is 28,000 to 36,000 
deaths every year, in comparison 20,000 deaths have been attributed to alcohol 
related diseases and obesity is currently believed to be responsible for more 
than 30,000 deaths every year.  It is understood that often the most vulnerable 
within our communities are most at risk from the potential effects of air 
pollutants and perversely are more often likely to experience it. The unborn 
child, children, the old, those suffering from certain common medical conditions 
and those on low incomes can be particularly vulnerable to poor air quality. 
Although the discussion on air quality focuses upon public health, poor air 
quality can also cause, agricultural and ecological damage, property 
devaluation and entrench economic disparity.

4.5 Acknowledging the strategic role local government can have in managing air 
quality, relevant legislation and associated regulations have been enacted.  
Notably the Clean Air Act 19935, Environmental Protection Act 19906, 

1 Seven ‘pollutants of concern’ relevant to Local Air Quality Management are Carbon Monoxide (CO), Benzene 
(C6H6), Butadiene (C4H6), Lead (Pb), Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2), Particulate Matter (PM10) & Sulphur Dioxide (SO2)
2 A gas made from Nitrogen and Oxygen, often formed by complex chemical interactions and heavily associated 
with emissions from high temperature combustion processes, in very high concentrations it can appear brownish 
and have an acrid odour but in concentrations normally encountered in the environment it is imperceptible.
3 Particulate Matter is a generic term to describe a complex mixture of solid and semi-liquid particles of varying 
size, shape and composition.  A range of man-made and natural activities as well as the interaction of other air 
pollutants can produce Particulate Matter. PM10 refers to Particle Matter of a size normally less than 10µm, 
which are invisible to the human eye, but can be inhaled into the airways and lungs of people.
4 The incidence of disease within the population
5 The regulation of emissions from certain small industrial and domestic sources of air pollution, however, it is 
widely acknowledged that the legislation may have become outdated and lacks relevance. 
6 Mechanism to prevent or control certain types of statutory nuisance that can cause air pollution.

Tudalen 20

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-air-pollution/health-matters-air-pollution
https://gov.wales/air-quality-management-guidance-local-authorities
https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/every-breath-we-take-lifelong-impact-air-pollution


Environment Act 19957, Pollution Prevention and Control Act 20008 and the 
Well-being of Future Generations Wales Act 20159. This has resulted in 
Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC having a number of statutory duties to not only 
prevent or control air pollution but also to actively assess and intervene to 
improve local air quality where it can.

5. ASSESSING LOCAL AIR QUALITY IN RHONDDA CYNON TAF

5.1 Local Air Quality Management can cut across many areas of Local 
Government. Although primarily it has relevance to Public Health, it can also 
have a role within Environmental Regulation & Enforcement, Development 
Control, Housing, Highways, Fleet Management, Corporate Estates, Ecology 
and Education.  

5.2 Statutory guidance provides detailed instruction on how local authorities should 
go about assessing air quality to confirm if any Air Quality Objectives are being 
exceeded10. These Air Quality Objectives relate to outdoor locations where air 
pollutants are most likely to be elevated and where the public11, irrespective of 
who they are, is likely to be present for long enough to be potentially effected 
by them. If an Air Quality Objective is not achieved, guidance sets out how Local 
Authorities should go about considering the implementation of actions to work 
towards achieving future compliance.

5.3 Having regard to guidance, published national assessment, local 
understanding, desktop analysis and current technical capabilities, the Local 
Authority has developed a network of air quality monitoring locations throughout 
its area.  Since the millennium, it has examined over 134 locations with current12 
monitoring arrangements assessing 55 targeted roadside locations for Nitrogen 
Dioxide [NO2] and one specific area of interest for Particulate Matter [PM10] 
associated with a local quarry.

5.4 The current monitoring network makes use of several different approved 
automatic13 and non-automatic14 monitoring techniques. With the gathered data 
routinely published online collaboratively with Welsh Government. It is not 
always possible, either as a result of logistics or resources, to monitor all 
relevant locations and in certain circumstances the Local Authority has, where 
appropriate, had regard to computer ‘modelling’ to indicate the likely levels of 
air pollutants at particular locations.

5.5 Every year, the Local Authority publishes online an annual Air Quality Progress 
Report.  This provides the preceding years ratified monitoring data, an overview 

7 Legal framework for Local Air Quality Management, including the duty to assess and intervene.
8 Permitting of certain industrial activities and their emissions.
9 Enshrines the seven “Well-being Goals” and the importance of sustainable development. 
10 Absolute concentration values(s) set for each relevant pollutant over specific exposure periods
11 This does not include workers but does include the public attending a workplace (e.g. a library)
12 As of January 2020
13 Analyses the air pollutant at location and provides a real-time indication of its concentration.
14 Requires subsequent analysis in a laboratory to determine the air pollutants concentrations.

Tudalen 21

https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/technical-guidance/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2000/1940/made
https://airquality.gov.wales/
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Business/LicencesandPermits/Pollutionrelatedlicences/Airquality.aspx


of actions that could affect local air quality and an assessment of current Local 
Air Quality Management.  

5.6 As a result of the integration of the Future Generations ethos, a dual approach 
to Local Air Quality Management is developing.  This burden reduction 
approach recognises that for many air pollutants, the less people are exposed 
to them, the better it will be in terms of public health.  The Future Generations 
agenda has also led to the consideration of air quality holistically, rather than in 
isolation, as part of the multi-agenda approach with particular emphasis on local 
transport, noise, climate change, active travel and green-infrastructure.

5.7 Adverse environmental noise can also markedly affect public health. In 
recognition of the close relationship between areas of elevated levels of air 
pollution and human-made environmental noise, Local Air Quality Management 
also evaluates its role in achieving Noise Action Plan Priority Area [NAPPA] 
improvements.  There are a number of NAPPAs within Rhondda Cynon Taf, 
many of these areas have also been declared Air Quality Management Areas.  

5.8 In recognising the importance of health inequality and local air quality, the Local 
Authority has assisted its partners, Public Health Wales, Cwm Taf Morgannwg 
UHB, Natural Resources Wales and Merthyr Tydfil CBC, with the development 
of the Health and Air Pollution Risk Assessment/Area Prioritisation (HAP-RAP) 
analytical tool.  This has been used to identify those communities15 within 
Rhondda Cynon Taf that may be most vulnerable to the effects of poor air 
quality and where measures focused to improve air quality may provide the 
greatest overall benefit.

6. LOCAL AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT AREAS AND THE TREND IN AIR 
QUALITY

6.1 The levels of air pollution experienced locally can be as a result of a number of 
different types of sources, both within the Borough and further afield16. 
Generally local Nitrogen Dioxide [NO2] levels are primarily influenced by road 
traffic sources.  Nationally air quality has generally improved over time as the 
adoption of new technology, macroeconomic change and regulation has 
reduced the amount of total air pollution emitted.  Nitrogen Dioxide [NO2] levels, 
have not improved as quickly as had been expected.  In RCT a worsening trend 
in Nitrogen Dioxide [NO2] was observed for several years after the Millennium. 
Most likely due to substantial local and regional urbanisation, associated traffic 
growth and the increase in use of diesel cars. Since then the trend has 
stabilised and more recently shown some general signs of gradual 
improvement.  

6.2 It is expected that as cleaner technology and sustainable mass transport 
options become available levels of air pollution will reduce, however, significant 
uncertainty is attached to how society, and its transport options, will change.

15 Priority clusters were associated with Ferndale/Tylorstown/Llwynypia, Cymmer and Penrhiwceiber/Miskin
16 Both pollutants can be heavily influenced by transboundary pollution events (emissions of air pollution that 
has crossed great distances before arriving locally).

Tudalen 22

http://lle.gov.wales/map#b=europa&l=973h;974h;975h;976h;977h;978h;979h;980h;981h;982h;983h;984h;985h;1564h;1577;&m=-3.33763,51.54135,11
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1462901119301145
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/data/laqm-background-home


6.3 Although the vast majority of Rhondda Cynon Taf is believed to experience 
good air quality, very specific local circumstances can result in levels of 
Nitrogen Dioxide that can exceed an Air Quality Objective.  This has resulted in 
sixteen, comparatively small areas within the County Borough declared as Air 
Quality Management Areas [AQMAs]. They cover a range of different urban 
areas from some town centres to the length of certain streets or even a small 
number of properties close to particularly busy roads or junctions.  Currently the 
largest AQMA in the County Borough covers 207 properties within the Aberdare 
Town Centre, whereas, the smallest covers one property near a very busy road 
junction at Mwyndy.  It is also the case that not all AQMAs, or parts of the same 
AQMA, may experience the same degree of elevated air pollution.  At present 
it is believed the Cymmer, Ferndale and Nightingales Bush AQMAs may 
experience the highest observed levels of air pollution, whereas, Aberdare, 
Tonyrefail and Treforest may be much closer to achieving compliance. 

6.4 It can be difficult to make meaningful comparisons of the number, size and 
severity of AQMAs between Welsh Local Authorities.  For instance, Rhondda 
Cynon Taf may observe a larger number of AQMAs when compared to Cardiff, 
which has four AQMAs, or Swansea, which has one AQMA, however, the 
AQMAs declared in these two cities cover much greater areas and numbers of 
people.  In general terms Rhondda Cynon Taf is ranked 13th best for levels of 
Nitrogen Dioxide [NO2] out of the 22 Local Authorities in Wales17.

6.5 The reasons for the AQMAs are varied but are invariably associated with road 
traffic emissions. Although the reasons can be very location specific, they often 
include the importance of local topography and the urban environment. The 
volume, speed and composition of road traffic, as well as the management of 
this traffic, along roads within, or nearby to, each AQMA are also key factors.  
Some strategic arterial roads, for instance the A470 and the A4119, have a 
demonstrable effect at certain vulnerable locations. Table A in Appendix 1 
provides further detail on each Air Quality Management Area within Rhondda 
Cynon Taf, including the number of properties in each area, the improvement 
required and the key air quality related factors.

7. IMPROVING LOCAL AIR QUALITY

7.1 At the local level action can be taken to improve air quality, often in conjunction 
with other agendas, both at locations where levels of air pollutants are elevated 
and more generally throughout the community.  With regards to the Air Quality 
Management Areas, the Local Authority has adopted individual Air Quality 
Action Plans [AQAPs] that advocate cost-effective/cost-beneficial actions that 
would work towards the aspiration of compliance with the Air Quality Objectives.  
These actions are varied, and include specific actions relating to an Air Quality 
Management Area, to more far reaching actions that could improve air quality 
more widely. Several of these actions have already been implemented, 
however, it has not been possible to advance all actions to date.  

17 Population weighted exposure to Nitrogen Dioxide.

Tudalen 23



7.2 Appendix 1 Table B contains a list of various practical improvement actions that 
could deliver air quality improvement within the Air Quality Management Areas 
and potentially more broadly throughout the County Borough.  Having regard 
to local circumstances and the often transport related issues associated with 
improving air quality, some potential viable actions have been identified from 
the list in Table B for further detailed consideration with the relevant partners. 
These have been listed with additional information within Appendix 1 Table C.

8. FUTURE OPPORTUNITIES & CHALLENGES FOR LOCAL AIR QUALITY

8.1 To enable effective assessment of local air quality, over time the Local Authority 
has put in place a targeted monitoring network.  This has enabled an evidenced 
based approach to policy formation, decision making and improvement actions. 
Supporting not only Local Air Quality Management duties directly but also other 
priority agendas as well as sustainable local development. Due to continued 
resource pressures, this network has inevitably been optimised to meet 
statutory requirements and the monitoring network may not currently satisfy the 
wider public interest in air quality or developing policy areas. In addition, as 
monitoring equipment approaches ‘end of life’, decisions will be required on 
further investment or rationalisation of the monitoring infrastructure. 

8.2 Sustainable economic development and the potential future adoption of 
‘cleaner’ technologies will likely advance improvement in local air quality over 
time. However, without intervention, the most vulnerable communities may be 
the last to experience the anticipated improvement 18.  With the lack of 
dedicated external grant funding and the prioritisation of other activities, 
resourcing improvement actions is likely to be a substantive barrier to 
progressing Local Air Quality Management.  Additionally, although it is 
acknowledged that many departments of the Local Authority could positively 
impact local air quality it has been challenging to provide a coordinated holistic 
approach in the consideration and implementation of improvement actions.  
This has led to the identification and delivery of ‘win-win’ multi-agenda 
outcomes becoming an increasingly important factor in obtaining potential 
funding and raising awareness of understanding the need to improve air quality 
across a variety of policy areas and decision makers.

8.3 Cross-agenda delivery has had a recognised role in local air quality 
management for some time. For instance, due to significant investment cost it 
would be unlikely that the Church Village Bypass would have been a viable 
action to improve air quality in isolation, however, its viability to improve local 
amenity and drive economic development enabled this project to go forward.  
In doing so, this has had a dramatic role in improving local air quality and 
environmental noise within a number of communities along the B4595.  The 
inclusion of active travel links via the Community route also reflected the 

18 Cleaner technology can include a range of innovative solutions, including renewable energy, the uptake of low 
emission vehicles, alternative powered domestic heating, the use of information technology to reduce travel 
need, improve travel options (i.e. single-trip hire schemes) or facilitate more efficient coordinated travel. The 
use of some forms of cleaner technology may incur an initial cost or technological awareness, which the poorest 
or most vulnerable in society may find challenging.

Tudalen 24



consideration of sustainable travel options when planning the by-pass road and 
the impact on the local community. 

8.4 By using, where appropriate, a ‘win-win’ multi-agenda outcome approach it is 
not only possible to deliver the obvious actions that could directly improve air 
quality but also bring together a range of experiences and expertise to enable 
the identification of potentially cost-effective solutions that deliver a wider range 
of sustainable benefits. For example, the utilisation of grant funding19 to deliver 
improved/repaired street lighting serving the active travel access route to 
Pontypridd High School.  This action benefited a number of agendas, including 
local engagement (action identified after engagement with the High School), 
active travel (further improving safety and reducing perceived barriers to the 
use of the designated active travel route), air quality & climate change (by 
enabling active travel this may directly reduce dependency on vehicle and 
associated air pollution and carbon emissions) and biodiversity (it was possible 
to tailor the action so as its impact on nocturnal wildlife could be reduced).

8.5 It is likely that Climate Change, with an increasingly erratic climate, may 
negatively impact upon future air quality, potentially by making elevated air 
pollution episodes more frequent and more intense.  As such, a need to 
consider novel yet deliverable solutions is paramount with sustainable 
transport, green infrastructure and behavioural change seen as representing 
significant potential in delivering broad improvement. These broader actions 
need to be considered alongside appropriate local traffic management solutions 
to benefit air quality by improving and influencing traffic flow in key areas.

8.6 Current public interest in Local Air Quality Management can mean that the air 
quality agenda could become a strong agent for positive change. As air quality 
understanding and expectations has evolved, Welsh Government policy in this 
area has also rapidly developed.  Currently the Welsh Government is consulting 
upon a number of changes to how Local Air Quality Management may be 
delivered, these proposed changes may have the potential to alter the Council’s 
statutory obligations and require reconsideration of how it goes about delivering 
Local Air Quality Management duties in the future.

9. CARBON REDUCTION

9.1 The interaction between Air Pollution and Climate Change is complex, with 
inextricable overlap between both agendas. It is likely that many actions to 
improve air quality will have a complimentary effect in tackling Climate Change, 
particularly in respect of reducing vehicle use through more sustainable travel 
options. However, not all actions to improve air pollution will reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions and vice versa.  For instance, the building of a new road to divert 
road traffic from an area where air pollution may be elevated, could result in 
traffic growth along the new road and an overall increase in greenhouse gas 
emissions. As with the Church Village bypass and the proposed Llanharan 
Bypass, incorporating active travel measures are key design factors in 
providing sustainable travel options for communities. Wherever possible, those 

19 Local Authority Single Revenue Grant 2017-18

Tudalen 25

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2019-12/consultation-a-clean-air-plan-for-wales.pdf


actions that improve both agendas should be prioritised and efforts made to 
jointly assess both air quality and climate change impacts during the evaluation 
of improvement actions.

10. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

10.1 This report is informative, as such an Equality Impact Assessment is not 
required. As air quality improvement actions (or inaction) has the potential to 
affect certain groups, during the compilation or review of an Air Quality Action 
Plan(s), a proportionate Equality Impact Assessment will be included.

11. CONSULTATION

11.1 This report has been produced to provide air quality information as required by 
the Work Programme for the Climate Change Cabinet Steering Group and, as 
such, no formal consultation is necessary.  

11.2 Local Air Quality Management is, at various stages, subject to statutory 
consultations, including formal annual review by Welsh Government, and the 
maintenance of certain information within a public register.    The Local Authority 
is currently planning, in accordance with statutory guidance to review, and 
where necessary to modify, all sixteen Air Quality Action Plans in 2020 to 
ensure their appropriateness.

12. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

12.1 This report is informative only and does not commit any resources to any 
particular course of action.

12.2 Currently only a limited air quality monitoring budget is maintained and there is 
no dedicated budget for improvement action delivery. 

13. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

13.1 This report on air quality is informative only and is not a decision making report 
with regards to any Local Air Quality Management obligations.  

13.2 Annual Air Quality Progress Reports are statutory reports which the Local 
Authority is obliged to produce. Air Quality Action Plans are statutory plans and 
may place the Local Authority under certain obligations, including the need to 
work towards delivering the identified actions so as to achieve compliance to 
an Air Quality Objective. During the formation or review of the Air Quality Action 
Plan a provisional assessment of the need for a Strategic Environmental 
Assessment [SEA] will be undertaken.

13.3 Welsh Government retains a number of reserve powers, including legal 
direction, to ensure Local Authorities undertake their Local Air Quality 
Management duties. It has previously clarified the likely scenarios as to when 
and how it may use some of these powers.  In recent times, Welsh Government 
has exercised legal direction powers under Section 85 of the Environment Act 

Tudalen 26



1995 requiring, separately, Cardiff CC and Caerphilly CBC to undertake certain 
assessments and advance certain improvement actions, that may have 
significant local impact, in relation to Local Air Quality Management.

14. LINKS TO THE CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE 
WELL BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS WALES ACT

14.1 Local air quality management statutory guidance for Wales incorporates the 
principles and ways of working associated within the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act.  By abiding by this guidance and utilising methods that 
acknowledge and promote sustainable multi-agenda delivery, the Council is 
demonstrating commitment to the principles of the Act.

14.2 The Future Generation agenda will also have a key role in how the Local 
Authority considers air quality, reinforced by guidance requiring that as part of 
its assessment duties the Local Authority must have regard to the 
benchmarking of progress against National Indicator No.4. “the level of Nitrogen 
Dioxide in ambient air”. In contrast to the upper limit driven approach of Local 
Air Quality Management, the National Indicator drives an alternative burden 
reduction approach aimed at achieving a reduction in the population weighted 
general level of Nitrogen Dioxide throughout Rhondda Cynon Taf.  Progress in 
achieving improvement will be gauged against milestones, the achievement of 
which will be reported in a “Future Trends Report” produced by Welsh 
Government. In working with its health related partners, the Local Authority has 
drawn upon expertise and analysis to help identify those communities which 
may benefit the most from an active approach to improve local air quality, whilst 
also seeking to fulfil the Local Authorities statutory obligation on local air quality 
management.

14.3 Having regard to the Council’s corporate priorities, air quality improvement and 
potential actions to bring this about, are likely to have significant relevance to 
helping some of our most vulnerable residents, encouraging healthier lives and 
helping to support improved prospects for our children and young people. With 
regard to creating proud places to live in RCT, improving air quality is a potential 
priority alongside with making the most of green infrastructure and capitalising 
upon major sustainable transport regeneration.

15. CONCLUSION

15.1 This supporting report provides information relevant to what actions are 
available to improve air quality in RCT and its contents should be considered 
as part of the main Discussion Paper - Work Programme for Climate Change 
Cabinet Steering Group.

Contact Officer: Neil Pilliner, Environmental Protection and Housing Standards 
Manager

Tel no: 01443 744281 (extn.21828)

Tudalen 27

http://www.assembly.wales/ministerial%20statements%20documents/how-measure-nations-progress%E2%80%93the-national-well-being-indicators-wales/national%20indicators%20for%20wales%20-%20technical%20document%20pdf%20(english).pdf


Appendix 1
In the below Tables: -
 = slight importance,  = moderate importance,  = substantial importance,  = 
major importance
 = upward trend/increase in emission,  = downward trend/decrease in emission

Table A: Details on each Air Quality Management Area within Rhondda Cynon Taf

Are
a

AQM
As

N
o.

 o
f P

ro
pe

rti
es

H
AP

-R
AP

 P
rio

rit
y

N
AP

PA

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t 

N
ee

de
d

5 
ye

ar
 T

re
nd

20

Tr
af

fic
 V

ol
um

e

Bu
se

s

H
G

Vs

R
oa

d 
In

cl
in

e

N
et

w
or

k 
C

on
ge

st
io

n

R
oa

d 
N

ar
ro

w
ne

ss

C
on

tro
lle

d 
Tr

af
fic

Pe
de

st
ria

n 
C

ro
ss

in
g

Pa
rk

ed
 V

eh
ic

le
s

Lo
ad

in
g 

Ve
hi

cl
es

In
-ro

ad
 B

us
 S

to
p

Tr
af

fic
 C

al
m

in
g

St
re

et
 C

an
yo

n

St
ee

p 
Si

de
d 

Va
lle

y

D
w

el
lin

gs
 N

ea
r R

oa
d

Cymm
er

1
4
6
 


 


































Fernd
ale

1
0
2
 



































Llwyn
ypia

2
8  


 














 

Tonyr
efail

2
0 




 




















 

Rho
ndd

a

Tylors
town

6
5  


 






























Aberd
are

2
7
0

 








Cyn
on Mount

ain 
Ash

5
7 











  













Broad
way21

2
5
9

 








Churc
h 

Villag
e

2
1 















Cilfyn
ydd

1
7
3















 

Llanh
aran 7  













Mwyn
dy 1 












 




Taf

Nantg
arw 8  


















20 As air quality can fluctuate form year to year, a medium term consideration of the trend is necessary, this can also mean that 
interventions to improve air quality (e.g. A470 speed restrictions) can take some time before monitoring data robustly 
demonstrates any local effect.  
21 The Broadway AQMA is to be amended to reduce its size to approximately 156 properties.

Tudalen 28



Nighti
ngales 
Bush

1
1 


 









Ponty
pridd

8
4 


 







 





Trefor
est 8  













Table B: List of practical improvement actions 
Actions that are considered more viable are highlighted in bold, actions that have already been 
completed are marked with a C

Air Quality Impact Other Impact
Cost 

Effectivenes
s

Actio
n

Type
Action

AQ
M

A

W
ith

in
 A

re
a 

of
 

C
on

ce
rn

R
eg

io
na

l

N
oi

se

C
lim

at
e 

ch
an

ge

Ec
on

om
ic

PS
B 

Pr
io

rit
ie

s

C
os

t

In
 A

Q
M

A

R
eg

io
na

lly

Fu
rth

er
 C

on
si

de
ra

tio
n 

in
 re

la
tio

n 
to

 A
Q

Church Village 
– A473 Relief 
Rd

Church 
Village

















  C

Porth – 
Rhondda Fawr 
Lower Relief Rd

N/A 



  








  C

Llanharan 
Bypass Llanharan 


   




 



Mt Ash Cross-
Valley Link Mt Ash     




  

Pontypridd 
Partial 
Pedestrianisati
on

Pontypridd       C

Ely Valley Rd 
Dualling N/A    




  

Llwydcoed – 
Heads of the 
Valley 
Reconfiguration

N/A    



 N
ew

 &
 M

aj
or

 R
ec

on
fig

ur
at

io
n 

of
 R

oa
ds

Treorchy Relief 
Rd N/A     




 

Tr
af

fic
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t Cardiff Rd 

Signal 
Improvement
reduce 
congestion 
along Cardiff 
Rd northbound

Aberdare      C

Tudalen 29



Oxford St 
Signal 
Improvement
reduce 
congestion 
along Oxford St 
northbound (no 
effect to New 
Rd)

Mt Ash      C

Broadway 
North Signal 
Improvement & 
Increased 
Junction 
Capacity
(right-turn from 
Broadway 
North)
reduce 
congestion 
along 
Broadway 
northbound

Broadway      C

Partridge Rd 
Jct Signal 
Improvement
reduce 
congestion 
along Partridge 
Rd southbound 

Llwynypia     



Mill St Signal 
Improvement
reduce 
congestion 
along Mill St 
northbound

Tonyrefail      

Dyffryn 
Terrace Signal 
Improvement
reduce 
congestion 
along Dyffryn 
Tce westbound

Church 
Village      

Off-Road Bus 
Stops 
reduce 
disruption to 
traffic flow 
within the area 
caused by bus 
waiting

Church 
Village

Tonyrefail
Tylorstown

       

Tudalen 30



A470 Partial 
Speed Limit 
Reduction & 
Preserving 
Existing Green 
Barriers
Reducing 
speed limit 
directly reduces 
traffic 
emissions with 
existing green 
barriers 
providing a 
physical break 
from air 
pollution (led by 
Welsh 
Government).

Broadway
Cilfynydd

Nightingale
s B.

Pontypridd
Treforest




 



    C

Designated 
Off-Street 
Parking 
Reducing need 
for on-street 
parking and 
potential 
associated 
impediment to 
traffic flow

Cymmer
Ferndale
Tonyrefail
Tylorstown

    



  

Fl
ow

 C
on

tro
ls

Increased 
Parking 
Enforcement 
Restricting 
parking with 
associated 
enforcement at 
critical locations 
which can 
otherwise 
impede traffic 
flow

Cymmer
Ferndale
Tonyrefail
Tylorstown

        



Llanharan Park 
& Ride Llanharan          C

Abercynon Park 
& Ride

Cilfynydd
Nightingale

s B.
Treforest

         C

Taffs Well Park 
& Ride        C

Li
nk

ed
 T

ra
ns

po
rta

tio
n

Rhondda Park 
& Ride Llwynypia          

South Wales 
Metro

Aberdare
Broadway
Cilfynydd
Llwynypia

Miskin
Mt Ash

Nantgarw
Pontypridd
Treforest


















 



Pu
bl

ic
 T

ra
ns

po
rt

Valley Lines 
Electrification

Broadway
Pontypridd  














  

Tudalen 31



Coordinated 
Train & Bus 
Journeys
By enabling 
linked up public 
transport the 
effective travel 
range and 
hence usability 
may increase

All  












  



Combined 
Public 
Transport 
Ticketing
Combined 
ticketing 
options can 
reduce 
complexity to 
users

All  












  



Cycle lanes 
Increasing 
demarcated 
cycle lane 
provision to 
improve 
usability

Aberdare
Broadway
Cymmer
Ferndale
Llanharan
Llwynypia
Mountain 

Ash
Church 
Village

Pontypridd 
Tonyrefail
Tylorstown

    






  

School Routes 
Improvements 
Improvement to 
designated 
school active 
travel routes to 
improve 
usability and 
encourage use

Aberdare
Broadway
Cymmer
Ferndale
Llanharan
Llwynypia
Mountain 

Ash
Church 
Village

Pontypridd 
Tonyrefail
Tylorstown

    



  



Ac
tiv

e 
Tr

av
el

Short Trip 
Active Travel 
Support
Using 
innovative 
information 
technology and 
associated 
infrastructure to 
offer short term 
bicycle hire to 
support 
spontaneous 
travel choices.

All     



   

Tudalen 32



Taxi Emission 
Standards 
Cross-board 
licensing 
requirements 
stipulating an 
enhanced 
emission 
standard for the 
fleet

All   



 



 



School 
Transport 
Standards 
Contract 
requirements 
stipulating an 
enhanced 
emission 
standard for the 
fleet

All 

 




 



 



RCT Fleet 
Standards 
Procurement 
rules stipulating 
an enhanced 
emission 
standard for the 
fleet

All   



 



 

Em

is
si

on
 C

on
tro

ls

Low Emission 
Zone 
Designating a 
geographical 
area (normally 
a town centre) 
that only a 
vehicle (or class 
of vehicles) 
meeting a 
specified 
emission 
standard can 
enter

Aberdare
Pontypridd   




 



  

Electric 
Vehicle 
Charging 
Installing or 
supporting the 
installation of 
wide-scale 
public or 
targeted 
charging points

All 

























In
di

re
ct Green 

Infrastructure
Using carefully 
designed tress 
and hedge 
planting to 
mitigate the 
flow of air 
pollution from a 
source to a 
relevant 
population

Aberdare
Broadway

Church 
Village

Cilfynydd
Mwyndy

Nantgarw
Pontypridd



 




    



Tudalen 33



En
gi

ne
er

ed
Hard 
Engineered 
Barriers
Using solid 
barriers (such 
as acoustic 
barriers) to 
mitigate the 
flow of air 
pollution from a 
source to a 
relevant 
population

Cilfynydd
Mwyndy

Nantgarw
Nightingale

s Bush
Pontypridd
Treforest

 






  

Travel 
Information 
Providing travel 
information to 
enable the 
public to make 
informed public 
transport 
choices

All   



 






Staff 
Inducement
LA workplace 
schemes that 
encourage 
travel planning 
or the uptake of 
active travel 
options

All          

School 
Engagement 
Improving 
awareness of 
the current 
situation 
amongst the 
young and the 
choices that 
can be made to 
improve things

All          

Clean Air Day 
Events
Targeted 
events (centred 
around June) to 
reinforce the 
national 
messaging 
around Clean 
Air day

All          

Be
ha

vi
ou

ra
l

Domestic 
Heating 
Inducement
Targeting grant 
aid to enable 
solid fuel only 
users to adopt 
cleaner 
alternatives

All    



  

Tudalen 34



Development 
Control 
Adopting 
planning 
policies that 
places 
sustainable 
development 
and the ‘agent 
of change’ 
principles firmly 
within the LDP

All         

R
ea

ct
io

na
l

Relocation of 
Population 
Removing, 
possibly via 
CPO, those 
members of the 
public that 
reside within 
the smaller 
AQMAs

Llanharan
Mwyndy

Nantgarw
Nightingale

s B.
Treforest


 




 

Do Nothing All      

Tudalen 35



Table C: Potentially viable actions that could deliver air quality improvement

Impact

N
o.

Deliverabi
lity Action Area

AQ
M

A

R
eg

io
na

l A
Q

N
oi

se

C
lim

at
e 

C
ha

ng
e

Fi
na

nc
ia

l

Align
ed 

with 
PSB 

Priorit
y

Likelihoo
d Without 
Prioritisati

on

1

Near 
Term 

Deliverabl
e

Traffic Light 
Signal 
Improvements
Traffic 
management 
(especially of 
road junctions) 
can result in 
local traffic 
congestion 
which in turn can 
result in locally 
elevated levels 
of air pollution. 
The Church 
Village, 
Llwynypia and 
Tonyrefail are 
likely to be 
affected by 
existing light 
controlled traffic 
management 
measures that 
could have the 
potential to be 
modified or 
upgraded to 
either allow more 
efficient 
management or 
to benefit the 
worst case area 
of the AQMA at 
potential slight 
detriment to 
elsewhere.

Rhond
da Taff   - -  - 

2

Near 
Term 

Deliverabl
e

Increased 
Parking 
Enforcement
Illegally parked 
cars along 

Rhond
da      - 

Tudalen 36



narrow 
carriageway 
roads can lead to 
significant short-
term congestion 
when traffic 
cannot smoothly 
pass the 
temporary 
obstruction. 
Cymmer, 
Ferndale, 
Tonyrefail and 
Tylorstown 
have, to some 
degree, parking 
restrictions to 
prevent 
impediment.  To 
maintain their 
relevance it is 
necessary to 
enforce the 
restrictions. 
Consider 
possible 
targeted 
enforcement 
actions in these 
areas 
(potentially at the 
expense of 
enforcement 
elsewhere).

3

Near 
Term 

Deliverabl
e

Travel 
Information
Providing readily 
digestible travel 
information (e.g. 
public transport 
area options 
leaflet) can 
improve 
awareness and 
help the public 
pick sustainable 
travel options. 
Compiling and 
dissemination of 
information can 
be a useful 
element in 
helping to 
improve uptake.

RCT       

Tudalen 37



4

Near 
Term 

Deliverabl
e

School 
Engagement
Future change is 
most likely to be 
brought about by 
today’s young 
people, 
informing young 
people at an 
early stage of the 
relevance of air 
quality and its 
part in the 
environment can 
not only bring 
about change in 
the present but 
also help make 
the change 
sustainable for 
the future.  
School 
engagement 
could include 
incorporating 
local 
environmental 
information (i.e. 
air quality) into 
the current 
syllabus, 
advancing 

RCT      - 

5

Near 
Term 

Deliverabl
e

Development 
Control 
Policies
Air Quality can 
be dramatically 
affected by 
future 
development, 
likewise future 
development 
can play both a 
direct and 
supportive role in 
advancing local 
air quality 
management.  
Placing air 
quality and noise 
within LDP policy 
and 
consideration of 
specific 

RCT      - 

Tudalen 38



Supplementary 
Planning 
Guidance (SPG) 
could help 
safeguard 
current 
improvements 
and deliver 
sustainable 
future 
communities. 

6

Near 
Term 

Deliverabl
e

Clean Air Day 
Events
Delivering a 
series of events 
in associated 
with the 
nationally 
planned Clean 
Air Day in June.  
Events could 
comprise of a 
range of actions 
including 
supportive press 
release and 
signposting to 
national or 
regional events, 
ULEV 
demonstrations, 
school/communi
ty engagement, 
street party 
takeover or no-
car day, etc.  
High profile 
events (no-car 
days) tend to 
have a greater 
effect in larger 
urban areas and 
may not be 
appreciated/prac
tical for all 
members of the 
community.

RCT      - 

7
Medium 

Term 
Possible

Llanharan 
Bypass
New road 
infrastructure 
that bypasses 
the centre of 
Llanharan (the 

Taf 


  - 
 - 

Tudalen 39



location of the 
AQMA).  The 
new road will be 
designed in 
accordance with 
modern 
practices so as 
to minimise 
congestion and 
maintain where 
possible 
distances from 
existing 
residences.  It is 
likely the vast 
majority 
traversing the 
existing 
Bridgend Road 
will be displaced 
onto the new 
Bypass 
dramatically 
reduced the local 
sources of air 
pollution. Active 
travel routes and 
links will be 
incorporated in 
the design.

8
Medium 

Term 
Possible

Off-Road Bus 
Stops 
Busses stopping 
along narrow 
carriageway 
roads can lead to 
significant short-
term congestion 
when traffic 
cannot pass the 
temporary 
obstruction (this 
can be most 
observed for 
projected bus 
stops).  Church 
Village, 
Tonyrefail and 
most notably 
Tylorstown have 
current bus 
stops that can 
impede traffic 
flow.  By moving 

Rhond
da Taff      - 

Tudalen 40



the bus stop into 
an engineered 
lay-by or less 
obstructed area 
or re-designating 
nearby parking 
to allow the bus 
to move out of 
the flow of traffic 
this may reduce 
congestions.  
However, due to 
local urban 
layout or service 
requirements it 
may not be 
possible to 
deliver this 
action

9
Medium 

Term 
Possible

South Wales 
Metro
A regional 
scheme to 
deliver 
substantive 
sustainable 
public transport 
options across 
several strategic 
corridors within 
RCT.

RCT 









  

10
Medium 

Term 
Possible

School Routes 
Improvements
The likelihood of 
use of active 
travel routes can 
rely upon a 
number of 
factors, including 
distance, 
facilities, 
awareness and 
users 
perception. It 
may be possible 
for a number of 
improvements 
(surfacing, 
lighting, 
signposting, bike 
storage, 
awareness 
raising, walking-
bus assistance, 

RCT       

Tudalen 41



etc) to be 
considered 
which could 
reduce current 
dependence on 
short distance 
private transport. 

11
Medium 

Term 
Possible

Short Trip 
Active Travel 
Support
Using innovative 
information 
technology and 
associated 
infrastructure to 
offer short term 
bicycle hire to 
support 
spontaneous 
travel choices, 
for instance 
NextBike in 
Cardiff.  This 
could be 
designed to 
encourage 
mixed active 
travel and public 
transport 
options.

RCT       

12
Medium 

Term 
Possible

Staff 
Inducement
Large employers 
(like RCT) can 
play an 
important part in 
incentivising 
their staff to pick 
sustainable 
travel options 
during the 
commute.  This 
could include 
travel planning, 
car share, bike to 
work, etc)

RCT      - 

13 Aspiration
al

Designated Off-
Street Parking
Legally parked 
cars along 
narrow 
carriageway 
roads can lead to 
significant long-

Rhond
da   -    

Tudalen 42



term congestion 
when traffic 
cannot smoothly 
pass the 
frequent 
obstruction. 
Cymmer, 
Ferndale, 
Tonyrefail and 
Tylorstown have 
parking 
arrangements 
that can impede 
traffic flow.  Due 
to urban layout, 
local residents 
may have no 
option but to 
park on the road.  
By creating a 
designated 
space to enable 
off-street parking 
in coordination 
with 
restructuring 
current local 
parking 
provisions it may 
be possible to 
remove the 
obstruction.  
Future proofing 
could enable this 
provision to 
include EV 
charging points 
bringing this vital 
future 
technology to 
communities 
that may 
otherwise 
experience 
significant role-
out challenges.  
As free space is 
at a premium it 
may be the case 
that spatial 
repurposing will 
be necessary, 
this could be 
targeted at under 

Tudalen 43



utilised land use 
(long term empty 
properties) but 
may be limited 
by the need to 
ensure 
community 
cohesion.

14 Aspiration
al

Coordinated 
Train & Bus 
Journeys
The linking of 
bus and train 
journeys can 
significantly 
improve the 
desirability and 
likelihood of use 
of public 
transport 
options. This 
could be 
particularly 
beneficial for 
areas where 
train services 
have been 
withdrawn in the 
past. Would 
likely require 
multi-level 
engagement (LA 
cannot deliver in 
isolation).

RCT  






  

15 Aspiration
al

Combined 
Public 
Transport 
Ticketing
Single ticketing 
could 
significantly 
improve the 
desirability and 
likelihood of use 
of public 
transport options 
by reducing fare 
complexity and 
service 
uncertainty.

RCT  






  

16 Aspiration
al

Taxi Emission 
Standards 
Locally licensed 
taxi and private 

RCT   



(
)  

Tudalen 44



hire vehicles can 
comprise an 
important part of 
the local fleet, 
especially in 
urban hubs.  
Most operators 
may be able to 
make use of LEV 
technology, 
albeit current 
fleet options and 
costs may not 
encourage early 
uptake.  New 
licensing policy 
could enable the 
early adoption of 
LEV technology 
and also support 
wider 
acceptance of 
LEV technology. 
However, 
mandating 
adoption could 
bring forward 
financial 
implications, at 
least in the short-
term, for 
operators.  It 
may be 
necessary to 
coordinate any 
intervention with 
actions to 
improve local 
charging 
infrastructure, 
reduce capital 
barriers and 
consistency 
across other 
licensing 
authorities to 
maintain a 
functional 
market.

17 Aspiration
al

School 
Transport 
Standards
Bus transport 
can significantly 

RCT 

 




 - 

Tudalen 45



contribute to 
elevated levels 
of air pollution 
with 
improvements to 
the fleet may 
have a 
disproportionatel
y better effect on 
local air 
pollution. 
Although the 
public bus fleet is 
of a relatively 
modern 
standard (Euro V 
and above), it 
can take some 
time (end of 
vehicle life) for 
similar 
standards to be 
adopted by the 
dedicated school 
bus transport 
fleet.  
Contracting of 
service 
provisions could 
look to set fleet 
emission 
standards that 
would potentially 
not otherwise be 
achieved in the 
quickest 
possible 
timeframe. It is 
likely such action 
would require 
premium 
payments and 
could have 
significant short 
term 
consequences 
to current 
providers (that it 
may become 
WG policy for 
LEV bus 
transport to be 
adopted by 
2028).

Tudalen 46



18 Aspiration
al

RCT Fleet 
Standards
The LA makes 
use of a large 
dedicated mixed 
fleet, some of 
which could 
make use of LEV 
technology (this 
would require 
both vehicle and 
infrastructure 
changes).  New 
procurement 
rules could be 
considered that 
prioritises future 
LEV adoption (if 
suitable 
infrastructure is 
available).  Not 
only could this 
have a direct 
improvement it 
could also 
demonstrate the 
option to other 
large fleet 
operators (UHB) 
and help 
establish local 
charging 
infrastructure.

RCT   



 - 

18 Aspiration
al 

Electric Vehicle 
Charging 
LEV (preferably 
EV) are 
considered a 
vital component 
in delivering 
sustainable low 
polluting future 
transport.  It is 
likely that one 
factor in the 
adoption of LEVs 
is the availability 
of charging 
infrastructure.  It 
is also the case 
that some areas 
of RCT may 
prove more 

RCT 











 - 

Tudalen 47



challenging, due 
to urban layout 
and deprivation, 
in technology 
role out.  
Targeted public 
intervention to 
establish a 
charging 
network may 
help encourage 
uptake.

19 Aspiration
al

Green 
Infrastructure
Although local 
green 
infrastructure is 
unlikely to be of 
a scale to 
directly affect air 
pollution 
production within 
RCT. It can be 
potentially used, 
in very carefully 
considered 
scenarios 
(inappropriate 
use could make 
matter worse), 
for instance to 
mitigate the flow 
of air pollution 
and protect local 
residents or to 
provide areas 
where the public 
can easily 
access that that 
are markedly 
lower in air 
pollution when 
compared to the 
locality. For 
instance, the 
A470, in part, 
observes benefit 
from existing 
green 
infrastructure 
separating the 
local community 
from this major 
source of 

RCT 

 




 - 

Tudalen 48



Nitrogen 
Dioxide.  It is 
possible that 
certain places 
(e.g Ysgol Evan 
James 
(Pontypridd), 
Parclewis 
(Broadway), 
Cymmer Jnr. 
(Cymmer)) could 
benefit from 
“green walls” 
which create a 
barrier between 
a road and 
nearby people.   
The preservation 
and 
improvement of 
potential 
‘tranquil spaces’ 
(eg Aberdare 
Park, 
Ynysangharad 
Park) can enable 
the public to 
‘escape’ 
everyday air 
pollution 
exposure.  The 
use of green 
infrastructure to 
reduce power 
usage at 
buildings can 
also help to 
reduce the 
sources of some 
local air pollution

Tudalen 49



Tudalen wag



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

CLIMATE CHANGE STEERING GROUP

28TH JANUARY 2020

CONSULTATION ON THE DRAFT WILDFLOWER GRASS MANAGEMENT 
POLICY FOR RHONDDA CYNON TAF

REPORT OF THE GROUP DIRECTOR, PROSPERITY, DEVELOPMENT & 
FRONTLINE SERVICES AND THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH, 
PROTECTION & COMMUNITY SERVICES DISCUSSION WITH THE 
CABINET’S CLIMATE CHANGE CHAMPION (COUNCILLOR RHYS LEWIS)

Author:  Elizabeth Dean, Environment Planner – 01443 562242

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of the report is to consult the Steering Group on the draft 
Wildflower Grass Management Policy for Rhondda Cynon Taf.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that the Steering Group:

2.1 Comment on the draft Wildflower Grass Management Policy, and

2.2 That the feedback and comments of the Climate Control Cabinet 
Steering Group are reported to Cabinet to inform their decision with 
regard to the policy.

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 Land management has significant climate change and biodiversity 
impacts.  The grassland management policy seeks to address these, 
whilst continuing to meet the Council’s Corporate priorities.

4. BACKGROUND

4.1    Two earlier reports (2015 and 2017) have been considered by Scrutiny 
committee regarding wildflower grass management and pollinators. For 
a number of years, grassland management pilots have been underway 
on a limited number of sites in parks, on road verges and key 
countryside sites.  These pilots have enabled the Council to explore the 
issues, to test sustainability, to monitor the biodiversity impact and 
inform the development of this draft Wildflower Grass Management 
Policy. 

Tudalen 51



4.2 In recent years, the loss of wildflower grassland habitats and the 
pollinating insects they support has become an issue of public concern. 
Publically owned grasslands and grass verges have significant 
potential as reservoirs of wildflower rich habitat that can contribute to 
reconnecting and restoring grassland biodiversity. As these areas are 
in public view, they also offer opportunities for awareness raising, local 
community support and action.  A number of the pilot projects were 
suggested by residents or Councillors and some local communities 
helped to develop ‘Grab a Rake’ (see Appendix 2).

4.3 The management of Council owned land for biodiversity has been an 
important priority within ‘Action for Nature: the Local Biodiversity Action 
Plan for Rhondda Cynon Taf’.  In recent years, grassland management 
has also been recognised in the actions undertaken to meet the 
Council’s Biodiversity Duty under S6. Environment (Wales) Act 2016.  
Cross departmental working is fundamental to this, in particular as 
grass cutting has been transferred from Parks and Countryside to 
Streetcare. 

4.4 It is important to appreciate that a wildflower management approach is 
not about abandonment.  Active management is required for native 
wildflowers and their pollinators to thrive.  Grass is left uncut until the 
flowers have set seed but later in the year it is cut and the grass is 
collected into ‘habitat piles’.  The collection of the cuttings is an 
essential part of the process.  It removes nutrients, lowers the soil 
fertility and prevents a ‘thatch’ of dead grass inhibiting wildflower seed 
growth.  Over time, the percentage of grass decreases and the 
percentage of wildflowers will increase.  On larger sites, conservation 
grazing may be the most sustainable option.

4.5 In Rhondda Cynon Taf, we are very fortunate to have a wide range of 
native wildflowers growing naturally in our fields, verges and 
woodlands.  All these plants are perfectly adapted to the soil, climate 
and habitat and are part of the ‘ecosystem’ providing food not only for 
pollinators but for many insects and other animals.  This is the 
foundation of our unique biodiversity.  Sadly, this has been lost in some 
other parts of the UK.

4.6 The proposed Rhondda Cynon Taf grassland and grass-verge 
biodiversity management policy is ‘to increase the area and extent of 
wildflower rich grassland habitat in the County Borough in 
support of the Council’s Biodiversity Duty and ‘Action for Nature: 
the Local Biodiversity Action Plan’.  

The key principles in support of the policy are:

Tudalen 52



 To identify sites where there are no over-riding health and safety 
constraints to changed grassland management.

 To ensure changes in grass and grass-verge management are 
broadly supported by local people.

 To pick sites with the highest potential for biodiversity improvement. 
The measure of potential includes consideration of:

a) Existing wildflower composition;
b) Larger sites being better than small ones;
c) Sites which help to create habitat connectivity within the local 

landscape; 
d) Sites which help ‘fill in’ gaps in the network of sites across the 

County Borough.

 To pick sites where appropriate vehicle access is available.
 To ensure sites have necessary ‘eco-pile’ composting capacity.
 Where appropriate, to establish conservation grazing sites on large 

sites. 
 Integrate management with Japanese Knotweed, Himalayan 

Balsam and other invasive plant control.
 Develop site interpretation at a scale and form appropriate to the 

site and location, and co-ordinate via the Council web site using the 
‘brimstone butterfly’ emblem as the project logo.

 Where appropriate, link local communities and interest groups with 
site management for awareness raising, training, the recording of 
wildflowers and insects and to promote ‘Grab a Rake’ community 
raking.

 On ‘cut and collect’ sites, visibility splays and access paths will 
continue to be cut more regularly.

 In some cases not all the wildflower grass needs to be cut and 
collected each year. Staggered biennial cutting can ensure even 
better pollinating insect habitat and that some wildflower seeds are 
available to seed eating birds as winter food. 

 Even grassland that initially has few wildflowers can quickly 
diversify with biodiversity management, however in these cases the 
floristic improvements can be accelerated by planting spring bulbs. 
These will provide an instant reaction to new management and the 
‘hay meadow’ management will ensure the plants can 
photosynthesize after flowering and develop strong bulbs for 
flowering the next spring.

Tudalen 53



 Map, record and report progress through the Biodiversity Duty and 
the Local Biodiversity Action Plan.

4.7 The draft Policy on Wildflower Grass Management is set out in 
Appendix 1. In 2020, it is proposed that the number of sites in 
wildflower management will be increased and that website and social 
media will be utilised to engage with local communities.  Local 
Members, residents and officers have identified a number of suitable 
sites and it is anticipated that this will continue in subsequent years.  If 
the policy is adopted by the Council, it will provide clear guidelines for 
the future development of the programme.   

5. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There are no equality or diversity implications as a result of the 
recommendations set out in the report.

6. CONSULTATION / INVOLVEMENT

6.1 The draft policy has been developed in consultation with Council staff 
who have responsibility and practical expertise in grassland 
management as well the Council’s ecologist.  Local residents and 
Councillors have contributed to the pilot projects, some being actively 
involved in ‘Grab a Rake’ to remove cuttings from small sites which are 
unsuitable for ‘cut and collect’ machinery.

6.2 The future development of the wildflower grass cutting programme will 
continue to involve local Councillors and residents.  Website and social 
media are proposed to provide a channel for information, awareness 
raising and involvement. 

6.3 The views of this Steering Group will make an important contribution 
and inform the deliberations of Cabinet.

7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)  

7.1 There are likely to be some minor financial implications associated with 
this report. The Council’s grassland management budget is significant 
and the changes proposed can largely be accommodated within this.  
There may be additional costs associated with removing cut material, 
however this should be balanced but the reduced frequency of cuts on 
these sites.  The pilots have demonstrated that, over time, the volume 
of cut material decreases as the wildflower percentage increases. 

7.2 Site signage is likely to be expanded, using the brimstone butterfly 
emblem, to mark sites in conservation management.  The machinery 
required for ‘cut and collect’ is different to routine grass cutting and its 
use requires training for the operatives.  The current tracked machine 

Tudalen 54



has a large capacity and is suitable for cutting wet ground outside the 
routine grass cutting season.  The machine and the initial staff training 
was largely funded by grant aid from Natural Resources Wales.  As the 
programme develops, there will be a need for additional machinery (in 
particular for smaller sites) for repairs and eventual replacement and 
for additional staff training.  

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED 

8.1 The Council has a statutory biodiversity duty under S.6 of the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016  and general responsibilities with regard 
to land management under various Acts including Highways legislation.

9. LINKS TO THE CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND 
THE WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT.

9.1 The draft policy on Wildflower Grass Management contributes to the 
Council’s PLACE priority for creating neighbourhoods where people 
are proud to live and work.  It also contributes to ‘providing essential 
services well’, ‘help people and communities to help themselves’ and to 
‘build a sustainable County Borough’ as set out in the Council’s 
Corporate Plan 2016-2020.  The Council is currently undertaking initial 
discussions with regard to the next Corporate Plan for the period 2020-
2024 which is likely to contain further consideration of the climate 
emergency and biodiversity loss.

9.2 The draft policy reflects the five ways of working of the Well-being of 
Future Generations Act.  It has been developed collaboratively, 
drawing on the skills of practitioners, other local authorities and NRW 
with the involvement of local residents and Councillors.  It is designed 
to deliver sustainable, long -term benefits and prevent the loss of 
native wildflowers and the biodiversity that depends on this habitat.  
The Policy seeks to integrate this approach within the existing grass 
cutting service, expand the number of sites gradually, learn from 
experience and share this via social media. 

9.3 The draft policy relates most closely to the Resilience and Global 
Responsibility goals of the Act but the extension of the programme 
more widely across RCT will contribute to the Equality and Cohesive 
Communities goals.  The impact on the Prosperity, Health and Cultural 
/Welsh Language goals is likely to be positive.

10. CONCLUSION

Tudalen 55



10.1 Members of the Climate Control Cabinet Steering Group are requested 
to consider the information presented in this report and are invited to 
comment on the Draft Policy on Wildflower Grass Management

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/E
nvironmentalServicesScrutinyCommittee/2015/04/20/Reports/item4actiontosafeguard
pollinatinginsectsinrct.pdf

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/P
ublicServiceDeliveryCommunitiesandProsperityScrutinyCommittee/2017/12/12/Report
s/AgendaItem3TheEnvironmentActWales2015BiodiversityDutyandPollinators.pdf

Tudalen 56

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/EnvironmentalServicesScrutinyCommittee/2015/04/20/Reports/item4actiontosafeguardpollinatinginsectsinrct.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/EnvironmentalServicesScrutinyCommittee/2015/04/20/Reports/item4actiontosafeguardpollinatinginsectsinrct.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/EnvironmentalServicesScrutinyCommittee/2015/04/20/Reports/item4actiontosafeguardpollinatinginsectsinrct.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/PublicServiceDeliveryCommunitiesandProsperityScrutinyCommittee/2017/12/12/Reports/AgendaItem3TheEnvironmentActWales2015BiodiversityDutyandPollinators.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/PublicServiceDeliveryCommunitiesandProsperityScrutinyCommittee/2017/12/12/Reports/AgendaItem3TheEnvironmentActWales2015BiodiversityDutyandPollinators.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/PublicServiceDeliveryCommunitiesandProsperityScrutinyCommittee/2017/12/12/Reports/AgendaItem3TheEnvironmentActWales2015BiodiversityDutyandPollinators.pdf


Appendix One

A Policy on Wildflower Grass Management 

This note sets out the policy position for biodiversity grass verge and open 
space management in Rhondda Cynon Taf. For a variety of fortunate 
reasons, highway grass verges, open spaces, parks and school grounds in 
Rhondda Cynon Taf are often rich in native wildflowers and support ‘priority’ 
grassland habitat. In recent years, the loss of wildflower grassland habitats 
and the pollinating insects they support has become an issue of significant 
public concern. Strategies to restore grassland biodiversity have been 
developed and publically owned grasslands and grass verges are increasingly 
seen as important reservoirs of wildflower rich habitat. A resource which if 
managed sympathetically, can help to reconnect and restore grassland 
biodiversity. Being in the public view, these areas also offer excellent 
opportunities for awareness raising and local community support and action. 
Wildflower grassland and grass verge management also involves integrated 
cross department working in support of Action for Nature:  the Local 
Biodiversity Action Plan for RCT and the Council’s new Biodiversity Duty.   

It is important to recognise that wildflower management is not abandonment 
of land. Wildflowers need management to thrive and wildflower grasslands 
are traditionally maintained either by cutting or grazing. In very simple terms, 
biodiversity management requires grass to be left uncut in the spring and 
summer in order for flowers to ‘flower and seed’ , and only then are cut, with 
all ‘arisings’ collected.  The collection of the cut grass is essential, because in 
doing so it removes nutrients from the soil which has the dual impact of 
reducing grass growth and increasing wildflower diversity and abundance. 
Collection also ensures that dead grass isn’t allowed to form a mulch which 
can smother the wildflowers beneath. On grasslands where cut material is not 
collected, wildflowers will not flourish. Indeed changes of management which 
see grasslands cut once or twice a year but with the cuttings left is proving 
worse for wildflower diversity than traditional regular grass cutting. Again, it is 
important to re-iterate that wildflower grassland management is not 
abandonment. 

Once collected the cut material can often be composted on site in special 
‘eco-piles’, which act as hibernation areas and refuges for reptiles. Where 
there is no space, the cut material can be removed for composting elsewhere. 
The removal of cut material is essential. It is also the most difficult element of 
wildflower management and it is one of the first questions that need to be 
considered when changing management to a wildflower regime. In most 
cases cut and collection will be by machine, however on some small sites 
community raking up of cut grass through the ‘grab a rake’ initiative with the 
green bagging of cut grass for waste collection is a viable option. On larger 
sites, where opportunities arise, conservation grazing is a very effective 
wildflower management tool.  RCT Council runs a number of conservation 
grazing sites.

Tudalen 57



On steep banks collection of cut grass by machine is impossible.  Here gravity 
assists, as cut grass ‘works down’ to the bottom of banks, leaving at least the 
upper parts wildflower rich. In such circumstances, where community 
volunteer help is available, hand raking can help the bottom of the bank. 
The RCT grass and grass-verge biodiversity management policy is ‘to 
increase the area and extent of wildflower rich grassland habitat in the 
County Borough in support of the Council’s Biodiversity Duty and 
‘Action for Nature: the Local Biodiversity Action Plan’.

Key principles in support of the policy include:

1. To identify sites where there are no over-riding health and safety 
constraints to changed grassland management.

2. To ensure changes in grass and grass-verge management are broadly 
supported by local people.

3. To pick sites with the highest potential for biodiversity improvement. 
The measure of potential includes consideration of:

a) Existing wildflower composition;
b) Larger sites being  better than small ones;
c) Sites which help to create habitat connectivity within the local 

landscape; 
d) Sites which help ‘fill in’ gaps in the network of sites across the 

County Borough.
4. To pick sites where appropriate vehicle access is available.
5. To ensure sites have necessary ‘eco-pile’ composting capacity.
6. Where appropriate to establish conservation grazing sites on large 

sites.
7. Integrate management with Japanese Knotweed, Himalayan Balsam 

and other invasive plant control.
8. Develop site interpretation at a scale and form appropriate to the site 

and location, and co-ordinate via the Council web site using the 
‘brimstone butterfly’ emblem as the project logo.

9. Where appropriate link local communities and interest groups with site 
management for awareness raising, training, the recording of 
wildflowers and insects and to promote ‘Grab a Rake’ community 
raking. 

10. On ‘cut and collect’ sites, visibility splays and access paths will 
continue to be cut more regularly.

11. In some cases not all the wildflower grass needs to be cut and 
collected each year. Staggered biennial cutting can ensure even better 
pollinating insect habitat and that some wildflower seeds are available 
to seed eating birds as winter food.

Tudalen 58



12. Even grassland which initially have few wildflowers can quickly diversify 
with biodiversity management, however in these cases the floristic 
improvements can be accelerated by planting spring bulb. These will 
provide an instant reaction to new management and the ‘hay meadow’ 
management will ensure the plants can photosynthesize after flowering 
and develop strong bulbs for flowering the next spring.

13. Map, record and report progress through the Biodiversity Duty and 
Local Biodiversity Action Plan.

Tudalen 59



Appendix Two

A brief guide to managing grass for Biodiversity

What changes are taking place in terms of grass management?

At present, most of our grass verges and parks are cut regularly (every four 
weeks or so). However, this does not give a chance for wild flowers to flower 
and go to seed as the grass is cut quite short. Less wild flowers mean that 
there is less food for insects and in turn, less insects mean less food for other 
animals. In addition, when we cut the grass, some of the clippings are left on 
the surface; they then get washed into the grass by rain, people walking 
through etc. These clippings then sit at the surface of the ground, suppress 
some of the light which stop wild flowers from coming up and as the clippings 
break down, they feed the grass. This improves the growing conditions for the 
grass so the grass gets stronger and the wild flowers cannot compete with it. 
It is important to note that for wild flowers to grow successfully, they need to 
grow on poor soils. By cutting the grass the way we do, we are encouraging 
more grass and less flowers; therefore, less biodiversity.
To change this trend, we have identified areas in some parks, grass verges 
and cemeteries where we could let the grass grow for a longer period of time. 
This will help wild flowers to complete their life cycle (namely: come up, flower 
and go to seed) before being cut and collected. By doing this, over time, we 
will see less grass and more wild flowers coming through. More wild flowers 
means more pollen and nectar for insects which means that they are more 
likely to breed and increase their numbers.

What is ‘Grab your Rake’?

‘Grab your Rake’ is a campaign devised to involve the local community in the 
management of some of our grass verges left for biodiversity.
It is aimed at anyone who would like to spend a couple of hours outdoors to 
help us rake an area after it has been strimmed; pile up the clippings and bag 
them ready to be recycled/ composted. On some sites, we may be able to 
create habitat piles for other animals such as reptiles which are also species 
under threat.

What tools/ equipment is required?

The only things needed are: a rake and a pair of gloves.

Taking Health and Safety into consideration

The areas selected under the ‘Grab your Rake’ campaign may be located 
near busy roads. It is therefore important to brief people beforehand and to 
ensure the following:

Tudalen 60



- Remind individuals to be mindful of the nearby road and their 
positioning when working

- Signs should be on site to forewarn drivers

- Cones may be used to create a safety buffer away between the 
road and the work area should this be needed

- When using a rake, rake towards you – not away from you. This 
will reduce the amount of physical stress on the body

- Safe distances should be maintained when working so as to 
prevent hitting each other with tools

- Gloves should be worn at all times especially when bagging the 
clippings

- Bags should not be overfilled so as to cause injury when lifting. 
Remind individuals to lift with their knees not with their back – 
good manual handling technique

- Remember to wash hands before eating

Other community activities

As the ‘Grab your Rake’ campaign will take place primarily over late summer 
and early autumn, we would like to invite the community to help us plant some 
of those biodiversity areas with bulbs or even some devil’s bit scabious which 
is one of the main food source for insects in RCT.
This is a good project to involve young children and teach them about planting 
bulbs in grass as if they had always been there. This will also provide some 
colour and interest until the rest of the wild flowers start to come up.

Method of planting daffodils:

The best way to plant daffodils is to lift a patch of turf and scatter the bulbs. 
Where the bulbs fall is where they to be planted. All of this will give a more 
natural look once the daffodils are in flower. Make sure however that you 
leave plenty of space between each bulb so it has space to spread. Before 
replacing the turf, you need to score the underside of the turf to loosen the 
soil, replace it and only if possible water the area. As a rule, planting depth 
should be 3 times the height of the bulb.

Tools required: spade; fork; hand trowel and gloves.

Tudalen 61



Tudalen wag



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

13th FEBRUARY 2020

MAKING A DIFFERENCE
THE COUNCIL’S DRAFT CORPORATE PLAN 2020-2024

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN DISCUSSION WITH THE LEADER 
OF THE COUNCIL (COUNCILLOR ANDREW MORGAN)

AUTHOR: Chris Bradshaw: 01443 424026 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of the report is to set out a new draft Corporate Plan from 
2020 – 2024. The draft Plan:

 Is informed by the priorities of residents, elected Members and staff 
through a comprehensive consultation over a 12 week period to 17th 
January 2020;

 Provides a vision for the County Borough in 2024, and sets out the 
Council’s priorities and objectives it will focus upon over the following 
four years. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Cabinet:

2.1 Consider and challenge the draft Corporate Plan;

2.2 Note the feedback from the consultation process. 
 
2.3 Subject to any changes required by Cabinet, present the draft Corporate 

Plan to Council at its meeting on 4th March 2020.
  
3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 It is a key element of effective strategic and financial management for 
the Council to put in place a Corporate Plan to ensure that it:

 Is well placed to meet future challenges, particularly in the context of 
cuts to local authority funding, demographic changes in the demand 
for services and legislation changes; 

 Has a clear strategy and set of priorities for future years; and 

Tudalen 63

Agendwm 5



 Can use this Plan to allocate resources and ensure action plans are 
in place to deliver the agreed priorities.

4. THE CORPORATE PLAN

4.1 The draft Corporate Plan 2020-2024 set out in Appendix A seeks to set 
the overall direction for the Council over the coming four years, 
describing its vision, purpose and ambition as local authority for the 
County Borough.

4.2 The Council’s proposed vision is:

“To be the best place in Wales to live, work and play, where people 
and businesses are independent, healthy, and prosperous”.

4.3 The Council’s proposed purpose and the reason why it exists is: “To 
provide strong community leadership and create the environment 
for people and businesses to be independent, healthy and 
prosperous”.

4.4 It is proposed that the Council is focused on the following three 
priorities:

1. Ensuring People: are independent, healthy and successful;
2. Creating Places: where people are proud to live, work and play; 
3. Enabling Prosperity: creating the opportunity for people and 

businesses to: be innovative; be entrepreneurial; and fulfil their 
potential and prosper.

4.5 The new draft Corporate Plan will be a key part of the Council’s budget 
and business planning process, and therefore it is essential that the draft 
Corporate Plan takes into account the fact that Rhondda Cynon Taf 
Council and the wider public sector continue to face significant financial 
challenges. Despite significant reductions to Government spending 
since 2010 and a return to economic growth, the financial environment 
for the Council, the wider public sector, and residents continues to be 
challenging. The position can be summarised as follows:

 Despite the new UK Government increasing its spending 
commitment for public services, for the first time for many years, pay 
and pensions costs are rising quickly. This negates the majority of 
the benefit of the increase in public sector funding.

 It is likely that over the next three years further spending cuts will be 
required, as the UK budget deficit still stands at around £40 billion or 
2% of national GDP meaning that some form of austerity will 
continue.

 Increasing pressure on services: increasing demand on services is 
driven by a changing population. Rhondda Cynon Taf’s population is 

Tudalen 64



increasing but health and social services in particular are facing acute 
challenges due to the growth in older cohorts, as people live for 
longer.

 Wider financial pressure on households: from energy bills, housing 
costs, wage restraint, and benefit reforms.

 Increasing public expectations in terms of responding to climate 
change and the need to act, will require the Council to invest in 
ensuring its day to day activities become Carbon Neutral. This means 
that the Council must plan for the fact that this additional cost will not 
be met from simply doing more of what it is currently doing, but from 
making other difficult choices on what it does or does not provide.

4.6 Knowing that the Council continues to face significant financial 
challenges in the years ahead, it has a responsibility to develop and 
agree a plan for meeting the challenge. 

4.7 Nevertheless, the economy locally is now growing, with the Cardiff 
Capital City Region one of the fastest growing areas outside of London. 
This creates opportunities for the Council; for residents; and for 
business. In Rhondda Cynon Taf, the benefits are already being seen 
through reduced unemployment, falling numbers of pupils eligible for free 
school meals, with more people on benefits moving into work. 

4.8 The benefits of the new South Wales Metro should have a significant 
positive economic and social impact on many communities in Rhondda 
Cynon Taf, attracting more people and businesses to live and work in 
the County Borough.

 5 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Areas of investment identified in the plan, as well as the consideration of 
tough decisions ahead, will be subject to Equalities Impact Assessments 
as subsequent budget proposals and other strategic decisions are 
brought forward during the course of the Plan.

6 CONSULTATION 

6.1 The Overview & Scrutiny Committee pre-scrutinised the first draft of the 
new Corporate Plan on 23rd September 2019. There was a high level of 
debate amongst the Members which resulted in the draft Corporate Plan 
being amended to include a number of actions to be included within a 
number of the priority areas. 

6.2 The draft Corporate Plan has been subject to a comprehensive 
community consultation exercise for 12 weeks from the 25th October 
2019 to the 17th January 2020. The feedback from the consultation is set 
out in Appendix B. Council staff were also encouraged to feedback their 
thoughts on the draft Corporate Plan via the Council’s intranet site. 

Tudalen 65



6.3 The feedback from the consultation process was particularly positive with 
a clear mandate supporting the Council’s Vision and the three priorities.

6.4 Consultees came forward with a number of excellent suggestions in 
respect of the actions they felt the Council should focus on operationally, 
such as local procurement, local employment, improvement in pay and 
conditions and improving our internal systems and processes. The 
Council already focuses on these issues through the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Plan and our HR Strategy, where we prioritise:

 Digitalisation 
 Commercialisation 
 Early Intervention and Prevention  
 Independence
 Efficient and Effective Organisation.

6.5 Also the Council is a Foundation Living Wage Employer and each year 
we recruit approximately 50 apprentices and graduates from local 
colleges and universities.

6.6 The other key area of concern for residents was the environment and 
the need for a sense of urgency in respect of responding to Climate 
Change. The draft Corporate Plan includes a number of key actions to 
respond to Climate Change and over the next four years, we will see 
significant progress and actions being implemented as a result of the 
positive intervention of the Cabinet Climate Change Steering Group. 

6.7 As a result of the feedback received, the draft Corporate Plan has had some 
drafting changes to incorporate the salient points raised. 

7 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

7.1 The draft Corporate Plan 2020-2024 will be set within the context of the 
budget setting process for 2020/21. Any investments set out in the Plan 
will be considered in the 2020/21 budget and subsequent Medium Term 
Financial proposals to ensure that spending priorities are aligned, where 
appropriate, with the Plan.

8 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 The Cabinet has responsibility for the overall strategic direction of the 
Council and for formulating the Corporate Plan.

Tudalen 66



9 LINKS TO THE CORPORATE PLAN AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES 
AND THE WELL BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT.

9.1 This report proposes a new set of corporate priorities and performance 
targets which will drive the work of the Council between 2020 and 2024.

9.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act focuses on improving 
the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. 
The Act makes public bodies, such as the Council, think more about the 
long-term, work better with people and communities and each other, look 
to prevent problems and take a more joined-up approach. This helps us 
to create a Wales that we all want to live in, now and in the future. To 
make sure we are all working towards the same vision, the Act puts in 
place the following seven well-being goals:

1. A prosperous Wales - An innovative, productive and low carbon 
society which recognises the limits of the global environment and 
therefore uses resources efficiently and proportionately (including 
acting on climate change); and which develops a skilled and well-
educated population in an economy which generates wealth and 
provides employment opportunities, allowing people to take 
advantage of the wealth generated through securing decent work.

2. A resilient Wales - A nation which maintains and enhances a bio-
diverse natural environment with healthy functioning ecosystems that 
support social, economic and ecological resilience and the capacity 
to adapt to change (for example climate change).

3. A healthier Wales - A society in which people’s physical and mental 
well-being is maximised and in which choices and behaviours that 
benefit future health are understood.

4. A more equal Wales - A society that enables people to fulfil their 
potential no matter what their background or circumstances 
(including their socio economic background and circumstances).

5. A Wales of cohesive communities - Attractive, viable, safe and 
well-connected communities.

6. A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language - A 
society that promotes and protects culture, heritage and the Welsh 
language, and which encourages people to participate in the arts, 
and sports and recreation.

7. A globally responsible Wales - A nation which, when doing 
anything to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being of Wales, takes account of whether doing such a thing may 
make a positive contribution to global well-being.

9.3 This draft Corporate Plan’s vision, priorities and principles support the 
seven Well-being Goals. The Act requires the Council to set well-being 
objectives that maximise its contribution to achieving the well-being 
goals. In doing so, the Council will be expected to take all reasonable 
steps to meet those well-being objectives. It is proposed that the Well-

Tudalen 67



being objectives will be the three priorities set out in the draft Corporate 
Plan 2020-2024. This will be considered and determined by Council in 
March 2020.

10 CONCLUSION

10.1 The Cabinet are recommended to approve the draft Corporate Plan 
2020-2024 and present it to full Council for consideration. 

Other Information:-

Relevant Scrutiny Committee:

Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Background Papers:

Draft Corporate Plan 2020-2024

Contact Officer

Chris Bradshaw – 01443 424026

Tudalen 68



LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

AS AMENDED BY

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

13th FEBRUARY 2020

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN DISCUSSION WITH THE LEADER 
OF THE COUNCIL (COUNCILLOR ANDREW MORGAN)

Item:  MAKING A DIFFERENCE
THE COUNCIL’S DRAFT CORPORATE PLAN 2020-2024

FOR CONSULTATION

Background Papers:

Draft Corporate Plan 2020-2024

Officer to contact:  Chris Bradshaw 01443 424026

Tudalen 69



APPENDIX A

Making A Difference

The Council’s Corporate Plan 
2020 – 2024

Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
Borough Council 

Tudalen 70



A message from the Leader of the Council

Rhondda Cynon Taf is a great place to live, work and play, and despite the 
continuing public sector austerity, the County Borough has great potential to 
become more prosperous and successful over the course of the next few years. 
We have already made a real difference. Over the past four years, the Council 
has delivered on its first Corporate Plan – The Way Forward 2016-2020, and 
has invested nearly £400m in priority areas such as:

 £170m - 21st Century Schools;
 £85m - Highways, Transportation and other infrastructure; 
 £15m - parks, play areas, leisure centres and outdoor sports facilities; 

and 
 £95m in regeneration of our town centres and community assets. 

As we look to the future, we want to build on what we have achieved to date 
and make sure that every town and community in Rhondda Cynon Taf is a great 
place to live, work and play. 

The pace of change in the world is fast, especially in the technology industry, 
so it is important that we keep up with the pace of change and make the most 
of the opportunities that come our way, such as technology that enables 
independent living. In doing so we will embrace change and be innovative in 
the way that we deliver services to residents. This new Corporate Plan sets out 
how we intend to continue to invest for the future.
 
Like all councils, we are continuing to face a difficult financial challenge. More 
and more people are needing our services, and there is also an increasing 
uncertainty about the levels of funding in the future. This means that we have 
had to make some tough decisions around where we prioritise and spend our 
resources.  It has also presented us with opportunities to be innovative. We 
have had to think about alternative ways of working and more efficient means 
of delivering services to ensure that we retain the high standards of provision 
that residents expect. This includes ensuring that there is robust management 
of our budgets and our contracts, reducing our management and back office 
costs and ensuring we deliver value for money to the tax payer. 

Careful long-term financial planning is key to ensuring that this approach 
remains successful. Over the past four years we have had the lowest 
cumulative increase in Council Tax across Wales and we will seek to ensure 
that Council Tax continues to be affordable over the next four years. The 
increases we have introduced are the minimum we need to balance the books 
and pay for essential services, such as safeguarding our older and younger 
residents. The budget consultation feedback supports this approach, and there 
will also be an opportunity to have your say on the level of Council Tax set each 
year.  I am always grateful for the feedback we receive through the annual 
consultation exercise as it helps to inform us what areas you want to see the 
Council prioritise for the forthcoming year. 

Tudalen 71



We always listen and look to respond to the outcomes.  For 2019/20, the 3.6% 
rise in Council Tax that the Council approved is less than the 4.45% average 
increase that residents indicated they would be willing to pay to protect our 
services and well below the all-Wales average increase of 6.15%. 

Despite the challenges, I am remaining ambitious and positive in my outlook for 
Rhondda Cynon Taf and the people that live and work here. Our plan sets out 
three main priorities and how we propose to deliver a series of corresponding 
commitments to achieve these. 

Having a clean, pleasant and well-maintained environment remains at the top 
of the list. We know that efficient recycling and waste collections, welcoming 
green spaces, clean streets and well-maintained roads are some of the ways 
we can best support the quality of residents’ daily lives. So we will continue to 
take tough action to tackle environmental crimes such as fly tipping, dog fouling 
and littering. 

As we continue to work to reduce the day-to-day running costs of the Council 
to make savings, we are investing heavily in the future infrastructure of the 
County Borough.  We have already set aside £170m to invest in building new 
schools, extra care homes, improvements to our roads and pavements, our 
green spaces, leisure centres, libraries and community buildings. We have 
already made good progress in enhancing our town centres to create the 
environment where businesses flourish and where people want to live, work 
and visit. Further investment is planned bringing jobs and homes into the town 
centres and opportunities for leisure and social activities. 

The investment in the Council’s infrastructure is likely to exceed £400m by the 
end of the four year period as new schemes come to fruition, and we maximise 
the benefits of the Welsh Government’s investment in the South Wales Metro 
and Cardiff Capital Region City Deal investments.

Our ambition is for everyone to be as healthy, independent and prosperous as 
possible throughout their lives. Enabling access to a good education, 
developing skills and decent employment opportunities are all key priority 
areas. As we embrace the changes ahead, we remain absolutely committed to 
ensuring the effective safeguarding of our vulnerable children and adults. This 
commitment will not change. We will continue to seek to reduce the number of 
children looked after through early intervention and prevention and look for 
innovative ways to support our older population. 

In the context of reducing budgets and growing demand pressures, the 
traditional role of the local authority as service deliverer is changing. Working 
with partners such as the police and health service is essential in tackling the 
complex and multi-faceted challenges facing our communities and core 
services. We will also see a different relationship with communities continuing 

Tudalen 72



to emerge – one where we work together and both residents and businesses 
take a shared responsibility for themselves and the communities they live and 
work in. We are lucky to have strong business, voluntary, community and 
religious groups across RCT, and they will continue to play an important role in 
developing this new dynamic throughout the County Borough.

Our greatest challenge will be to deliver the Council’s commitment to being “A 
net-zero Green House Gas Council by 2030” which is 20 years earlier than the 
recommendation of the UK Committee on Climate Change. This is a challenge 
we are taking seriously and we look forward to receiving the support from all 
local residents and businesses in working together to change the way we live 
our lives to achieve this aim. 

I hope this Corporate Plan helps you to understand more about how the Council 
is approaching the challenges and opportunities over the next four years, and 
how we can work together for an even better Rhondda Cynon Taf.

Councillor Andrew Morgan
Leader of the Council

Tudalen 73



What we want to achieve

The Council’s vision is:

“To be the best place in Wales to live, work and play, where people and 
businesses are independent, healthy, and prosperous.”

The Council’s purpose and the reason why it exists is:

“To provide strong community leadership and create the environment for 
people and businesses to be independent, healthy and prosperous.”

The Council is committed to delivering three main priorities:

 Ensuring People: are independent, healthy and successful;
 Creating Places: where people are proud to live, work and play; 
 Enabling Prosperity: creating the opportunity for people and businesses 

to: be innovative; be entrepreneurial; and fulfil their potential and 
prosper.

A set of key commitments that we will be focusing on sits underneath each core 
priority, including the detail of how we intend to deliver this. This doesn’t aim to 
capture all that the Council does, rather it provides a framework to guide us.

The Council’s three priorities – and our commitments:

People – Are independent, healthy and successful.

 Supporting our residents who are older, vulnerable or who have 
disabilities, to remain independent and have a good quality of life  - 
How we will deliver this:

o Opening new Extra Care schemes for people that need additional 
support to remain living independently; 

o Providing enablement services that help people regain or 
increase their independence; 

o Using technology to enhance independence and assist with care; 
o Offering support for carers; 
o Providing support and equipment that allows people to stay more 

independent at home;
o Commissioning a range of community based provision to enable 

people to remain actively engaged within their community.  

 Encouraging all residents to lead active and healthy lifestyles and 
maintain their mental wellbeing  - How we will deliver this:

Tudalen 74



o Delivering new indoor and outdoor sporting facilities and 
enhancing existing sporting facilities such as changing rooms and 
outdoor play areas; 

o Ensuring participation in sport and physical activity is accessible 
and inclusive for all by maintaining low cost, high value provision;

o Giving residents access to health and wellbeing information and 
activities through the GP referral schemes, and other health and 
wellbeing intervention programmes;

o Increasing levels of engagement and participation in the arts and 
culture, whilst developing our theatres to become more inclusive 
and accessible to the whole community;

o Continue to develop community hubs where residents have the 
opportunity to meet, socialise and access a range of Council and 
other services.
 

 Integrating health and social care and providing support for those 
with mental health problems and complex needs – How we will 
deliver this:

o Working with the local Health Board and GPs to provide more 
health and care services closer to home; 

o Working with the NHS to achieve timely discharge from hospital 
for patients;

o Offering, and signposting to prevention support for people to stay 
active and more independent in the community;

o Continuing to offer support to working age adults with mental 
health needs

o Introducing a social prescribing model for referring people to 
interventions in the community, including: exercise classes, adult 
education classes, Digital Fridays, Library reading clubs etc.

 Improving services for children and young people and ensuring the 
needs of children are considered in everything we do  - How we will 
deliver this:

o Seeking to reduce the number of children looked after through 
working with families to intervene early where issues arise with 
the focus on intervention and prevention to keep families safe 
together; 

o Improving the social, emotional and mental health and wellbeing 
of children and young people by increasing the range of specialist 
services available;

Tudalen 75



o Preventing young people from getting involved in violence, crime, 
exploitation and anti-social behaviour through a range of cultural, 
sporting and other forms of early engagement and intervention;

o Being a good corporate parent to children in care and care 
leavers, and supporting and involving them in securing the most 
suitable housing, employment, education or training provision;

o Working in partnership with Welsh Government, strive to reduce 
child poverty, providing services that encourage and build 
resilience of children and their families.

Places – Where people are proud to live, work and play.

 Keeping RCT clean through efficient street cleaning services, 
minimising the amount of waste we send to landfill, achieving our 
recycling targets through weekly recycling and regular refuse 
collections, and reducing our carbon footprint – How we will deliver 
this: 

o Supporting residents to reduce waste and increase recycling to 
80% by working with residents and businesses on initiatives that 
promote waste minimisation and re-use materials;

o Investing in technology to increase the amount of waste we 
recycle and reuse locally;

o Working with residents, landlords and agents to improve recycling 
rates  across all dwellings;

o Working with residents and communities to reduce the number of 
incidents of littering, dog fouling, fly tipping and illegal parking, 
using enforcement powers as necessary;

o Procuring a vehicle fleet that is fit for purpose yet has a limited 
impact on the environment;

o Creating a circular approach to recycling and reusing waste 
material such as plastic at every opportunity. This will include 
developing the Eco Park at Bryn Pica;

o Eliminating single use plastics and such as coffee cups across 
schools and other council facilities.

 Keeping the County Borough moving, including improvements to 
roads and pavements and public transport, whilst also improving 
air quality – How we will deliver this:

o Continuing to improve the condition of our roads and pavements 
and investing in our bridges, retaining walls and sustainable flood 
drainage systems; 

o Encouraging the use of public transport through the development 
of the South Wales Metro, walking and cycling through an 
investment in active travel initiatives;

Tudalen 76



o Working with Welsh Government and the Regional Transport 
Authority to continue to improve access to public transport and 
explore opportunities to bringing back disused public transport, 
such as rail lines, for bus routes and active travel;

o Exploring opportunities to develop a cycle network to major 
destinations in the County Borough without impeding main traffic 
routes;

o Promoting and investing in the roll out of electric vehicle charging 
opportunities;

o Using enforcement to increase compliance and support traffic to 
move smoothly and safely.

 Ensuring the County Borough is one of the safest places in Wales, 
with high levels of community cohesion and where residents feel 
safe – How will we deliver this:

o Supporting the voluntary, community and faith sectors to help 
build active communities, creating the capacity for meeting the 
needs of residents within their communities;

o Working with the police and Community Safety Partnership to 
prevent and deter anti-social behaviour and substance misuse in 
our towns; 

o Delivering a multi-agency response to all forms of violence and 
the criminal exploitation of children and vulnerable adults; 

o Preventing radicalisation and supporting victims of hate crime, 
including raising awareness.

 Getting the best out of our parks by looking after and investing in 
our greenspaces – How we will deliver this:

o Investing in the parks infrastructure, including playgrounds, 
pavements, seating areas and horticultural facilities, and 
developing masterplans for our major parks that will deliver 
significant improvements;

o Delivering natural carbon storage solutions such as those 
provided by trees, peat bogs, marshy grassland and other natural 
habitats across the County Borough to enhance air quality and 
reduce the impact of greenhouse gasses;

o Offering community grants for creating greener space, 
encouraging community groups to invest in small and medium 
scale greening projects in urban locations across the County 
Borough;

o Exploring opportunities to create and use our own green 
sustainable energy such as micro hydro-electric schemes which 
utilise natural river and water course features;

Tudalen 77



o Bringing cultural and sports events to our parks, such as the 
National Eisteddfod for Wales in 2022, and Glamorgan County 
Cricket to Ynysangharad Park to play T20 competitions, investing 
in the parks infrastructure to hold such significant events. 

Prosperity – Creating the opportunity for people and businesses to: be 
innovative; be entrepreneurial; and fulfil their potential and prosper.

 Investing in our town centres, bringing jobs and homes into our 
town centres to create vibrant, thriving places people wish to live, 
work and socialise; - How we will deliver this:

o Supporting new businesses to open up in town centres and 
existing businesses to expand their offer through a wide package 
of financial support and interventions;

o Where the private sector is unable to tackle empty or rundown 
sites and premises in town centres, the Council will proactively 
acquire specific key strategic sites and, in partnership with Welsh 
Government, seek to develop suitable town centre solutions; 

o Developing a tourism offer that encourages people to come to the 
County Borough and includes attractions such as the Rhondda 
and Abernant Tunnels, the Zip World Experience, Royal Mint 
Experience, The National Lido for Wales and the Welsh Mining 
Experience at the Rhondda Heritage Park. We will support 
businesses to develop a range of complementary services 
including offering accommodation in our town centres, such as 
boutique hotels, quality bed and breakfast and AirBNB locations;

o Continuing to keep town car park charges to a minimum and make 
it easier for shoppers to visit town centres using public transport 
or active travel.

o Supporting local small and medium sized businesses to supply 
goods and services to the Council and to recruit the best local 
talent available into a range of roles from apprenticeships and 
graduates to leadership positions.

 Delivering major regeneration and transportation schemes, 
maximising the impact of the new South Wales Metro, to create 
better places to live and work, whilst protecting and enhancing the 
County Borough; - How we will deliver this:

o The new Local Development Plan will consider a radically 
different approach to mobility – to create a socially just, zero-
carbon mobility plan. This shifts mobility away from the car by 
eliminating the conditions that make cars necessary. For 
example, by 2030, we need to ensure that half of all journeys will 
need to be taken by bus, bike or walking. All remaining journeys 
will be via electric vehicles. 

Tudalen 78



o Develop town Centre strategies for  our principal town centres, 
which values the uniqueness of each town, whilst building on the 
benefits of the Metro and including new office accommodation to 
increase town centre employment, and homes above shops to 
create footfall in the towns;

o The delivery of major road schemes such as the dualling of the 
A4119, the Cross Valley Link, the Llanharan By-Pass and the 
A465 Cynon Valley link road;

o An investment in a number of Park and Ride facilities across the 
County Borough at key strategic Metro sites, including JN34 of 
the M4;

o Ensuring all homes and businesses have at least access to 
superfast connectivity, with all key industrial and commercial hubs 
having access to ultrafast connectivity;

o The Council will lead on the master planning of the new settlement 
at Llanillid and the connectivity with the M4 and existing rail 
connections;

o Supporting housing developers to bring forward major housing 
developments on former brownfield sites, such as former Cwm 
Coking Works in Beddau and the former Phurnacite Works in 
Aberaman. 

 Ensuring we have good schools so all children have access to a 
great education; - How we will deliver this:

o Improving pupils’ achievement and narrowing the attainment gap;
o Improving outcomes for children and young people with special 

educational needs and disabilities; 
o Supporting children to have the best start in life and be ready for 

learning through an improved early years’ system and childcare 
offer; 

o Investing in new and replacement 21st Century Schools, whilst 
also meeting the demand for Welsh language provision 
throughout the County Borough;

o Supporting schools to successfully introduce and embed the new 
curriculum, raising the standards of educational performance for 
all pupils; 

o Supporting pupils to understand the world of work and access 
good careers advice and guidance.

 Increase the number of quality homes available and affordable to 
provide greater housing choice for residents; - How we will deliver 
this:

Tudalen 79



o Increase the land supply for new sustainable, low carbon homes 
through an updated Local Development Plan or Strategic 
Development Plan from 2021;

o Ensure that new housing and commercial developments include 
solar, where feasible, and have the capability to generate, store 
and use renewable energy onsite;

o Support small and medium sized house builders to develop new 
housing through access to the City Deal Housing Investment 
Fund;

o Provide a comprehensive self-build homes support service, 
including mortgages, for local people to build new homes on 
Council owned sites (“Plot Shop” Scheme);

o Continue to build Extra Care and specially adapted homes for 
elderly and vulnerable residents, develop innovative housing 
solutions for younger people in need, and provide suitable 
housing solutions for the homeless;

o Continue to bring back empty properties back into use through a 
range of interventions and support; 

o Continue to support responsible local landlords and agents to 
ensure we have a good quality, affordable private rented sector. 
We will maintain our targeted enforcement approach against bad 
landlords and unsafe rented housing maximising the Council’s 
regulatory intervention powers to improve housing conditions. 

 Helping people into work and better paid employment – How we will 
deliver this:

o Working with partners to provide employment support, utilising 
remaining European Funding; 

o Offering employment schemes and apprenticeships in the 
Council, on the regeneration sites, and through other Council 
contractors; 

o Offering specific support to help people find work such as care 
leavers, people with disabilities and Universal Credit claimants; 

o Promoting apprenticeships across the County Borough, and 
supporting businesses to make use of the apprenticeship levy.

o Continue to support working parents back into employment 
through the Welsh Government’s 30 Hours Childcare offer.

Our Approach

To achieve our vision, to make progress in delivering these priorities and 
respond to the significant financial challenges we continue to face, the Council 
has set out below how we will intend to deliver these priorities.

Tudalen 80



 Live within our means:

o Delivering services that matter most by making decisions to 
prioritise our limited resources;

o Providing value for money for the taxpayer and ensuring we are 
transparent in how we operate, maintaining low Council tax 
increases compared to other Welsh councils;

o Taking every opportunity to reduce the Council’s running costs;
o Take the steps to further reduce the Council’s carbon footprint to 

“Net Zero” through a sustainable approach to the procurement of 
energy, supplies and services;

o Ensuring Council vehicles, commissioned home to school 
transport vehicles, bus operators and taxi vehicles are fit for 
purpose and are as environmentally friendly as possible.

 Efficient and effective Council:

o Managing our finances and contracts robustly;
o Providing residents and businesses with the assistance they need 

at the first point of contact and greater access to online services 
and support;

o Treating residents equally, with understanding and respect, with 
all having access to quality services, whether they wish to engage 
with the Council in English or Welsh.

 Maximising opportunities:

o Taking a commercial approach to generating income, and looking 
for new opportunities to generate revenue from our assets. This 
includes generating green energy for use in local buildings and 
homes;

o Making use of digital and evolving technology and innovation to 
help us achieve better outcomes and become more efficient; 

o Capitalising on opportunities from Welsh Government, City Deal, 
or private sector investment growth and development to boost the 
local economy, creating local jobs through major initiatives, such 
as the Metro;

 Shared responsibility:

o Working with residents and the community to share responsibility, 
helping communities to do more for themselves and give them 
more control over what they can do to support local people in their 
communities;

Tudalen 81



o Focusing on prevention and early help in local communities so 
residents can live independently for as long as possible;

o Working in partnership with other public sector providers to 
maximise the impact of our resources on improving public 
services.

In preparing this Corporate Plan, the Council continues to take account of the 
requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.
 
The Act focuses on improving the social, economic, environmental and cultural 
wellbeing of Wales. It makes public bodies, such as the Council, think more 
about the long term, work better with people and communities and each other, 
look to prevent problems and take a more joined up approach. This will help us 
to create a Wales that we all want to live in, now and in the future. To make 
sure we are all working towards the same vision, the Act puts in place seven 
national Well-being Goals:

1. A prosperous Wales
2. A resilient Wales
3. A healthier Wales
4. A more equal Wales
5. A Wales of cohesive communities
6. A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
7. A globally responsible Wales

The Council’s approach to the Well-being of Future Generations Act is to embed 
its requirements into the   Council’s business.  The Priorities contained on this 
Corporate Plan also serve as the Council’s Well-being Objectives.

This Corporate Plan sets out a vision, priorities and principles that continue to 
maximise the Council’s contribution to the seven national Well-being goals.  The 
national goals, together with the five Ways of Working, will continue to be 
incorporated into the detailed action plans that will deliver the Council’s three 
priorities. 

Tudalen 82

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/Cabinet/2016/11/02/Reports/AgendaItem8WellbeingActCouncilsResponse.pdf


Appendix A 
Examples of how the draft Corporate Plan could contribute to 
the seven national Well-being Goals currently include

National 
Well-
being 
Goal

PEOPLE
Are independent, 

healthy and successful

PLACES
Where people are 
proud to live, work 

and play

PROSPERITY 
Creating the 

opportunity for people 
and businesses to: be 

innovative; be 
entrepreneurial; and 
fulfil their potential 

and prosper

Pr
os

pe
ro

us
 W

al
es

 Early intervention 
with families to keep 
them families safe 
together.

 Improving the social, 
emotional and 
mental health and 
wellbeing of children 
and young people by 
increasing the range 
of specialist services 
available.

 Being a good 
corporate parent to 
children in care and 
care leavers.

 Continuing to offer 
support to working 
age adults with 
mental health needs.

 Offering specific 
support to help 
people find work 
such as care 
leavers, people with 
disabilities and 
Universal Credit 
claimants.

 Continuing to 
support working 
parents back into 
employment through 
the Welsh 
Government’s 30 
Hours Childcare 
offer.

 Keeping people and 
traffic moving on 
well-maintained 
roads and 
pavements. 

 Progressing 
schemes that will 
benefit communities 
now and in the 
future including 
improved public 
transport. 

 Providing 
opportunities for 
businesses to 
emerge and 
flourish.

 Building new 
homes.

 Creating 
opportunities for 
jobs.

 Providing schools 
where all children 
can achieve the 
best they can.

 Developing Tourism 
offer and supporting 
businesses to meet 
the needs of 
visitors.

 Ensuring all homes 
and businesses 
have at least 
access to superfast 
connectivity, with all 
key industrial and 
commercial hubs 
having access to 
ultrafast 
connectivity.

Tudalen 83



National 
Well-
being 
Goal

PEOPLE
Are independent, 

healthy and successful

PLACES
Where people are 
proud to live, work 

and play

PROSPERITY 
Creating the 

opportunity for people 
and businesses to: be 

innovative; be 
entrepreneurial; and 
fulfil their potential 

and prosper

R
es

ili
en

t W
al

es

 Reducing site 
disturbance and 
material waste with 
shorter construction 
schedules. 

 Investing in and 
valuing our Green 
Spaces 

 Delivering natural 
carbon storage 
solutions such as 
those provided by 
trees, peat bogs, 
marshy grassland. 

 Promoting 
biodiversity by 
protecting existing 
habitats where 
possible. 

H
ea

lth
ie

r W
al

es

 Helping people to 
stay as well as they 
can for as long as 
they can by 
encouraging 
increased activity. 

 GP referral 
schemes, and other 
health and wellbeing 
intervention 
programmes.

 Offering and 
signposting to 
prevention support 
for people to stay 
active and more 
independent in the 
community.

 Continuing to tackle 
environmental crime.

 Investing in our 
playgrounds, 
leisure centres and 
community facilities 
in schools.

 Ensuring new 
housing and 
commercial 
developments have 
capacity to 
generate. store and 
use reusable 
energy

 Make it easier for 
shoppers to use 
public transport or 
active travel to our 
town centres.

M
or

e 
Eq

ua
l W

al
es

 Making sure that 
residents can access 
services, no matter 
what their 
background or 
circumstances.

 Social prescribing for 
referring people to 
interventions in the 
community. 

 Making sure that our 
residents of all ages 
and abilities can 
enjoy our parks and 
green spaces. 

 Providing 
opportunities to all 
our residents to 
improve their digital 
skills.

 Keeping Car Park 
charges to a 
minimum. 

Tudalen 84



National 
Well-
being 
Goal

PEOPLE
Are independent, 

healthy and successful

PLACES
Where people are 
proud to live, work 

and play

PROSPERITY 
Creating the 

opportunity for people 
and businesses to: be 

innovative; be 
entrepreneurial; and 
fulfil their potential 

and prosper

W
al

es
 o

f C
oh

es
iv

e 
C

om
m

un
iti

es

 Working with the 
local Health Board 
and GPs to provide 
more health and 
care services closer 
to home.

 Helping people to 
stay in their own 
homes for longer.

 Providing Extra Care 
facilities for people 
that need additional 
support.

 Working with 
residents and the 
community to share 
responsibility, 
helping communities 
to do more for 
themselves and give 
them more control 
over what they can 
do to support local 
people in their 
communities.

 Maintaining a 
targeted 
enforcement 
approach against 
bad landlords and 
unsafe rented 
housing. 

 Bring empty 
properties back to life.

 Improving housing for 
all our residents and 
creating pleasant 
neighbourhoods in 
which communities 
can thrive.

 Providing self-build 
home support 
service. 

Tudalen 85



National 
Well-
being 
Goal

PEOPLE
Are independent, 

healthy and successful

PLACES
Where people are 
proud to live, work 

and play

PROSPERITY 
Creating the 

opportunity for people 
and businesses to: be 

innovative; be 
entrepreneurial; and 
fulfil their potential 

and prosper

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

A
 W

al
es

 o
f V

ib
ra

nt
 C

ul
tu

re
  &

 W
el

sh
 L

an
gu

ag
e

 Increasing 
engagement and 
participation in the 
arts and culture and 
developing our 
theatres to become 
more inclusive and 
accessible to the 
whole community. 

 Preventing young 
people from getting 
involved in violence, 
crime, exploitation 
and anti-social 
behaviour through a 
range of cultural, 
sporting and other 
forms of early. 
engagement and 
intervention

 Providing more 
opportunities for our 
residents to 
communicate with 
the Council and each 
other in Welsh.

 Cultural and sports 
events for all in our 
parks. 

 Progressing Plans 
for Eisteddfod.

 Promoting RCT as 
a visitor destination.

 Ensuring equal 
access to the 
Welsh Language 
across our services. 

G
lo

ba
lly

 R
es

po
ns

ib
le

 W
al

es

 Home to school 
transport vehicles, 
bus operators and 
taxi vehicles are fit 
for purpose and are 
as environmentally 
friendly as possible.

 A Council fleet that 
limits impact on 
environment.

 Circular approach 
to recycling and 
reuse.

 Eliminating single 
use plastics across 
the council and 
schools

 Progressing the 
Eco Park in Bryn 
Pica.

 Opportunities to 
create and use our 
own green 
sustainable energy 
such as micro 
hydro-electric 
schemes which 
utilise natural river 
and water course 
feature.

 Increasing the 
supply of low 
carbon homes.

Tudalen 86



APPENDIX B

The Council’s Corporate Plan 2020-2024
Consultation Summary

1 Methodology

1.1 The consultation period ran for 12 weeks from the 25th October 2019 to 
the 17th January 2020.

1.2 The consultation ran alongside the annual budget consultation where 
appropriate to avoid duplication, for example the events and forums were 
used to engage on the budget as well as the corporate plan priorities.

1.3 A website was developed to outline the plan and priorities and allow 
people to provide their views online.  The site included a short video 
outlining the proposals.  73 people responded online through the site.
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/GetInvolved/CorporatePlan/Home.aspx

1.4 15 public face to face engagement events were held in venues and 
locations across Rhondda Cynon Taf (see table below).  Members of the 
public were able to share their views on the priorities and suggestion any 
additions or general comments, which were noted. 189 people attended 

the 
events.Date Event Location

Tuesday 26th November Pontypridd Library

Tuesday 26th November Llantrisant Leisure Centre

Wednesday 27th November Porth Library

Thursday 28th November Ferndale Hub

Thursday 28th November Sobell Leisure Centre

Wednesday 4th December Treorchy Co-op

Wednesday 4th December Rhondda Sports Centre

Thursday 5th December Abercynon Library

Friday 6th December Aberdare TC 

Tuesday 10th December Hirwaun Library

Monday 9th December Porth Morrisons

Tudalen 87

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/GetInvolved/CorporatePlan/Home.aspx


1.5 The consultation itself, the information video and the individual events 
were promoted via social media on Twitter and Facebook throughout the 
12 week consultation period.

1.6 An email was sent to the Council’s citizens’ panel members as well as 
all Councillors, Town and Community Councils, partners through the 
Public Service board and local AMs and MPs.

1.7 A dedicated email address was set up and all written submissions were 
welcomed. A freepost address was also provided.

1.8 An involvement pack, with a template of questions, was prepared to 
allow community groups to engage with members of the community 
themselves.

1.9 We engaged with young people via a Youth Forum Event held in 
Pontypridd Rugby Club and filmed the feedback of some of the 
participants, answering a number of short questions about what it is like 
to live in RCT and what could be improved.

1.10 We attended the Council’s Disability to have a discussion about the 
Corporate Plan and attendees filled in some short questionnaires and 
we once again obtained feedback through some short videos.

Monday 9th December Aberdare Sobell LC

Wednesday 11th December Pontypridd TC 

Wednesday 11th December Disability Forum
Thursday 12th December Llantrisant LC

Friday 13th December Mountain Ash Hub 

Tudalen 88



1.11 The 5 Older Persons Forums in RCT had a Health & Wellbeing event at 
the start of the consultation period and we set up a stand at the events, 
with some discussion boards to engage with people in attendance.  We 
also filmed some of the feedback with a sample of volunteers.  The 
Forums were also asked to disseminate the information and obtain 
feedback from their individual forum meetings, using the involvement 
pack mentioned above.

1.12 Staff were engaged via a global email to all staff and links to the 
consultation were placed on the Council’s Intranet. 2 consultation events 
were held during staff training sessions, with 28 participants in 
attendance. 

1.13 A press release on the proposals were sent to 3 local Welsh newspapers 
and an email was sent to a list of Welsh Stakeholders.

1.14 In total 367 participants contributed to the consultation. 

Analysis

1.15 Following collection of the data, thematic content analysis was 
conducted on all responses to extract themes. In total, 868 references 
were analysed and figures have been weighted based on recent 
demographic data to provide an approximation of results in line with the 
current population in the County Borough. 16 main themes were 
identified, with respondents suggesting, areas of greatest importance to 
be Town Centres (369), Travel & Transport (322), the Environment (299) 
and Community (251).

1.16 A full breakdown and further detail of the identified themes within each 
priority is provided in Appendix A, while summaries for each individual 
group are provided at the end of their respective sections. 

Tudalen 89



2 Summary of Views

2.1 As noted in the methodology, data was collected across a range of 
methods (i.e. public events, Council webpages, targeted forums and 
written submissions) to ensure that all viewpoints were represented within 
the report.  This report provides a summary of the findings and selection 
of comments.  The full list of comments will be made available to senior 
Officers to feed into the final Corporate Plan development.

2.2 From the data collected and the themes identified by respondents, we can 
conclude that the Council’s Corporate Priorities were broadly found to 
sufficiently cover each of the proposed themes. 

2.3 Overall the majority of people who attended the engagement events and 
responded online were positive about the priorities put forward in the 
Corporate Plan.  In addition, people offered suggestions and outlined what 
was important to them and also discussed their local communities.  

“Nothing to add to this, if this can be delivered....fantastic.”

“Fully support the plans put forward”

“These are definitely the right areas of focus for RCT.”  

“A great plan ……….. that has the ability to drive it home. Work with 
the Welsh Government to attract new employers and job 
opportunities into the County Borough.”

“Agree with all of these”

Ensuring PEOPLE are independent, healthy and successful

2.4 Main priorities identified;

Tudalen 90



 Community (251) - The community was seen as an important 
contributor to the people priority, including the importance of community 
Spirit in Rhondda Cynon Taf. There were references to the importance 
of socialising to maintaining independence and living a healthy life.

“The best thing, living there, is the community and what they do for the 
children and the people that live there.”

“The best thing about living in my area is that it is a great community to 
live in, where it’s full of friendly and caring people.”

2.5 Some comments suggested that the priority could also address a 
perceived Generational Gap (17). 

“Shared spaces should include nurseries and the elderly, it's been 
shown to have a positive impact on both in existing set ups”.

2.6 The Importance of Community Groups (65) was also emphasised in the 
responses, with calls for further funding and support identified. 

 Health (161) – views predominantly focussed on the importance of 
Health Care Services (82) and Wellbeing (66). A perceived lack of 
availability of some services (39) and Accessibility to the services (26).

2.7 Independence was identified as a key theme (33) along with dealing 
with issues of Isolation and loneliness (25).  This was particularly the 
case expressed by older respondents and requests were made to 
support residents to live within their own homes and remain socially 
active, often being linked to other areas, such as public transport. 

“I feel your People priority somehow needs to incorporate the wellbeing 
outcomes of the Social Services and Wellbeing Act. Social services play 
a huge part in meeting this priority and so much of what is done is 
focussed on supporting people to meet their own wellbeing outcomes. 
Wellbeing is more than independence, health and success - it's about 
thriving in the way that matters to you”.

 Council Communication/Engagement (165) - A new theme to emerge 
from the data, was principally concerned with Inclusion/Engagement 
(88).  

Tudalen 91



2.8 As part of the development of plans and priorities respondents 
suggested the need for further communication between the Council and 
resident groups, particularly in under-represented groups.  

2.9 It was noted that the Council does engage well with a number of groups, 
such as the Older Person Forums and the Disability Forum and the 
Council was praised for its face to face approach at the engagement 
events and the ability to speak to a “person” about Council issues.

“Being with the forum has allowed me to get things fixed in my area. It’s 
allowed me to voice my opinions where before there was nobody 
listening”

Creating PLACES where people are proud to live, work and play

2.10 Main priorities identified;

 Town Centres (369) - Town centres were seen as a key priority for the 
Council, this included the need for continued regeneration (29) and the 
importance of dealing with empty properties.

“Make our town centres great places to live, work and socialise”

“Focus on town centres & focus on those with vacant units”

“Investing in town centres will bring more people and businesses in”

2.11 Under the places priority a number of comments were provided in 
support of facilities that contribute to a place where people are proud to 
live, work and play and there are cross overs with the health priority, 
especially in terms of the importance of leisure.  This included fitness 
(90) and social (62) facilities, such as leisure centres and libraries. 

2.12 There was some concern over the perceived insufficient numbers of 
Public Toilets (36) and Other Amenities (44), citing a lack of business 
diversity in towns.

Tudalen 92



 Travel & Transport (322) - Public Transport (205) was a key theme 
identified by respondents, however Parking (45) and Accessibility (35) 
were also deemed to be of significant importance. Within the Public 
Transport theme, Bus Times (40) were identified as the most pressing 
issue, with calls for extended services into the evening and early morning 
by some. 

“Transport, to get to other family and friends, but also to health services. 
Good health services are also very important”

 Environment (299) – Another key priority was the environment, with the 
importance of green spaces identified (131) as well as street 
cleanliness (131), with Sustainability (28) also highlighted as an area 
that the Council should focus on. 

“Yes – all of these are equally important. Recycling is key.”

“The environment we live in is now very clean and we have a lot of 
greenery around us.”

“The area now is quite green and it is quite clean on the whole. I just 
think that it’s a nice place to live.”

2.13 The comments on Sustainability, showed the increasing importance of 
both Recycling (8) and Air Quality (7).

“I am very happy that RCTCBC is prioritising green issues, I am thinking 
of buying an electric car. However there are not many publicly available 
charging stations in RCT. I think it would be a great idea if RCTCBC 
would install charging stations and maybe collect revenue from them to 
be used to fund other new green projects.”

2.14 The issue of climate change and how the Council could contribute was 
also mentioned.

“Do more within the Council to positively contribute to climate change. 
Implement internal policies that will have positive impacts on the 
environment, even in the smallest of ways”.

“I would like to see more emphasis given to Communities, from a social 
and responsibility point of view, starting with young people encouraging 
them to understand the impact we are all having on the world around us 
and encouraging them to care for their bright future and the Environment, 

Tudalen 93



from a Climate Change point of view list above as I am very concerned 
and worried that we as a society are not giving this issue enough of a 
priority”.

Enabling PROSPERITY creating the opportunity for people and 
businesses to: be innovative; be entrepreneurial; and fulfil their 

potential and prosper

2.15 Main priorities identified;

 Education (63) – Unsurprisingly Schools was the main theme (57) and, 
in particular, the need to maintain high standards (26). 

“education for the younger people, making sure schools are fit for 
purpose. We’re quite fortunate I think, where we are, that the local 
schools are quite good, but it is general that education has got to be a 
priority.”

“These are definitely the right areas of focus for RCT.  One suggestion 
to add would that RCT values the importance of education in 
transforming lives of its young people and is ensuring that all its schools 
provide the very best education.”

 Housing (51) - Land use (25) and Affordable Housing (24) were the key 
housing themes. Concerns were raised over the development of new 
houses and affordable housing was seen as important.

 Equality (31) - were distributed between Resource Distribution (12), 
Equal Opportunities (9) and Support (9). The resource distribution 
relates to services being shared equally across the County Borough.  
References to Equal Opportunities (9) were predominantly general 
mentions supporting fair and equal treatment to all residents, those 
relating to Support (9) were more specific, with homelessness being 
suggested as a priority.

“Ensure resources are equally spread across Rhondda, Cynon & Taff”

Tudalen 94



Other Suggestions/Recommendations

2.16 In addition to the agreement with the proposed priorities respondents 
mentioned a number of themes/ideas that they thought the Council 
should include in the Corporate Plan, including;

 Incorporate ‘Council Communication’ into the People priority: 
Having received 52 references throughout the consultation, Council 
Communication could be included as a sub section within the People 
priority.  This could outline how the Council plans to ensure that all 
residents receive information relevant to their individual needs and detail 
which media will be used to improve levels of inclusion and accessibility.

 Make reference to ‘Council Operations’ within the Prosperity 
priority: As both the largest employer and a key financial stakeholder 
within the local economy, residents have indicated that the Council 
should acknowledge its own performance in the Corporate Plan 2020-
2024, beyond that of service delivery.  This could include: improvements 
to funding, i.e. better co-operation with Welsh Government; 
advancement of internal processes, i.e. upgrading, integrating and 
streamlining systems; adoption of sustainable procurement, i.e. 
increasing local spend & recruitment; and improvement of working 
conditions, i.e. fair pay, promoting employee wellbeing & reviewing 
available opportunities for development. 

 Sub themes - ACEs, LGBTQ+ issues, gender equality and drop 
kerbs: Though possibly addressed implicitly within the broader themes 
of the Council’s Corporate Plan draft, a number of sub themes 
emerged from the data that may warrant inclusion.  These included 
more emphasis on: The prevention of adverse childhood experiences 
(ACEs), greater support of LGBTQ+ issues within schools and the 
wider community, the addressing of gender equality issues (specifically 
period poverty), and the improved provision of dropped kerbs for 
mobility restricted residents.

 Recognise the increasing importance of environmental issues: 
While the current Corporate Plan draft makes reference to environmental 
sustainability across a variety of sections, evidence from the data would 
justify the inclusion of sustainability as its own distinct section under the 
‘places’ priority.  Though no one theme emerged as a matter of 
precedence, references to climate change, air quality, waste reduction, 
recycling, green initiatives, electric vehicles and environmental 
education were all recurrent throughout the data..

Tudalen 95



Overall

2.17 Overall, themes relating to Town Centres, Travel & Transport, 
Environment and Community were the most prevalent themes in the 
consultation, with Community and Education topping their respective 
priorities. 

2.18 Reported themes within the ‘People ‘priority focussed on Community 
and Health, with respective themes of Community Spirit and Health Care 
Services referenced most frequently. Considerable interest was also 
given to Council communication, with levels of Inclusion/Engagement, 
methods of communication and Standards all addressed. 

2.19 Common responses related to the ‘Places’ priority included Town 
Centres and Travel & Transport and Environment. Town Facilities, i.e. 
Fitness and Social Leisure facilities, and Public Transport Bus Times 
emerged as key concerns for Town Centres and Travel & Transport 
respectively, while Environment themes were primarily focussed on 
Cleanliness and Green Spaces.

2.20 Responses for the ‘Prosperity’ Priority centred on Education and 
Housing, with School Standards and strain on local Facilities the most 
frequently recorded sub themes. Further importance was given to the 
provision of Affordable Housing, while the availability of Local Jobs was 
among other common concerns.  

Tudalen 96



3 Public Consultation Results

3.1 The public consultation used a qualitative approach with comments 
recorded.  A total of 122 participants took part in the public consultation 
events, with a further 73 responses submitted via the Corporate Plan 
webpage. 

3.2 From our discussions the majority of people who attended the events 
and responded online agreed with the Council’s approach and priorities 
outlined in the Corporate Plan.

Ensuring PEOPLE are independent, healthy and successful;

 Support & Social Care (13) – this theme included the need for the 
Council to support families and older people.  Free School Meals and 
Early Intervention were of most importance.

 Health (12) - Themes relating to Health were most frequently made in 
reference to physical health, specifically the importance of fitness 
incentives such as subsidised leisure memberships and outdoor fitness 
equipment. The importance of Mental Health and Wellbeing were also 
mentioned

 Community (9) – The role of the community was seen as important, 
specifically the need to involve Community Groups.  Community Spirit 
was also mentioned along with the importance of community facilities. 

Creating PLACES where people are proud to live, work and play

 Travel & Transport (45) - the public discussed the need for adequate 
parking and stressed the importance of public transport for work and 
for general travel.

 Environment (35) – Comments were focussed on Cleanliness (16) and 
Sustainability (9). The Sustainability references mentioned the 
importance of Recycling and the need for Council to consider Climate 
Change.
Other themes related to:
- Town Centres and highlighted the importance of local Facilities
- Parks and Play areas 
- Community Safety and concerns of Anti-Social Behaviour.

Tudalen 97



Enabling PROSPERITY creating the opportunity for people and 
businesses to: be innovative; be entrepreneurial; and fulfil their potential 
and prosper

 Employment (13) - Local jobs were seen as a key consideration, however 
most responses from the general public related to Council employment.

 Education (9) - comments were about the importance of schools, 
particularly with regard to maintaining high Standards and improving career 
support. Further themes associated with equality encouraged more support 
for the homeless and those with additional learning needs.

 Housing (8) - The comments on housing focussed on the importance of 
having a good availability of affordable housing and a perceived local strain 
on resources caused by new housing developments.

4     Older Persons Consultation Results

4.1 Areas of greatest concern for older persons include Travel & Transport, 
Health and Town Centres.

4.2 People: Within the ‘People’ priority, Older Respondents focussed 
predominantly on areas of Health (22) and Community (18)

4.3 Of the themes relating to Health, respondents showed most interest in 
Health Care Services (9) and, in particular, the Availability (4) and 
Accessibility (3) of such services. 

4.4 Considerable attention was also given to themes of Wellbeing (8), with 
specific regard to both Independence (4) and Isolation (3). Moreover, 
Physical Health (4) was prioritised over Mental Health (1), with the former 
exclusively relating to the provision of Fitness Incentives.

4.5 Among themes of Community, Older Respondents placed greatest 
emphasis on Community Spirit (9) and Community Groups (7). While 
references to Community Spirit were unspecific (6), identified from 
phrases such as ‘Friendliness’, ‘Belonging’ and ‘Helpful Neighbours’, 
direct reference was made toward addressing the Generational Gap (2):

Tudalen 98



4.6 Places: Older Persons showed considerable interest in all areas of the 
‘Places’ priority, with Travel & Transport (26) and Town Centres (25) 
most frequently mentioned, followed by themes of Environment (15) and 
Safety (10).

4.7 References within the category of Travel & Transport referred primarily 
to Public Transport (22). While most instances were General (9), 
mentioning public transport as a priority without providing detail, 
particular attention was given to the extending of Bus Times (4), 
provision of Bus Shelter Facilities (3) and routes to Health Facilities (3):

4.8 Of responses relating to Town Centres, themes from Older Persons fell 
almost exclusively into the category of Facilities (23). Within this 
category, the majority of themes were distributed equally between 
Sports/Fitness Facilities (6) and Social Leisure Facilities (6), indicating a 
desire to remain active and socialise. 
 

4.9 Environmental themes from older respondents related to the importance 
of Green Spaces (10) and Cleanliness (5). 

4.10 Prosperity: Though least frequency referenced, Older Respondents 
showed a broad interest across matters relating to the ‘Prosperity’ 
priority, with particular emphasis on the categories of Housing (5) and 
Education (3).

4.11 Summary: Of most importance to Older Respondents were themes of 
Travel & Transport, Town Centres and Health. Prevalent themes 
included Public Transport, town Facilities and Health Care Services. 

Tudalen 99



5 Younger Persons Consultation Results

5.1 Data collection for Younger Persons was conducted across 4 
consultation events: 3 within Youth Clubs in each of the Rhondda, Cynon 
and Taf valleys respectively; and 1 during a County District Youth Forum.

5.2 The age of participants ranged from 11 to 17, with 41 people contributing 
in total.  Following initial discussions, both recorded interviews and 
interactive poster exercises were utilised to collect data during the 
consultation event.  210 themes were recorded in total.

5.3 People: Themes within the ‘People’ priority were distributed relatively 
equally between the categories of Young People (28), Community (27) 
and Council Communication (24). These were followed distantly by 
Support & Social Care (2), with no reference made to the remaining 
categories.

5.4 Responses under the theme of Young People linked strongly to Youth 
Activities (27), youth Clubs (13) were a topic of particular interest which, 
along with Sports (6), were viewed as positive resources in their 
respective areas. Availability (6) however, was identified as an issue, 
with certain areas lacking access to such facilities:

5.5 Themes relating to Council Communication (24) largely referred to the 
Inclusion/Engagement (16) of Younger People.  While the County Youth 
Forum and YEPS programmes were singled out as positive initiatives, 
Young Respondents felt that more could be done to communicate with 
them, with suggestions of School Boards and through Digital Means, 
such as: dedicated websites and social media.

5.6 Places: Within the ‘Places’ priority, Younger Persons most frequently 
referenced themes relating to Town Centres (56). While further attention 
was given to the categories of Environment (33) and Safety (21), Travel 
& Transport (8) received relatively little interest.

5.7 Responses relating to Town Centres (56) comprised two sub categories: 
Facilities (50) and Regeneration/Aesthetics (6). Of the former, Sports & 
Fitness Facilities (21) were most regularly cited, with skate parks, 
trampoline parks and astro/3G pitches among the most desired facilities. 
Retail Units (12) and Parks/Play Areas (8) followed as popular facilities.  

Tudalen 100



5.8 Following Town Centres, themes of Environment (33) were most 
reported, with the majority of responses encompassed within the 
Cleanliness (22) and Green Spaces (9) categories. 

5.9 References to Safety (21) related chiefly to Anti-Social Behaviour (11) 
and Street Lighting (4). Within Anti-Social Behaviour, issues of 
Substance Misuse (8) were of greatest concern to Young Respondents. 
Conversely, while noting the importance of safety, multiple respondents 
commended the low crime rate in their local area:

“Myself and my family feel safer in Pentre than we did in our old home 
town … in Pentre we don’t see much graffiti.

5.10 Prosperity: Though sparsely referenced overall, ‘Prosperity’ responses 
from Younger Persons were dominated by Education (9). Of the themes 
relating to Education, most refer directly to Schools (8), with Bullying (1) 
and Career Support (1) mentioned among areas of importance. 

5.11 Summary: Key considerations for Younger Persons aligned with the 
‘Places’ priority and included references to Town Centres and 
Environment, with access to Sports/Leisure Facilities and Litter among 
important issues.  Recorded themes for ‘People’ centred mainly on 
Young People and Community, specifically addressing Community Spirit 
and the availability of youth activities.   Within the ‘Prosperity’ priority, 
Schools were most commonly frequently mentioned, with issued raised 
around Gender Equality. 

Tudalen 101



6 Disabled Persons Consultation Results

6.1 Officers attended the County Borough’s Disability Forum meeting to 
discuss the consultation and obtain feedback from members. To 
increase inclusion and accessibility, multiple methods of data collection 
were utilised within the Disability Forum. These included: a standardised 
pro forma for written submissions, group discussions and video recorded 
interviews.  A total 54 themes were extracted from participant responses. 
12 participants contributed in total.

6.2 The main areas of concern for members of this group included 
Environment and Transport with Community and Council 
Communication also emerging as areas of importance. 

6.3 Within the ‘People’ priority, Respondents at the Disability Forum 
focussed predominantly on Community (6) and Council Communication 
(6).  Of great importance to respondents in this group was the idea of 
strong community links and friendships. Respondents felt that having a 
strong community was important to them and many identified the 
Disability Forum as a good opportunity to socialise and meet friends. 

“I think, to be honest, it’s a jolly good forum because it gets you out, it 
helps other people with the ideas and everything like that, doesn’t it? You 
know, we have a jolly good chat, we have a laugh and everything is so 
interesting.”

6.4 Council Communication and more specifically the methods of 
communication used were identified as areas of importance. Specifically 
related to members of the forum, ensuring that communication was 
adapted to suit all members was important as a way of residents having 
their voice heard. Support was given to the avenues such as the 
disability forum in providing a platform for disabled members to tackle 
issues that affect them. 

“This forum is such a good forum for people that suffer from ailments like 
disabilities, they can have their say about the area and what is done in 
the area for disabled people.”

6.5 Places: Members of the disability forum showed great interest in all the 
identified priorities in this area. Of the three priorities outlined as part of 

Tudalen 102



the consultation ‘Places’ provided a great deal of the discussion at the 
event with Environment (14) and Travel & Transport (11) being identified 
as of great importance.  Under the theme of Environment, important 
issues that arose from discussions showed that cleanliness (6) and 
green spaces (4) were of highest importance. 

6.6 Within Travel and Transport particular importance was given to 
accessibility (4). In particular, members of the forum demonstrated the 
importance of dropped kerbs across the borough. 

6.7 Public transport was seen as another important issue for the group with 
praise being given to the local public transport services. These were 
viewed as a key link for members of the forum to access all areas across 
RCT. Some limitations to the service were also commented on during 
the meeting.  

“The local bus service is important as there are no trains in the area.”

“Transport is good around our area. It stops after 6 o’clock, which is a 
little bit awkward, it goes on to the Sunday service, which is one every 
two hours.”

6.8 Prosperity: This section obtained the least comments from the group 
however a number of comments were made indicating the importance of 
the economy, equality and housing. Whilst comment numbers were 
relatively low in this section, an indication that inclusivity and accessibility 
of opportunities was important to this group whilst also ensuring that 
affordable homes were available to residents across RCT. 

“That there are opportunities and facilities in the local community that are 
inclusive and accessible to all.”

“Affordable homes are important to have.”

6.9 Summary: Overall, responses from the Disability Forum related heavily 
to Environment and Travel and Transport within the ‘Places’ priority, with 
particular concern for Cleanliness, Green Spaces and Dropped Kerbs. 
Themes related to the ‘People’ priority included Council Communication 
and Community Spirit, with particular importance placed on the effective 
communication of information to those in most need.  Few references 
were made to the ‘Prosperity’ priority, however Economy, Equality, 
Housing and Council Performance were all briefly mentioned.  

Tudalen 103



7 Council Staff Consultation Results

7.1 As the largest employer in the County Borough, with individuals closest 
to the operation and delivery of public services, RCT Council Staff were 
included as key stakeholders in the Corporate Plan consultation. Data 
was collected across two staff training sessions, with 28 participants 
from a variety of services. Participants were asked to take part in group 
discussions and submit written feedback on each of the Council’s 
Corporate Priorities.  162 references were recorded in total, with each of 
the 16 primary themes represented at least once. 

7.2 Themes relating to Environment (24) and Travel & Transport (22) were 
most frequent among Staff responses, while considerable attention was 
also given to Safety (16), Health (15) and Education (15).

7.3 People: Among themes relating to the ‘People’ priority, Council Staff 
were most concerned with matters of Health (15) and Community (11), 
with moderate emphasis given to Culture (8) and Council 
Communication (6).

7.4 References to Health Care Services (7) were most frequently recorded 
within the Health (15) theme, each addressing Access (5) to health care 
or Integration (2) of services. Remaining responses encompassed 
Mental (3) and Physical (5) health, the former centred on service 
Standards (2) and Funding (1), whereas the latter focussed on Fitness 
Incentives (3) and access to accompanying Facilities (2).

7.5 With regard to Community (11) themes, Staff responses were most 
frequently associated with the availability of Community Events (3) and 
Community Facilities (3), while references to Community Groups (2) and 
Networking (2) with local initiatives and other communities were also 
recorded.

7.6 Accounting for more references to the theme than any other group, 
Culture (8) was of considerable importance to Staff Respondents. 
Although Welsh Language (1) and Cultural Education (1) were both 
mentioned, themes within the culture category were predominantly 
associated with Cultural Facilities (6):

Tudalen 104



7.7 Further themes were largely distributed across Council Communication 
(6) and Young People (5). References to the former principally 
addressed issues of Inclusion (3) and accessible information, the latter 
noted a need for increased availability of Youth Activities. 

7.8 Places: Staff responses relating to the ‘Places’ priority were primarily 
focussed on Environment (24) and Travel & Transport (22), however 
both Safety (16) and Town Centres (13) also received significant 
interest.

7.9 Of the themes relating to Environment (24), references to Green Spaces 
(12) were most commonly recorded. Within Green Spaces, Community 
Involvement (7) was deemed most important, with mentions of 
encouraging greater use, promoting outdoor activities and supporting 
associated community groups.

7.10 Staff responses in reference to Travel & Transport (22), were chiefly 
related to Public Transport (12), with the Affordability (3) and 
Availability (2) of services being of greatest concern. Among 
suggestions for improvement were the introduction of travel cards and 
linking with public facilities;

7.11 Themes of Safety (16) were mainly focussed on the general increase of 
Police Presence (7) and reduction of Anti-Social Behaviour (5), with 
some particular mention of tackling Substance Misuse (2). While 
remaining references were distributed somewhat sporadically across the 
category, multiple responses were received under the theme of Service 
Provision (2), specifically regarding the integration of services and 
improvement of response times. 

7.12 Among Staff responses relating to Town Centres (13), themes of 
Facilities (8) and Regeneration/Aesthetics (4) were most common. 
Whereas references to Facilities covered a range of areas including 
Accessibility (2), Retail Units (2) and Other Amenities (2), i.e. more 
diverse businesses, references to Regeneration/Aesthetics centred 
almost entirely on addressing the problem of Empty Properties (3). 

7.13 Prosperity: Within the ‘Prosperity’ priority, themes from Staff 
responses were mainly centred on Education (15), Economy (14) and 
Equality (8). In regard to Education (15), Staff participants placed 
greatest emphasis on adult Qualifications/Skills Development (12), 
making reference to the Availability (3), Affordability (3) and Awareness 

Tudalen 105



(3) of related services. As mentioned in the quote below, suggestions 
for improvement included stronger partnerships with organisations such 
as Careers 4 Wales and the attraction of new businesses to the area:

“[The Council] need to attract businesses to the area, which will in turn 
start the qualification/upskill process”

7.14 Economy (14) themes were divided between Business (9) and Local 
Economy (5). Most common of the references within the Business 
category were those relating to the effective use of Council Procurement 
(3) to support local companies, including the review of contract 
frameworks and recruitment of local contractors.

7.15 Staff responses which referenced Equality (8) were again shared across 
Equal Opportunities (4) and Resource Distribution (4). Among the former 
were calls to embrace Diversity (2) and make opportunities available to 
those in employment as well as the unemployed. The latter, Resource 
Distribution, highlighted concerns of underrepresented Areas (3), with 
Council efforts perceived to be disproportionately focussed on locations 
within the Cynon Valley. 

7.16 Summary: Staff responses were primarily concerned with Environment 
and Travel & Transport, however Education, Health and Economy each 
also received considerable attention. References to ‘People’ were 
largely associated with Health and Community, with Health Care 
Services, Physical Health and Youth Activities prominent sub themes. 
Considerable attention was also given to Culture and, in particular, 
Cultural Facilities. 

Responses within the ‘Places’ priority centred on issues of Environment 
and Travel & Transport. While Community Involvement was frequently 
recorded in relation with the former, references to the latter largely 
focussed on affordable Public Transport. 

‘Prosperity’ themes were mostly related to Education and Economy. Of 
the Education responses, greatest importance was given to the 
Availability, Affordability and Accessibility of further Qualifications/Skills 
Development. The latter addressed issues of both Business and Local 
Economy, with relaxed Business Rates and sustainable Procurement 
among the popular topics.

Tudalen 106



8 LGBTQ+ Consultation Results

8.1 A single consultation exercise took place during the inaugural Rhondda 
Pride  event, wherein members of the LGBTQ+ community were asked 
to submit written notes outlining the issues they deemed to be most 
important.  In total, 76 submissions were received during the event.

8.2 Responses from the LGBTQ+ Community were overwhelmingly 
focussed on Education (41), with only 5 primary themes emerging from 
the responses overall.

8.3 People: All themes within the ‘People’ priority related to either 
Community (15) or Support & Social Care (10). 

8.4 Of the references to Community (15), each was directly tailored toward 
the increased frequency and promotion of Community Events (15), 
intended to advance Diversity Awareness (15). Suggestions for 
improvement in this area included the support of, and collaboration 
with, local LGBTQ+ Community Groups, engagement with younger 
LGBTQ+ members and appointment of LGBTQ+ representatives.

8.5 Responses pertaining to Support & Social Care (10) comprised the 
remaining themes within the ‘People’ priority, again all of which related 
to Diversity (10) and specifically LGBTQ+ (10) support systems. 
Participants noted that events such as Rhondda Pride were the only 
form of support available, with support in schools particularly 
insufficient. 

8.6 Places: Responses within the ‘Places’ priority were exclusively related 
to issues of Safety (7).  Concerns of Safety (7) were entirely centred on 
Anti-Social Behaviour in the form of Discrimination/Hate Crime (7). 
Participants requested that greater co-operation between the Police and 
LGBTQ+ was pursued and that awareness was raised of related 
services, such as the South Wales Police hate crime reporting system.

8.7 Prosperity: Themes within the ‘Prosperity’ priority were vastly directed 
towards Education (41), with some reference also given to Equality (3). 
Responses related to Education (41) were solely associated with 
Gender/Diversity Equality (41). The general consensus was that 
improved support systems were required across all schools, with specific 

Tudalen 107



training provided to staff, greater visibility of LGBTQ+ representatives 
and more lessons provided on sexuality and gender identity.  Specific 
concern was also raised over the support and protection of trans 
students, who were perceived to receive particularly poor support. 

8.8 Summary: Of the 16 primary themes, only 5 were referenced by 
LGBTQ+ respondents, with the vast majority of responses centred on 
themes of Education.
 
Among the ‘People’ responses, LGBTQ+ respondents were most 
concerned with Community Events and Support & Social Care, both 
addressing the need for greater support and awareness of LGBTQ+ 
issues. 

Within the ‘Places’ priority, responses were solely focussed on the single 
issue of Safety and, more specifically, protection against the occurrence 
of Hate Crimes. 

References to the ‘Prosperity’ theme were overwhelmingly directed 
toward Education and the improvement of LGBTQ+ support and 
awareness in schools. Further responses focussed on Equal 
Opportunities, particularly related to LGBTQ+ in the workplace. 

Tudalen 108



Appendix A: Definitions of Primary Themes

People

Primary Theme Definition
Culture Any responses related to the protection or promotion of meaningful social 

traditions, heritage or the arts.

Community References to people and relationships within a social context.

Council 
Communication

Responses related to the passing of information between the Council and its 
stakeholders.

Health Responses related to any aspect of a person’s health, physical, mental or 
otherwise.

Support & Social 
Care

References to additional care and support services, particularly the recipient 
has a recognised vulnerability.

Young People Any reference to services or facilities tailored toward people below the age of 
18.

Table 9. Primary Theme Definitions (People).

Places

Primary Theme Definition
Environment References relating to the natural physical environment and factors that may 

affect its current or future state.

Town Centres References to the condition of local business commercial centres, including 
any public facilities and other amenities.

Travel & Transport References to factors affecting the movement of people throughout the 
County Borough.

Safety Factors relating to the sense of safety and security experienced by residents.

Table 10. Primary Theme Definitions (Places).

Prosperity

Tudalen 109



Primary Theme Definition
Council Operations References to Council systems and processes which may influence the wider 

community.

Economy Factors affecting the conduct of business and commerce throughout the 
County Borough.

Education References to both schools and opportunities for additional learning.

Equality Factors affecting the ability of all peoples within the County Borough to 
develop and succeed equally.

Housing Factors relating to the residences and accommodation of people within 
Rhondda Cynon Taf.

Table 11. Primary Theme Definitions (Prosperity).

Tudalen 110



Population Adjusted Themes

People Places Prosperity

Theme (Sub Theme) Freq. Theme (Sub Theme) Freq
. Theme (Sub Theme) Freq

.

Community 251 Town Centres 369 Education 63

Community Spirit 161 Facilities 325 Schools 57

Community Groups 65 Regeneration/Aestheti
cs 29 Qualifications/Skills 

Development 6

Community Facilities 18 Accessibility 15   

Community Events 6     

Networks 1     

Health 193 Travel & Transport 322 Housing 51

Health Care Services 82 Public Transport 203 Land Use 25

Wellbeing 66 Parking 45 Affordable Housing 24

Physical Health 35 Accessibility 35 Private Rental 1

Mental Health 10 Highways 18 Housing Support <1

Health Education <1 Electric Vehicles 14   

  Traffic 3   

  Active Travel 3   

Council 
Communication 165 Environment 299 Equality 31

Inclusion/Engagement 88 Green Spaces 131 Resource Distribution 12

Methods 44 Cleanliness 131 Equal Opportunities 9

Standards 33 Sustainability 28 Support 9

  Noise 7

  Land Use 1   

  Environmental 
Education 1   

  Flood Risk 1   

Tudalen 111



People Place Prosperity

Theme (Sub Theme) Freq. Theme (Sub Theme) Freq
. Theme (Sub Theme) Freq

.

Young People 74 Safety 162 Economy 24

Youth Activities 63 Anti-Social Behaviour 67 Business 17

Youth Facilities 11 Police Presence 59 Local Economy 7

Service Provision <1 Road Safety 11   

  Street Lighting 9   

  Other 1   

  Service Provision 1   

  General 14   

Social Care 30   Employment 23
Disabled Persons 
Support 11   Local Jobs 19
Elderly Persons 
Support 11   Council Employment 3

Diversity Support 3   Adult Career Support 1

Family Support 2     

Food Poverty 2     

Resources 1     
Younger Persons 
Support <1     

Culture 5   Council 
Operations 16

Cultural Facilities 3   Processes 15

Arts <1   Funding 1

Cultural Education <1     

Welsh Language <1     

 Total 714 Total 115
2 Total 211

Table 12. Primary and Secondary Theme Frequencies (Population Adjusted).

Tudalen 112



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET 

13 FEBRUARY 2020

CONSIDERATION FOR FAMILY ENGAGEMENT OFFICER ROLES

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND INCLUSION SERVICES IN 
DISCUSSIONS WITH THE CABINET MEMBER FOR EDUCATION AND INCLUSION 
SERVICES (COUNCILLOR MRS J ROSSER)

Author: DANIEL WILLIAMS, HEAD OF ATTENDANCE AND WELLBEING SERVICE  
(Tel: 01443 744298)

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

The purpose of this briefing is to consider the funding and consequent employment 
of Family Engagement Officers in six secondary/through schools to help tackle 
school attendance.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Members:

2.1 Note the information contained in the report.

2.2 Determine whether to agree to the funding and consequent employment of Family 
Engagement Officers in six secondary/through schools to help improve attendance. 

3. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 In the academic year 2018/19, secondary school attendance (including special 
schools) in RCT declined 0.1% from the previous year to 92.8%. This is the lowest 
point since the 2012/13 academic year and placed RCT 22nd in the All Wales 
attendance table. 

3.2 As a result of declining figures in recent years, attendance has been made an RCT 
priority. To ensure that the most vulnerable pupils are supported the Education and 
Inclusion Services Directorate has identified a model of best practice within our 
Primary Schools that we believe would be beneficial to supporting attendance as well 
as forming and enhancing relationships with parents in our lowest performing 
settings. This model is based around the role of Family Engagement Officers.

4. BACKGROUND

4.1 Family Engagement Officers provide an important link between the school, 
parents/carers and pupils and have been shown to provide an effective and valued 
role. Glenboi Primary School are one example where this role has worked extremely 
well. In the March 2019 inspection of the school by Estyn, under the ‘Care, Support 

Tudalen 113

Agendwm 6



and Guidance’ element where the school was ranked excellent, the following 
comment was made:

‘The family engagement officer is highly effective in engaging with parents and 
external agencies. She supports the delivery of highly successful programmes, which 
have a very positive impact on pupils’ wellbeing, attendance and attitudes to 
learning…The family engagement officer monitors attendance carefully and liaises 
closely with parents and staff. She offers outstanding practical support to families 
who find it a struggle to send their children to school on time.’

4.2 The role was also highlighted under the Leadership and Management section of 
Estyn’s report which was also deemed excellent. The role was provided as an 
example of how the school helps to reduce the effect of poverty and deprivation on 
vulnerable pupils.

4.3 Parental questionnaires at the time showed 100% of parents are satisfied with the 
school, 100% feel well informed about their child’s progress and 99% felt the school 
communicates well with them. 

4.4 For contextual purposes, Glenboi Primary School at the time had 65% of pupils 
eligible for free school meals which is well above the national average of 18.4%; 44% 
of pupils with additional learning needs and a social, emotional and behavioural 
difficulties unit on site. Glenboi Primary School ranks the 11th most deprived school 
in RCT in terms of the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) with 77% of 
pupils living within the top 10% most deprived Lower Super Output Areas which rises 
to 90% of pupils when considering the top 20% most deprived areas.

4.5 We therefore feel this model has been shown to work in a challenging environment 
with some of our most vulnerable pupils and families.

4.6 In a wider context, Education Scotland1 have created a toolkit for practitioners for 
home-school link workers. In this toolkit they identify 14 impacts of such as service 
which includes improved attendance, behaviour, attachment, language and 
communication as well as the development of stronger connections, community 
engagement and reduced isolation.

5. PROPOSAL FOR CONSIDERATION

5.1 To help foster the relationship between schools and families at secondary level and 
to help improve attendance, we are therefore requesting support to pilot the 
placement of Family Engagement Officers in 6 schools across the County Borough. 
These schools and their current school categorisation are:

Porth Community School (Red)
Aberdare Community School (Red)
Mountain Ash Comprehensive School (Amber)
Ferndale Community School (Amber)
Tonyrefail Community School (Yellow)

1 Education Scotland, ‘Engaging parents and families. A toolkit for practitioners. Section 9: Home-school link 
worker/service’, March 2019 
https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiwzpuNiaT
nAhWPUhUIHfiJAKoQFjAAegQIARAB&url=https%3A%2F%2Feducation.gov.scot%2Fimprovement%2FDocuments
%2Fpar2-section9-mar19.pdf&usg=AOvVaw0y1Aul_J9uenV9zOmi_wrV 

Tudalen 114

https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiwzpuNiaTnAhWPUhUIHfiJAKoQFjAAegQIARAB&url=https%3A%2F%2Feducation.gov.scot%2Fimprovement%2FDocuments%2Fpar2-section9-mar19.pdf&usg=AOvVaw0y1Aul_J9uenV9zOmi_wrV
https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiwzpuNiaTnAhWPUhUIHfiJAKoQFjAAegQIARAB&url=https%3A%2F%2Feducation.gov.scot%2Fimprovement%2FDocuments%2Fpar2-section9-mar19.pdf&usg=AOvVaw0y1Aul_J9uenV9zOmi_wrV
https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiwzpuNiaTnAhWPUhUIHfiJAKoQFjAAegQIARAB&url=https%3A%2F%2Feducation.gov.scot%2Fimprovement%2FDocuments%2Fpar2-section9-mar19.pdf&usg=AOvVaw0y1Aul_J9uenV9zOmi_wrV
https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiwzpuNiaTnAhWPUhUIHfiJAKoQFjAAegQIARAB&url=https%3A%2F%2Feducation.gov.scot%2Fimprovement%2FDocuments%2Fpar2-section9-mar19.pdf&usg=AOvVaw0y1Aul_J9uenV9zOmi_wrV


Ysgol Nantgwyn (Yellow)

5.2 The rationale for choosing these schools is that, discounting special schools, they 
were the lowest performing schools in terms of secondary attendance for the 
2018/19 academic year ranging in attendance from 90.77% to 91.93% (see 
Appendix One). All six schools well below the RCT target we had set at 94.1%. 

5.3 In the 2017/18 academic year, Aberdare, Mountain Ash, Tonypandy Community 
College (predecessor to Ysgol Nantgwyn), Ferndale, and Porth County (predecessor 
to Porth Community School) were the five lowest performing schools at secondary 
level. Therefore, there is a historic pattern of poor attendance in these areas.

5.4 The breadth of schools across the categorisation criteria will provide us with 
comparative information to see how well these roles can help support varying 
aspects within schools and determine if they are needed across all 
secondary/through schools.

5.5 All but Porth Community School rank in the five most deprived secondary/through 
schools when looking at data sets from the WIMD. Porth Community School ranks 
8th. The two schools falling in 6th and 7th place are Hawthorn High School and Ysgol 
Gyfun Cwm Rhondda. However, attendance at these schools was significantly higher 
in the 2018/19 academic year than Porth Community School as they achieved 
92.59% and 93.27% respectively compared to Porth Community School’s 90.80% in 
the same period.

5.6 As part of the job description for these posts, we would require work to be 
undertaken with feeder primary schools particularly Year 6 pupils and their families to 
enhance the support we offer for the transition period. We are confident this would 
help pupils and families entering Year 7 to have a focal point in their new school who 
could support with any queries or concerns and prevent these from becoming 
attendance issues.

 
6. MANAGEMENT AND MONITORING OF THE SCHEME

6.1 Family Engagement Officers would be line managed by the school in which they 
were placed but would work on priorities jointly agreed by the school and local 
authority. The local authority would be jointly involved in the interview process. 

6.2 Schools will be requested to complete a self-evaluation audit of current practice 
around attendance at the start of the scheme.

6.3 The results of this audit will be discussed with the Attendance and Wellbeing Service 
and where appropriate school improvement officers, to agree an action plan for 
improving practice utilising the Family Engagement Officer role.

6.4 As the funding will be provided with a very clear remit for improving attendance, 
headteachers will be held accountable for delivering improved outcomes as a result 
of the investment.  Clear performance targets aimed at improving rates of attendance 
and engagement will be set and written updates will be required against this action 
plan in School Improvement Forums/Progress Meetings in newly re-organised yellow 
schools, amber and red categorised schools. Alternatively, progress will be reviewed 
in Support and Challenge meetings as defined in the Graduated Response to 
Attendance and Exclusions Protocol. 

Tudalen 115



6.5 As this role will be critical in providing the link between school, families and external 
agencies, schools will also be required to evidence effective partnership working 
between the Family Engagement Officer, parents/carers and external agencies such 
as the Attendance and Wellbeing Service, Inclusion Services, Resilient Families, 
Youth Engagement and Participation etc.  

7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS
 
7.1 No Equality Impact Assessment is required at the current time. 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 There are no consultation implications arising from the content of the report.  

9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Family Engagement Officers are employed at Grade 6 of the Pay Scale. We are 

initially looking to fund posts across a 17 month trial period from 1st April 2020 to 31st 
August 2021. To employ officers to cover six areas would equate to approximately 
£174,000 (including on costs) per annum. It is proposed that this cost will be met 
from within existing resources.

9.2 Regular performance reporting in relation to the funding will be required and 
outcomes closely monitored. 

10. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED 

10.1 None at present.

11. LINKS TO THE COUNCIL’S CORPORATE PLAN/OTHER CORPORATE 
PRIORITIES/SIP 

11.1 Educational performance has a clear link to the Council’s priority of Building a Strong 
Economy. Improved educational performance will have a positive impact on this 
priority

12. CONCLUSION

12.1 We are seeking financial support and agreement to help tackle poor attendance at 
secondary level via the employment of Family Engagement Officers in six 
educational settings.

12.2 We will monitor the effectiveness of the pilot to ascertain whether further rollout is 
needed across all secondary settings.

Tudalen 116



Other Information:- 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee- 

Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Background Papers- 

None 

Tudalen 117



LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

AS AMENDED BY 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

CABINET 

13th FEBRUARY 2020 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND INCLUSION SERVICES IN 
DISCUSSION WITH THE RELEVANT PORTFOLIO HOLDER, COUNCILLOR J ROSSER. 

Author:  Daniel Williams, Head of Attendance and Wellbeing Service 

Background papers – None. 

Officer to contact:  Daniel Williams – 01443 744298

Tudalen 118



APPENDIX 1
Secondary Phase Attendance 2018/19 exc. Special Schools

          
   Present Authorised Unauthorised Poss_sess
ESTAB SCHOOL NAME No Of 

Pupils
Sessions % Sessions % Sessions % Sessions

4106 Aberdare Community School 1187 325883 91.56 17552 4.93 12479 3.51 355914
4019 Bryncelynnog Comprehensive 

School
1068 300333 92.99 11812 3.66 10818 3.35 322963

4602 Cardinal Newman RC 
Comprehensive School

777 213080 93.62 10310 4.53 4218 1.85 227608

4083 Ferndale Community School 605 166531 91.95 9044 4.99 5527 3.05 181102
4027 Hawthorn High School 656 182260 92.59 6697 3.40 7889 4.01 196846
4053 Mountain Ash Comprehensive 

School
872 235030 90.77 11541 4.46 12351 4.77 258922

4022 Pontypridd High School 791 224208 93.06 9399 3.90 7331 3.04 240938
5501 Porth Community School 722 192165 90.80 9621 4.55 9845 4.65 211631
4604 St John Baptist C in W High 

School
806 234587 94.67 10215 4.12 3001 1.21 247803

5503 Tonyrefail Community School 897 241536 90.89 12679 4.77 11544 4.34 265759
4081 Treorchy Comprehensive School 1306 370321 93.48 19736 4.98 6075 1.53 396132
4096 Y Pant Comprehensive School 1169 336292 94.79 13446 3.79 5022 1.42 354760
4097 Ysgol Gyfun Cwm Rhondda 623 175983 93.27 8428 4.47 4263 2.26 188674
4054 Ysgol Gyfun Garth Olwg 692 199229 93.71 9883 4.65 3500 1.65 212612
4105 Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun 861 247155 93.68 12476 4.73 4185 1.59 263816
5500 Ysgol Llanhari 451 130447 94.49 6325 4.58 1286 0.93 138058
5502 Ysgol Nantgwyn 593 159531 91.93 8744 5.04 5256 3.03 173531
 Total 13932 3934571 92.86 187908 4.43 114590 2.70 4237069

T
udalen 119



APPENDIX 2
Family Engagement Officer Example Job Description

JOB DESCRIPTION & PERSON SPECIFICATION

Responsibilities

 Be aware of and comply with policies and procedures relating to child protection, 
health and safety and security, confidentiality and data protection, reporting all 
concerns to the Headteacher, Deputy Headteacher or Senior Management team.

 Be aware and support difference and ensure equal opportunities.
 Contribute to the overall ethos / work / aims of the school.
 Appreciate and support the role of other professionals working in the school.
 Participate in training and other learning activities and performance development as 

required.
 Maintain a clean and tidy working environment including your surrounding area.
 Work collaboratively with feeder schools to build relationships with families prior to 

transition.

To carry out health and safety responsibilities in accordance with the Division’s Health & 
Safety Responsibilities document.

To undertake such other duties and responsibilities commensurate with the grade, as may 
be reasonably required by the Headteacher, or as a mutually agreed development 
opportunity.

THE CONTENTS OF THE DOCUMENT WILL BE SUBJECT TO REVIEW FROM TIME TO 
TIME IN CONSULTATION WITH THE POST HOLDER.   JOB DESCRIPTIONS MAY BE 
AMENDED TO REFLECT AND RECORD SUCH CHANGES.

Protecting Children and Vulnerable Adults is a core responsibility of all staff.  Staff 
are expected to alert their line manager to any concerns they may have regarding the 
abuse or inappropriate treatment of a Child or Young Person, or Vulnerable Adults.

Department Education & Lifelong Learning
School

Post Title: Pupil/Family Engagement Officer

Vision Post Number:

Responsible to:

Posts reporting:

DBS Required Level: Enhanced

Date of Description:

Tudalen 120



PERSON SPECIFICATION

The Person Specification sets out the knowledge and / or qualifications, past experience 
and personal competencies that would be ideal for this particular post.

The Experience section describes what is required in terms of what is needed to undertake 
this job.

The Qualifications/Training section describes the required standards needed to undertake 
this particular role.
 
The Knowledge/Skills section describes the kinds of non-technical skills, abilities and 
personal characteristics that the ideal person for this particular role would have. 

Essential Desirable

Experience  General clerical / 
administrative / SIMS 
experience

Qualification / 
Training

 Good numeracy and 
literacy skills.

 NVQ Level 2 [or 
equivalent] or 
experience in the 
relevant discipline.

 EWC Registration

Knowledge  Knowledge of 
relevant policies, and 
codes of practice.

 Understand school 
roles, responsibilities 
and your position 
within these.

Skills & Abilities  Effective use of 
specialist ICT 
packages.

 Use of relevant 
equipment / 
resources.

 Good Keyboard skills
 Ability to relate well 

to pupils, colleagues 
and outside 
agencies.

 Work constructively 
and positively as part 
of a team.

Level 1 Welsh Language skills 
(Basic reading, writing, 
speaking and understanding) 
with the aim of improvement 
through CPD”

·Reading – Can read some 
basic words and phrases 
with understanding

·Speaking – Can hold a basic 
conversation in welsh i.e. 
basic greetings

·Writing – Can write basic 
messages on everyday 
topics

Tudalen 121



·Understanding – Can 
understand parts of a basic 
conversation

Personal 
Characteristics

Tudalen 122



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET 

13th FEBRUARY 2020 

KEY STAGE 4 AND 5 EXAMINATION RESULTS FOR 2019 AND 
PROVISIONAL PRIMARY AND SECONDARY SCHOOL 

CATEGORISATION FOR 2019/20

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND INCLUSION SERVICES 
IN DISCUSSION WITH THE CABINET MEMBER FOR EDUCATION AND 
INCLUSION SERVICES (COUNCILLOR J ROSSER)

Author: GAYNOR DAVIES, DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND INCLUSION
              SERVICES (Tel No: 01443 744009)

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Members with the final 
confirmation of Key Stage 4 and Key Stage 5 examination results for 
2018-19 and Primary and Secondary School Categorisation for 2019/20. 

1.2 To advise members on the significant changes in Welsh Government 
performance and accountability measures. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Members:

2.1 Note the information contained within the report. 

2.2 Note the action taken to date and the future planned intervention of the 
Director of Education and Inclusion Services in partnership with Local 
Authority Education Services and Central South Consortium to support 
schools currently categorised as amber and red.

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 To ensure that Cabinet Members are fully aware of the educational 
performance of our pupils and schools in Rhondda Cynon Taf.

4. BACKGROUND

4.1 Welsh Government has been developing new evaluation and 
improvement arrangements to ensure that performance and 
accountability measures align with the new Curriculum for Wales 2022. 
It is proposed by Welsh Government that the new arrangements will 

Tudalen 123

Agendwm 7



assist in raising standards, reducing the attainment gap, and deliver an 
improved education system in preparation for 2022. These new 
arrangements are evolving in a planned way to support schools to build 
a self–improving system and ensure sustained improvements. 

4.2 Key Stage 4 and Key Stage 5 outcomes are externally verified through 
GCSE and GCE Advanced Level examinations which are undertaken at 
the end of the respective Key Stages. 

4.3    The local authority analyses examination outcomes for each school  
and compares school performance across the County Borough. 
Comparisons are also made against the all Wales averages. For 
2019/20, it is possible to ascertain Rhondda Cynon Taf’s performance 
relative to other local authorities on key measures. It is however likely 
that this comparative data will not be published in future.  
 

4.4    When considering Rhondda Cynon Taf’s performance relative to the 
Welsh average it is important to contextualise information and to take 
into account the socio-economic factors across the 22 Welsh local 
authorities. Whilst poverty and deprivation are not excuses for 
educational underperformance, they are factors that influence 
educational outcomes. In comparing Rhondda Cynon Taf with other 
local authorities, in terms of eligibility for free school meals, Rhondda 
Cynon Taf currently has the seventh highest level of statutory school age 
pupils behind Neath Port Talbot, Blaenau Gwent, Torfaen, Cardiff, 
Swansea and Merthyr Tydfil. This is a significant shift from 2018, when 
Rhondda Cynon Taf was ranked as the 3rd highest in Wales in terms of 
the percentage of learners aged 5-15 eligible for free school meals.  

Based on January PLASC 2019 data, there were 20.4% of pupils aged 
5-15 known to be eligible for free school meals in Rhondda Cynon Taf, 
which was significantly above the all Wales average of 18.3%. In 
addition, Rhondda Cynon Taf has some of the poorest wards in Wales 
when considering the Welsh Multiple Index of Deprivation data. 

4.5   Socio-economic measures suggests that a degree of discrepancy 
between Rhondda Cynon Taf’s performance relative to all Wales 
average outcomes would be predicted given the well documented 
research that highlights the positive correlation between poverty and 
poor educational outcomes.  Nevertheless, aspirations for our learners 
remain high. 

5. KEY STAGE 4 PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

5.1 Welsh Government is attempting to remove the historic disproportionate 
emphasis on one or two isolated school performance measures. They 
have introduced new interim Key Stage 4 (KS4) measures for 2018/19.  
There is a general move towards a wider range of indicators to better 
capture the whole learning experience and the progress of all learners, 
as opposed to a disproportionate focus on particular groups of learners. 

Tudalen 124



5.2 As part of this process of change, Welsh Government has implemented 
a suite of interim KS4 performance measures. These new measures, 
based on points scores, will remove the emphasis on threshold 
measures which have historically resulted in an excessive focus on 
borderline C/D grade learners.  Moving forward, a focus on point scores 
will reflect a school average of all individual learners’ points scores, 
rather than a percentage attaining a minimum threshold level. 

5.3 The KS4 interim measures for summer 2019 are summarised as follows:
 Capped 9 measure which includes 3 core measures (literacy, 

numeracy and science measures) and any other six best 
qualifications (other than those already contributing to the 3 core 
measures)

 Literacy measure (best of language and literacy)
 Numeracy measure (best of mathematics/numeracy) 
 Science measure (best of science)
 Welsh Baccalaureate Skills Challenge Certificate measure.

The interim measures are points based rather than focused on the 
percentage of pupils attaining a particular threshold grade or level. Point 
score equivalents for the different grades are as follows: 

 A*=58; A=52; B=46; C=40; D=34; E=28; F=22; G=16. 

5.4 Following the Welsh Government announcement in November 2017 
regarding early entries, only the results of the first awarding of a 
complete qualification have counted towards the performance measures 
for summer 2019 reporting.

5.5 Welsh Government have made changes to the information provided for 
schools in the All Wales Core Data Sets (AWCDS) to reflect the interim 
KS4 performance measures. 

5.6 In line with the move away from threshold measures, Welsh Government 
no longer provide analyses on the percentage of learners achieving: 
individual subjects, including the Welsh Baccalaureate at Foundation or 
National level, or threshold performance measures, namely the Core 
Subject Indicator (CSI) or Level 2 threshold. 

5.7 Welsh Government have provided analyses of the Level 2 inclusive and 
Level 1 threshold measures for 2018/19 only.  This is due to the fact that 
there was still a legislative requirement for schools to set targets for KS4 
learners against these measures for the 2018/19 academic year. 
However, this data has been provided to inform school self-evaluation 
and Welsh Government has strongly advised that legacy measures 
should not be used for comparative purposes. 

5.8 National benchmarking data is no longer provided to allow comparisons 
with other schools in similar socio-economic circumstances.  

Tudalen 125



5.9 The Director of Education in Welsh Government, the Chief Inspector for 
Estyn and the Chief Executive of the WLGA have sent a joint letter to 
Cabinet Members, Chairs of Scrutiny, Chief Executives and Directors of 
Education across Wales to provide a steer on the handling of unverified 
KS4 examination results for the summer 2019 and the new interim 
performance measures. The July 2019 letter highlights Welsh 
Government’s view that it is counter-productive for schools to be placed 
under disproportionate pressure on the basis of individual measures and 
that focus should be placed on using ‘a broad range of un-aggregated 
data and information’ to enable the Council to discharge its statutory 
duties when reporting on school performance.  The communication also 
recommends that Councils evaluate the performance of individual 
schools rather than generating aggregated data at local authority level 
to support and challenge individual schools on their improvement.

Whilst it was intended that comparative data at a local authority level 
would not be published by Welsh Government, local authority outcomes 
across Wales were in fact published in December 2019. 

6. OVERVIEW OF KEY STAGE 4 PERFORMANCE (2018/19)

6.1 Further detail in relation to the interim measures is provided below: 

 The Capped Points Score calculates the average of the scores for 
the best awards for all individual learners in the cohort, capped at a 
total volume of nine GCSEs or equivalent qualifications (referred to 
as ‘slots’) Three of the nine slots equate to three GCSEs only in 
literacy, numeracy and science, with the best grade achieved for 
each slot from the relevant qualifications. The remaining six slots 
reflect to the points attached to each learner’s best remaining six 
qualifications (excluding those awards that are contributing towards 
the three subject-specific slots described above). There is no cap 
on the total volume of non-GCSEs that can contribute towards the 
‘other six’ (non-subject-specific) slots. 

 The literacy measure calculates the average of the scores for all 
individual learners in the cohort, taking the best grade from any of 
the literature or first language Welsh or English GCSEs awarded to 
a learner.

 The numeracy measure calculates the average of the scores for 
all individual learners in the cohort, taking the best grade from either 
of the mathematics or mathematics – numeracy GCSEs awarded to 
a learner.

 The science measure calculates the average of the scores for all 
individual learners in the cohort, taking the best grade from science 
GCSEs awarded to a learner. 

 The Welsh Baccalaureate Skills Challenge Certificate measure 
calculates the average of the scores for the Welsh Baccalaureate 
Skills Challenge Certificate awards for all individual learners in the 

Tudalen 126



cohort, whether it is the Foundation (Level 1) or the National (Level 
2) award. 

6.2 Table 1 provides the verified data for Key Stage 4 for 2019. 

Table 1: Verified outcomes on current interim performance 
measures for Key Stage 4 - 2018/19

KS4 2018 2019
 

Differential

Capped 9 Points Score RCT n/a 352 n/a
Capped 9 Points Score Wales n/a 353.9 n/a
Literacy Points Score RCT 38.6 38.2 -0.4
Literacy Points Score Wales 39.4 39.0 -0.4
Numeracy Points Score RCT 37.2 35.7 -1.5
Numeracy Points Score Wales 38.3 37.1 -1.2
Science Points Score RCT 35.4 35.2 -0.2
Science Points Score Wales 36.8 36.8  0
Welsh Baccalaureate Skill Challenge 
Certificate – Points Score RCT

36.1 37.9 +1.8

Welsh Baccalaureate Skill Challenge 
Certificate – Points Score Wales

36.5 36.4 -0.1

Please note that as the interim measures are new for 2019, Welsh 
Government has recalculated 2018 datasets in the form of new, headline 
interim measures. However, this refitted data for 2018 does not take into 
account the ‘first award only’ approach to Key Stage 4 performance 
measures that has been introduced for the first time for 2019 reporting 
purposes. Prior to 2018/19, the best result for each Year 11 pupil in each 
subject was used instead. This clearly impacts on the comparability of 
this 2019 data with previous years.  

The comparative data should therefore be considered with caution as it 
reports measures that were not in place at the time that the cohort was 
in situ. The datasets are not directly comparable for this reason. 

  
Outcomes on all measures were only slightly below the national average, 
with the exception of the performance on the Welsh Baccalaureate Skills 
Challenge Certificate which was above the all Wales average.  
Performance on most measures do not deviate too significantly from 
2018, when considering the new measures and the recalculated data for 
last year. 

Our performance relative to the other 22 local authorities, based on the 
new interim measures is as follows: Capped 9 (10th); Literacy Points 
Score (12th); Numeracy Points Score (17th); Science Points Score 
(17th); Welsh Baccalaureate (6th). Further improvement in Science and 
Numeracy outcomes would be beneficial in the 2020 summer series. 
Modelled outcomes based on Efsm levels suggest that performance on 

Tudalen 127



the Capped 9 and Welsh Baccalaureate was better than predicted 
and literacy, numeracy and science outcomes were very marginally 
below modelled expectations and the all Wales average rate.  

6.3 During the autumn term, Council officers worked closely with 
headteachers and the Central South Consortium to analyse the data so 
as to evaluate what has gone well and to identify priorities for 
improvement. This analysis has been undertaken at a school level and 
subject basis to inform self-evaluation and school improvement 
planning. Support has been put in place to ensure that underperforming 
schools are supported to make the necessary progress, and, where 
necessary, challenged to ensure that timely improvements are made. 
Challenge has included issuing pre-warning statutory notices to a small 
number of secondary schools. 

An analysis of outcomes for vulnerable groups will also be undertaken 
in partnership with schools to ensure that they are targeting their 
resources and interventions appropriately. Further progress is clearly 
needed across the board to ensure that outcomes are improved at this 
time of unprecedented reform in Education. The local authority needs to 
ensure that an appropriate curriculum is made available for all Key Stage 
4 learners that best suits their needs and that the teaching provided is of 
the highest standard. 

 
7.     PROGRESS AT KEY STAGE 5 

   7.1 Table 2 outlines verified Key Stage 5 outcomes. Data suggests that there 
has been progress in the percentage of all learners achieving the level 3 
threshold, including boys and girls. 

Table 2: Verified Key Stage 5 Outcomes (Level 3 Threshold)
 

All Boys Girls

Year

Entered a 
volume 

equivalent to 2 
A levels who 
achieved the 

level 3 
threshold %

Entered a 
volume 

equivalent to 2 
A levels who 
achieved the 

level 3 
threshold %

Entered a 
volume 

equivalent to 2 
A levels who 
achieved the 

level 3 
threshold %

2018/19 RCT 97.8 96.5 98.9
Wales 97.9 97.3 98.4

2017/18 RCT 96.2 95.0 97.0
Wales 97.6 96.7 98.3

2016/17 RCT 96.3 95.7 96.7
Wales 97.1 96.2 97.9

Tudalen 128



7.2 Performance of girls on the Level 3 threshold in Rhondda Cynon Taf 
demonstrates significant progress and is stronger than the national 
average.  The performance of all learners is on a par with all Wales 
average outcomes. 

7.3     As can be seen in Table 3 performance has dipped this academic year 
on the average wider point score measure for all learners, but particularly 
for boys. In line with the national averages, girls continue to significantly 
outperform boys on the average wider points score measure and 
performance for girls remained fairly stable on this measure across 
2018/19. 

Table 3: Verified key stage 5 outcomes on the average wider points 
score for Key Stage 5 – 2019

7.4     Data in Table 4 suggests that the percentage of learners who achieved 
3A*-A and 3A*-C grades in key stage 5 decreased by 0.6%age points 
and 6.0%age points in 2018/19. In line with national averages, girls 
outperformed boys on both 3A*-A and 3A*-C measures. 

Table 4: Verified outcomes on 3A*-A and 3A*-C Key Stage 5 - 2019

All Boys Girls

Year

Average 
wider points 

score for 
pupils aged 

17

Average 
wider 
points 

score for 
pupils 

aged 17

Average 
wider points 

score for 
pupils aged 

17

2018/19 RCT 691.92 631.4 740.6
Wales 741.3 693.5 781.1

2017/18 RCT 723.8 691.4 746.1
Wales 740.1 691.8 780.9

2016/17 RCT 677.6 615.9 723.5
Wales 730.6 681.2 773.2

All Boys Girls

Year

Percentage 
of Pupils 

entering a 
volume 

equivalent 
of 2 A 

levels who 
achieved 3 

A*-A 
grades

Percentage 
of Pupils 

entering a 
volume 

equivalent 
of 2 A levels 

who 
achieved 3 

A*-C grades

Percentage 
of Pupils 

entering a 
volume 

equivalent 
of 2 A 

levels who 
achieved 3 

A*-A 
grades

Percentage 
of Pupils 

entering a 
volume 

equivalent 
of 2 A levels 

who 
achieved 3 

A*-C grades

Percentage 
of Pupils 

entering a 
volume 

equivalent 
of 2 A 

levels who 
achieved 3 

A*-A 
grades

Percentage 
of Pupils 

entering a 
volume 

equivalent 
of 2 A 

levels who 
achieved 3 

A*-C 
grades

2018/19 RCT 9.6 48.3 6.8 40.9 11.7 54.0
Wales 13.2 58.4 11.7 51.1 14.5 64.1

2017/18 RCT 10.2 54.3 8.5 43.8 11.5 61.9
Wales 13.4 57.9 13.0 50.1 13.8 64.2

2016/17 RCT 5.5 45.1 6.4 33.5 4.8 53.5
Wales 10.5 54.7 10.3 47.6 10.6 60.5

Tudalen 129



8.       PRIMARY AND SECONDARY SCHOOL CATEGORISATION 

8.1   The current school categorisation model has changed significantly since 
2016 but will remain for the immediate future.  The categorisation system 
will in future need to evolve to fit with the new Evaluation and 
Improvement arrangements.

8.2 Step One: consisting of data analysis in relation to standards and 
performance has been removed. 

8.3 Step Two: This judgment based on the school’s ability and capacity to 
self-improve is now central in coming to a view on a school support 
category. The process begins with the school’s own self-evaluation. The 
judgement on capacity to improve is to do with the school’s ability to drive 
its own improvement for the future and has a strong focus on leadership, 
learning and teaching. 

8.4 Following consideration of the self-evaluation report and relevant 
evidence relating to school leadership, the performance of all learners 
and groups of learners and the quality of teaching and learning within 
the school, the governing body, together with the challenge advisor, will 
agree the judgement for the school’s capacity to improve. 

8.5 Step Three: this judgement will lead to a colour categorisation of the 
school which will trigger a bespoke programme of support, challenge and 
intervention. 

8.6 The categories of support are: 

• Green - these are our best schools who: 
o know themselves well and identify and implement their own 

priorities for improvement; 
o are rewarded by greater autonomy with limited, if any, interaction 

with challenge advisors; and 
o have the capacity to lead others effectively (school to school 

support). 

• Yellow – these are our good schools who: 
o will know and understand most of the areas in need of 

improvement;  have many aspects of the schools performance 
which are self-improving; and 

o will receive limited challenge and support meetings deployed 
according to need. 

• Amber – these are our schools in need of improvement who: 
o do not know and understand all the areas in need of improvement;
o have many aspects of the schools performance which are not 

improving quickly enough; and 

Tudalen 130



o will receive time limited, focused challenge and intervention to 
support improvement; and 

o be subject to termly progress meetings with senior challenge 
advisor. 

• Red – these are our schools in need of greatest improvement who: 
o will receive critical intervention;
o receive an automatic warning letter from the local authority and 

subsequent use of statutory powers where necessary; 
o trigger intensive and effective collaboration between local 

authority and consortium; 
o will receive time limited, focused challenge and intervention to 

support improvement; and 
o be subject to half-termly progress meetings with the senior 

challenge advisor. 

8.7 A summary of Rhondda Cynon Taf’s categorisation, subject to National 
              Moderation, is shown below:

Table 5: School categorisation outcomes for 2019/20

There has been a 4.8% increase in the percentage of schools 
categorised as green at primary level, and this is the highest level of 
green schools achieved in the past 3 years. A decrease in the 
percentage of primary schools requiring yellow support is evident during 
2019/20. Whilst there are more schools requiring amber support at 
primary level this academic year this has been necessary in a number of 
cases due to interim leadership arrangements (e.g. acting headteacher 
posts etc). There are no primary schools categorised as red. There has 
been a significant reduction in schools requiring red support at primary 
level due to the removal of 3 schools from Estyn statutory categories 
(including significant improvement and special measures). This is a 
significant achievement.

For secondary schools the overall position has remained relatively 
stable, although there have been 2 positive changes in categorisation at 
secondary level (one from yellow to green and another from amber to 
yellow) and 2 negative changes (from green to yellow and yellow to 
amber). The proportion of secondary schools categorised as requiring 
the greatest improvement and red support has remained stable.

8.8 The Central South Consortium’s Framework for Challenge and Support 
sets out the response from the School Improvement Service to schools 

Category Mainstream Primary Schools Secondary Schools
No of Schools % No of Schools %

2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019
Green 38 36 40 36.9 38.7 43.5 4 5 5 23.5 29.4 29.4
Yellow 59 48 42 57.3 51.6 45.7 10 7 7 59.0 41.2 41.2
Amber 5 6 10 4.9 6.5 10.9 1 3 3 5.9 17.6 17.6

Red 1 3 0 1.0 3.2 0 2 2 2 11.8 11.8 11.8

Tudalen 131



in each of the four categories, with the greatest support and challenge 
targeted at the amber and red schools. For the amber and red schools, 
the diagnosis of need for improvement undertaken by the challenge 
advisor with the school will drive the work within the school. The 
challenge advisor will provide the core allocation of contact according to 
the school’s category and will broker the required additional support 
through the commissioning function of the school improvement service 
working closely with the strategic advisors as necessary. Senior officers 
from the local authority, are involved school improvement forums and 
progress meetings for all amber and red schools. The Director of 
Education is involved in termly progress meetings with red schools, and 
half-termly meetings with amber schools. 

8.9 To summarise, there has been a growth in the number of schools 
requiring the least amount of support (green) and a deterioration in the 
number of school categorised as requiring the highest level of support 
(red). A decrease in the overall number of schools requiring red support 
reflects the progress made in improving our schools’ causing significant 
concern at primary level.  

9. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS
 
9.1 This is an information report. No Equality Impact Assessment screening 

form is required. 

10. CONSULTATION 

10.1 This is an information report, no consultation is required. 

11. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

11.1 There are no financial implications. 

12. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED 

12.1 None at present.

13. LINKS TO THE COUNCIL’S CORPORATE PLAN/OTHER 
CORPORATE PRIORITIES/SIP 

13.1 Educational performance has a clear link to the Council’s priority of 
Building a Strong Economy. Improved educational performance will have 
a positive impact on this priority.

14. CONCLUSION

14.1 The new interim performance measures, based on points scores, have 
removed the emphasis on threshold measures and the associated 
negative unintended consequences previously associated with these. 
Namely the narrowing of curriculum choice, the excessive focus on 
particular group of learners at the expense of others and the competition 

Tudalen 132



created across schools and local authorities which has mitigated against 
a culture of self-improving schools. 

14.2 In light of this shift in emphasis in performance measures and reporting, 
moving forward a wider range of performance measures and contextual 
information will be utilised during 2019/20 to inform self-evaluation and 
school improvement planning and to make judgements about school 
effectiveness.  

14.3 Provisional performance outcomes on the new interim Key Stage 4 
measures suggests that there has been a slight dip in standards in 2019 
on most measures. However, it is difficult to make meaningful 
comparisons across 2018 and 2019 datasets due to the fact that the 
2019 outcomes include the ‘first award’ data only. This is not the case 
for the re-calculated 2018 datasets. Nevertheless, provisional data 
suggests that there is scope for further improvements in standards in 
2019. 

14.4 A continued focus on improving leadership and the quality of teaching 
and learning in our schools is required so that standards can continue to 
improve and the gap between vulnerable groups (including efsm/nfsm 
and boys and girls) is narrowed. 

14.5 Provisional school categorisation outcomes overall suggests 
improvement in the numbers of primary schools requiring green and red 
support. Categorisation at secondary level has remained stable overall 
over 2017/18 and 2018/19.

Tudalen 133



Other Information:- 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee- 

Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Background Papers- 

None 

Tudalen 134



LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

AS AMENDED BY 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

CABINET 

13th FEBRUARY 2020 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND INCLUSION SERVICES IN 
DISCUSSION WITH THE RELEVANT PORTFOLIO HOLDER, COUNCILLOR J 
ROSSER. 

AUTHOR: Gaynor Davies – Director of Education and Inclusion Services 

Background papers – None. 

Officer to contact: Gaynor Davies – 01443 744009

Tudalen 135



Tudalen wag



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET 

13th FEBRUARY 2020

ITU COLLABORATION

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PROSPERITY, DEVELOPMENT AND 
FRONTLINE SERVICES IN DISCUSSIONS WITH THE RELEVANT 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER (COUNCILLOR CRIMMINGS) 

Authors: Roger Waters – Service Director; Frontline Services
Charlie Nelson – Transportation Manager

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of the report is to seek Cabinet approval for the Integrated 
Transport Units of both Caerphilly and Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
Borough Councils to work collaboratively to create a centre of excellence 
for the delivery of passenger transport services across both local 
authorities.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 It is recommended that Council officers work with Caerphilly County 
Borough Council to explore the creation of a centre of excellence for the 
delivery of passenger transport services across Caerphilly and Rhondda 
Cynon Taf.

2.2 It is recommended that a further report be brought back to Cabinet on 
the outcome of that review for their formal consideration at a future date. 

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 The Council is continually reviewing and adapting services in light of 
reducing funds from the Government. Collaboration with neighbouring 
local authorities helps to improve the resilience of service delivery, 
ensuring that our residents continue to receive the best services.

3.2 Ensuring that the two councils are joined up will help to deliver the most 
efficient cost effective passenger transport service to residents and 
users. A joint management structure will identify and embed best 
practice, establish common processes and share of resources to create 

Tudalen 137

Agendwm 8



a single passenger transport centre of excellence, providing services 
across both councils.

3.3 With proposals for local government reorganisation being costly and 
disruptive, the current preference is toward the collaboration of service 
provision and back office functions between existing local authorities. 
The creation of the Cardiff Capital Region is a step toward the creation 
of regional Joint Transport Authorities. Developing a centre of passenger 
transport excellence, based around two of its strongest councils, offers a 
foundation on which to expand and provide services on a wider regional 
footprint for and on behalf of other councils.

4. BACKGROUND

4.1 The Welsh Government wants strong and empowered local government 
which can provide bold, determined and focused local leadership. The 
vision is for empowered local authorities that have the freedom, powers 
and values that drive them to look to the future, learning from the past 
but not stuck in it. Success will be measured by how much is being done 
better and the positive difference this makes to people’s lives. 

4.2 Their vision for local government is one that builds on its current 
strengths, reinvigorating not reinventing. It looks to those councils with 
the strength and scope to be bold and ambitious to work in the best 
interests of the communities they serve to work with other like-minded 
councils and make a difference, using public money more effectively.

4.3 The recent Welsh Government White Paper; Improving Public Transport, 
makes a case for regional working via Joint Transport Authorities. Whilst 
it is understood that this is not being taken forward as part of the drafting 
for the Bus (Wales) Bill, the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Bill 
2019 makes provision for corporate joint committees to be established to 
support regional working and collaboration in areas such as transport.

4.4 In this period of ongoing austerity, the challenge requires a long term 
approach that transforms service delivery. Joint working helps to 
maximise opportunities and simplifies the complexities of repetition, 
reducing administrative burden, building on strengths and providing 
resilience.

4.5 In parallel, there are growing pressures on staff resources, particularly at 
the managerial level, where on a Wales-wide basis the pool of talent 
continues to diminish through retirement and increased competition for 
such managers from fellow councils, Transport for Wales and transport 
consultancies. Both councils have been affected by such pressures.

4.6 With this in mind, Caerphilly and Rhondda Cynon Taf Council officers 
have been discussing the potential for the creation of a joint Integrated 

Tudalen 138



Transport Unit (ITU). Both councils already have well-run and adequately 
resourced ITUs providing services for public bus services, home to 
school transport and Social Services transport for vulnerable adults and 
children. The proposal is to underpin the good work that each council 
undertakes through its respective ITUs, and create resilience and 
capacity that will ensure business continuity.

4.7 This potential pooling of resources, following a review could enable a 
greater resilience and long-term stability of service delivery, sharing of 
specialist skills, greater opportunities for personal development, business 
continuity, career development and the potential to scale up to provide 
services across a wider geographical footprint.  

4.8 The current review proposal envisages a virtual team based at the 
respective offices of the two councils. Consideration will be given to co-
location as part of the wider regional agenda in the future.

5. PROPOSAL

5.1 It is envisaged the creation of the Centre of Excellence for the delivery of 
passenger transport services across Rhondda Cynon Taf and Caerphilly 
would initially operate on the following model. 

5.2 A joint management structure would be put in place to manage the 
respective ITUs of each council, and by working together, the two 
councils would share resources to explore the creation of a centre of 
excellence for the delivery of passenger transport services across 
Caerphilly and Rhondda Cynon Taf. 

5.3 Both councils are acting from a position of strength with well-run and 
adequately resourced ITUs. Caerphilly’s ITU Team Leader and Rhondda 
Cynon Taf’s Transportation Manager would work together under an 
Memorandum of Understanding (see appendix 1), and form part of a 
joint management team, which would be supported by Caerphilly’s 
Transportation Engineering Manager and Rhondda Cynon Taf’s Service 
Director – Frontline Services.

5.4 A joint board/steering group would be established with Cabinet/Executive 
member and officer representation from each council covering Audit, 
Education, Finance, Human Resources, Social Services and Transport 
requirements to ensure that there is an even allocation of management 
and administrative resources across both councils, based on their 
current proportions. Terms of Reference for the joint board/steering 
group will need to be prepared and agreed.

5.5 The joint management team would be responsible for delivering  
performance reports (as required in the business and delivery plan) to 
the joint board/steering group, who will provide direction and oversight, 

Tudalen 139



and have the responsibility for reviewing performance and reporting back 
to their respective councils, supported by the joint management team.

5.6 The joint management team through, and working with the joint 
board/steering group, would be responsible for developing and agreeing 
a business and delivery plan to transform the service across the two 
councils into a single combined entity, where staff would work flexibly 
across council boundaries, using common processes to deliver excellent 
passenger transport, such as contract terms and conditions, fleet 
utilisation and procurement strategies, contract monitoring, DBS checks 
and clearance, eligibility assessment, infrastructure management, 
performance indicators etc. 

5.7 At this stage, where harmonising processes and procedures are mutually 
beneficial, each ITU would remain independent and self-sufficient. Only 
when a full 12 months of data is available will a full and clear picture be 
available on how the collaboration is performing against the original 
business and delivery plan.

5.8 For clarity; Policy decisions (such as eligibility criteria for school 
transport) will remain entirely a matter for the individual constituent 
councils. The joint transport unit will act as a centre of excellence in 
managing transport services in accordance with the prevailing policies of 
the individual councils, or any other councils that may commission the 
unit.

6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment Screening Form has been completed 
and not identified any negative or adverse impact upon the vulnerable 
groups that rely on the passenger transport services delivered by the two 
councils. A full Equality Impact Assessment has not therefore been 
carried out.

7. CONSULTATION/INVOLVEMENT

7.1 Cabinet approval is sought to advance discussions with Caerphilly 
Council in respect of the creation of a centre of excellence as outlined 
above and the development of a memorandum of understanding to 
establish and direct a joint management structure, overseen by a joint 
board/steering group (a draft of which is appended to the report). 

7.2 There are no immediate planned personnel implications arising from the 
report. However, if established and working to the satisfaction of both 
authorities, a review of the future structure of the organisation would be 
considered. Any proposal(s) arising would be the subject of a future 
report to Members.

Tudalen 140



8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

8.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report beyond 
the existing ITU budgets established by each council, as there would be 
no cross subsidy between the respective ITUs. Any significant service 
change initiatives within the parameters of this proposal (e.g. investment 
in common management information systems) will be subject to further 
business case justification.

8.2 The respective units are responsible for managing significant transport 
budgets across a range of services and functions and will have a 
combined gross revenue budget of £35 million.

8.3 This breaks down across three main service delivery areas as follows:

LA RCTCBC CCBC
Public transport (bus) £9,033,000 £5,596,000
Home to School £10,246,000 £7,116,000
Social Services £1,287,000 £1,500,000
Total £20,566,000 £14,212,000

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED 

9.1 The legal implications aligned to this proposal will evolve as discussions 
develop. These will be fully reported to Members following completion of 
the review. The proposal supports the underlying aims of the Welsh 
Government Green Paper Consultation Document “Strengthening Local 
Government: Delivering for People”, which through the provision for 
corporate joint committees to be established to support regional working 
and collaboration in areas such as transport, are being taken forward by 
the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Bill 2019.

10. LINKS TO THE CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE 
WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT.

10.1 The delivery of passenger transport services support and promote the 
Council’s Corporate Plan priorities for People – Promoting independence 
and positive lives for everyone, Place – Creating neighbourhoods where 
people are proud to live and Economy – Building a strong economy.

10.2 These in turn support the seven well-being goals of the Well-being of 
Future generations (Wales) Act 2015. This proposal contributes to the 
Well-being Goals and is consistent with the five ways of working, as 
defined within the sustainable development principle in the Act.

Tudalen 141



10.3 By looking at an alternative model, working with Caerphilly under a joint 
management structure will deliver and manage the councils’ passenger 
transport requirements in a more integrated and efficient manner, in a 
way that makes the best and most sustainable use of our limited and 
decreasing resources. 

10.4 Long term resourcing of operation and management solutions of this 
specialised service provision allows for more effective and predictable 
resource/ financial commitments going forward. The jointly managed 
service helps to prevent less sustainable travel options being used thus 
contributing to the well-being of its communities. It forms part of an 
overall strategy for the integration of local and regional transport systems 
where sustainable public transport, contributing to a low carbon future, is 
the option of choice.

10.5 Collaboration with other organisations and local authorities enables a 
more effective, efficient and inclusive service which delivers greater 
benefits to the community, increasing their resilience and providing 
feelings of being safe and involved in the using the network. Users and 
residents will have a wider range and choice of passenger transport 
services, with improved access to employment, health facilities, 
education and training, social, leisure and retail opportunities. 
Communities will become more cohesive and regenerated, as new 
homes are built and jobs created, fuelling network growth and use.

10.6 Good transport services are of great benefit to residents, businesses 
and visitors. Improved transport links provide economic growth and more 
employment opportunities for residents of all ages and abilities, so that 
they can achieve their aspirations, improving their life chances, and 
preventing and removing themselves and their families from poverty. 
Improved service delivery makes services more attractive to use, 
reducing the need for private transport at peak times, contributing to 
better air quality and improving the local environment.

10.7 Collaboration with other councils involves working together towards 
shared goals, jointly making decisions, and pooling resources through an 
integrated approach. This avoids duplication and allows partners to 
develop complementary approaches that deliver a sustainable and 
effective network of passenger transport services, which will increase 
user satisfaction and be of long-term benefit to residents.

11. CONCLUSION

11.1 The creation of a joint ITU with Caerphilly with an innovative, responsive 
and cost effective approach to passenger transport service delivery 
would meet the objectives of both councils and contribute to reducing 
their respective carbon footprints.

Tudalen 142



11.2 The pooling of resources under a memorandum of understanding, 
overseen by a joint board/steering group, will enable a structure to be 
built that will provide a lean and integrated transportation service, 
focussed on the delivery of a safe, efficient and legislatively compliant 
range of passenger transport services to a broad range of clients, that 
has close working relationships with key partners, clear and effective 
cost control, and makes best use of the financial and staff resources for 
their respective councils. 

11.3 This model, through further collaboration, would have the capacity and 
capability to be scaled up into a sub-Regional/Regional ITU within 2 
years.

Tudalen 143



Appendix 1 

Memorandum of Understanding – ITU Passenger Transport Services

Principle Points of Agreement

 CCBC and RCTCBC agree to create a centre of excellence for the delivery 
of passenger transport services across Caerphilly and Rhondda Cynon Taf.

 There will be a joint management structure to manage the respective 
Integrated Transport Units (ITUs) of each Council.

 The purpose of the joint management structure is to share management 
resources across the two ITUs.

 The joint management team will identify and embed best practice, establish 
common processes and the sharing of resources to create a single 
passenger transport centre of excellence, providing passenger transport 
services across both Councils.

 The aim will be to build a structure that through further collaboration has the 
capacity and capability to be scaled up into a sub-Regional/Regional ITU 
within 2 years.

Background

 Both Councils are acting from a position of strength with well-run and 
adequately resourced ITUs.

 The wider direction of travel is towards the creation of regional Joint 
Transport Authorities (WG White  Paper).

Proposal

 The proposal is to underpin the good work that each Council undertakes 
through its respective ITUs, and to create resilience and capacity to ensure 
business continuity and to take on additional services beyond the 
boundaries of Caerphilly and Rhondda Cynon Taf.

 Develop a centre of excellence for the delivery of passenger transport 
services that is capable of expansion to provide services on a wider regional 
footprint for and on behalf of other Councils in the Cardiff Capital Region.

 That CCBC’s ITU Team Leader and RCTCBC’s Transportation Manager 
work under an MOU as part of a joint management team, supported by 
CCBC’s Transportation Engineering Manager and RCTCBC’s Service 
Director – Frontline Services. 

Tudalen 144



 A joint board/steering group will be established with member and officer 
representation from each Council covering Audit, Education, Finance, 
Human Resources, Social Services and Transport requirements to ensure 
that there is an even allocation of management and administrative 
resources across both Councils, based on their current proportions. Terms 
of Reference for the joint board/steering group will need to be prepared and 
agreed.

 The joint management team will be responsible for delivering performance 
reports (as required in the business and delivery plan) to the joint 
board/steering group, who will provide direction and oversight, and have the 
responsibility for reviewing performance and reporting back to their 
respective Councils, supported by the joint management team. 

 The joint management team through, and working with the joint 
board/steering group, will be responsible for developing and agreeing a 
business and delivery plan to transform the service across the two Councils 
into a single combined entity, where staff would work flexibly across Council 
boundaries, using common processes to deliver excellent passenger 
transport, such as contract terms and conditions, fleet utilisation and 
procurement strategies, contract monitoring, DBS checks and clearance, 
eligibility assessment, infrastructure management, performance indicators, 
GDPR, data sharing protocols etc.

Output

 Create a joint/regional ITU that is acknowledged for excellence in 
innovative, responsive and cost effective passenger transport service 
delivery that meet the objectives of both Council’s and contribute to reducing 
their respective carbon footprints.

 To provide a lean and integrated transportation service which is focussed on 
the delivery of a safe, efficient and legislatively compliant range of 
passenger transport services to a broad range of clients, that has close 
working relationships with key partners, clear and effective cost control, and 
makes best use of the financial and staff resources for their respective 
Councils.

Joint Working, Responsibilities and Delivery

 The joint management team will have responsibility for all passenger 
transport activities undertaken for and on behalf of each Council, deputising 
for each other when necessary and appropriate.

 The joint management team will prepare the business and delivery plan that 
reflects the direction and policies of each Council, identifying performance 
indicators/management framework to ensure the achievement of the 
objectives and performance targets as set out therein.

Tudalen 145



 The joint management team will investigate, identify opportunities, 
implement and manage the delivery of an innovative, environmentally 
responsible, high quality, cost effective and fully integrated passenger 
transport service that meets each Council’s needs seamlessly.

 The joint management team will be responsible for the financial and budget 
management of passenger transport services across each Council.

 The joint management team will provide specialist and technical advice and 
guidance on legislative and regulatory requirements, ensuring that the 
legislative requirements, policies and procedures, regulations, regulatory 
requirements and minimum standards placed upon each Council in the 
delivery of passenger transport services are complied with and met.

 The joint management team will work closely with the client Directorates 
within each Council to clearly define respective roles and responsibilities in 
order to ensure that their requirements are met and services are delivered in 
a manner that is more customer focused and client led.  

 The joint management team will develop policy, financial and operational 
systems, and liaise with partners, making recommendations to each Council 
as necessary to deliver better and more integrated services.

 The joint management team will ensure the provision of professional 
supervision and appraisal to members of the combined ITU in order to 
achieve the service aims and objectives of both Councils and ensure their 
continuous professional development and improvement.

 The joint management team will communicate effectively in a customer 
focussed manner with Councillors, Assembly Members and MPs, members 
of the public, customers, services users, Council departments, and 
professionals from other agencies, providing briefing and support for senior 
management and elected members from each Council, and ensuring that 
complaints, queries and requests are responded to in accordance with the 
policies and direction of each Council.

 The joint management team will act as client in the development, delivery 
and financial oversight of passenger transport capital projects on behalf of 
the Councils

 The joint management team will identify other collaborative opportunities 
with Councils across the Cardiff Capital Region to develop opportunities for 
greater integration in the delivery of a consistent, more efficient and 
effective service. 

 The joint management team will participate in effective partnership working 
and engagement with Welsh Government, Transport for Wales, transport 

Tudalen 146



providers, other local authorities and voluntary organisations, contributing to 
and working on all aspects of regional and Wales wide passenger transport 
on behalf of both Councils.

Tudalen 147



Appendix 2

Summary of the Draft Business and Delivery Plan

Streamlined DBS (Disclosure and Barring Service) checking process

 Develop a DBS process that will streamline the current procedure for 
carrying out DBS checks across the two authorities.

 Create a shared workspace that enables both CCBC and RCTCBC to share 
DBS data.

 Agree a combined Privacy Notice that will allow the transfer of DBS checks 
between the two authorities, reducing the duplication of checks for those 
companies that work for both CCBC and RCTCBC. 

Indicative timescale for implementation: 3 – 6 months
 
Adopt common processes

 Carry out a best practice review on current policies and processes, and 
adopt a common approach between the two authorities that builds upon and 
uses Welsh Government Guidance as a minimum. This could include 
education transport, disabled concessionary bus pass entitlement – 
including companion passes, terms and conditions of passenger transport 
contracts.

Indicative timescale for implementation: 12 – 24 months
 
Education transport – Annual September project plan

 Carry out a best practice review on education transport project plans for the 
return to school each September, and adopt the most effective processes 
that reduce the large burden on staffing resources during the summer 
months. This will also reduce the risk of error when applying education 
transport policy, and allow resources to be focussed on implementing short 
notice transport requirements e.g. SEN transport.

Indicative timescale for implementation: 12 – 24 months (two academic 
years)

 
Increased procurement benefits

 Identify opportunities to expand the joint purchasing agreement for season 
tickets on local bus services.

 Develop a joint bus stop infrastructure framework.
 Expand the number of transport operators that are available to tender for 

both authorities.
 Increase the quality of transport operators that provide contracted services 

to both authorities.

Tudalen 148



 Review current procurement processes and systems and adopt common 
functionalities.

 Develop opportunities for cross boundary tendering on contracted and 
supported services, increasing the potential for greater contractor fleet 
utilisation. 

Indicative timescale for implementation: 6 – 24 months
 
Bus stop infrastructure and publicity

 Carry out a best practice review on current methods of bus service 
promotion and provision of public transport information, and adopt the most 
effective and informative formats.

 Share staff resources to design bus service publicity.
 Adopt a minimum common policy for new bus stops.
 Develop a shared workspace that enables both CCBC and RCTCBC to 

operate a bus stop infrastructure and publicity database to assist in the 
maintaining of bus stops/shelters, with shared staff resources being used to 
maintain the database records. This includes communicating bus stop 
details with PTI Cymru.

Indicative timescale for implementation: 6 – 24 months
 
Concessionary bus pass administration

 Share staff resources to administer the concessionary bus pass scheme 
e.g. operator re-imbursement, application processing - including determining 
entitlement; issuing lost/stolen replacements; identifying and managing 
fraud etc. 

The extent and indicative timescale for this will be dependent on the long 
term arrangements through TfW.

 
Bus network management   

 Share staff resources to co-ordinate and manage changes to the bus 
network. 

 Review operator service changes and identify alternative provision.
 Implement replacement services following road closures.
 Procure tendered bus services. 

Indicative timescale for implementation: 12 – 24 months
 
Training

 Adopt a common training requirement for contractors through terms and 
conditions of contracts.

 Identify, procure and arrange joint training sessions/courses.

Tudalen 149



 Sharing of course costs.
 Increased staff development through joint training opportunities and 

exposure to new/different ways of working.

Indicative timescale for implementation: 6 – 24 months

IT systems

 Carry out a best practice review on currently used IT systems e.g. route 
mapping software and information databases; and subject to cost impact, 
adopt the most beneficial systems that will improve the productivity of both 
services.

Indicative timescale for implementation: 12 – 24+ months

Greater utilisation of staffing skills and resources, and retention of key 
staff

 Identify and develop service improvements by utilising staff with specific 
skills sets to the best effect across both services.

 Utilise staffing resources for greater joint authority benefits, by reducing the 
duplication of tasks e.g. contract monitoring at schools and centres where 
both authorities operate contracted education and social services transport, 
and on local bus service monitoring on routes that operate cross boundary 
routes.

Indicative timescale for implementation: 6 – 12 months

Tudalen 150



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET 

13TH FEBRUARY 2020

SUPPORTING TOWN AND RETAIL BUSINESSES IN RHONDDA CYNON TAF –
LOCAL BUSINESS RATE REDUCTION SCHEME

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF FINANCE AND DIGITAL SERVICES IN DISCUSSIONS 
WITH THE RELEVANT PORTFOLIO HOLDER (CLLR M NORRIS) 

Author(s): MR MATTHEW PHILLIPS, HEAD OF SERVICE (REVENUES & BENEFITS)  

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide Cabinet with the results of the consultation 
process on a local Business Rate Reduction Scheme for Rhondda Cynon Taf and 
an update on the continuation of the Welsh Government High Street and Retail Rate 
Relief (HSRR) Scheme for 2020/21. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:

a)  Note the outcome of the consultation exercise as set out in paragraph 7; 

b) Note the continuation of the Welsh Government High Street and Retail Rate 
Relief Scheme for the year for 2020/21;  and 

c) Consider whether, and if so how, they wish to proceed with the proposed local 
Business Rate Reduction Scheme for 2020/21.  

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 To provide further support to town centre and retail businesses within Rhondda 
Cynon Taf as part of the package of support as set out in the report of the Service 
Director of Prosperity and Development presented to Cabinet on 8th May 2019.  

4. BACKGROUND

4.1 This purpose of the overall package of support to town centre businesses is set out 
in detail in the Cabinet report of 8th May 2019 and covers a wide range of actions 
that are intended to deliver on the Councils commitment to support the regeneration 
of town centres and encourage investment in the high street economy, as set out in 
the Councils Corporate Plan.

Tudalen 151

Agendwm 9



4.2 With regard to business rates, the report requested that officers develop a scheme 
and report back to a future Cabinet meeting for consideration and if appropriate, 
agreement of that scheme.   

4.3 On 21st November 2019, Cabinet considered the details of a proposed Local 
Business Rate Relief scheme and agreed to initiate a consultation on the proposed 
scheme.

4.4 The consultation began on 2nd December 2019 and closed on 27th January 2020. 
The results are set out at Appendix 3 of this report.

5. PROPOSED LOCAL BUSINESS RATE REDUCTION SCHEME

5.1 On 23rd January 2020, WG issued the HSRR scheme details and guidance, which 
confirms that the 2020/21 scheme would be unchanged to the 2019/20 scheme. 
That is, the HSRR scheme would offer a maximum payment of £2,500 to all 
qualifying businesses with a Rateable Value of £50,000 or less. 

5.2 In order to support our town centre and retail businesses in 2020/21 it is proposed 
that a local discretionary relief be provided in addition to the WG HSRR of up to a 
maximum of £300 per qualifying business. The qualifying criteria of the HSRR shall 
be applied. It is estimated that 485 businesses in Rhondda Cynon Taf would benefit 
from this further support.

5.3 In cases where the “net” rates bill (following the award of HSRR and any other 
applicable reliefs) is less than £300, the rates bill will be reduced to zero.

5.4 Subject to the decision of Cabinet, the local Business Rate Relief would be shown 
on the 2020/21 Annual Rates bill, due to be posted to all ratepayers in March 2020, 
along with any other applicable reliefs, thereby providing local businesses with 
surety with regard to their liability for the forthcoming financial year, that is, it would 
avoid/minimise any unnecessary re-billing.

5.5 The list of the types of businesses able to qualify for the relief is set out at Appendix 
1 with those non-qualifying businesses set out at Appendix 2.  

 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no equality and diversity implications. 

7. CONSULTATION / INVOLVEMENT

7.1 A consultation exercise on this proposal took place between 2nd December 2019 and 
27th January 2020.

7.2 The consultation process comprised an on-line questionnaire and complemented by 
social media activity promoting and signposting.  

7.3 The feedback is attached at Appendix 3 to this report.  

Tudalen 152



8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

8.1 The Council has included the resource requirement in its Medium Term Financial 
Plan to fund this scheme. 

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED 

9.1 The proposed local Business Rates Relief Scheme is in accordance with the 
Council’s statutory powers under Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1988. 

9.2 For the scheme to be applied in Rhondda Cynon Taf, the Council needs to formally 
resolve to adopt the scheme locally in exercise of its discretionary powers under 
section 47(1) (a) of the 1988 Act and the Director of Finance and Digital Services will 
administer the scheme and make the necessary determinations in accordance with 
the Council’s ‘officer scheme of delegation’.

10. LINKS TO THE CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE WELL-BEING OF 
FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT.

10.1 The proposals are aligned to the Council’s Corporate Plan priorities, one of which is 
‘Building a strong economy’, and the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 and in particular “A more prosperous Wales”. 

11. CONCLUSION

11.1 This local discretionary business rates relief scheme would provide important 
additional financial support for local businesses to meet their 2020/21 rate liability 
and forms part of a wider package of support intended to create and maintain vibrant 
town centres across Rhondda Cynon Taf, which is something that this Council has 
committed to in its Corporate Plan. 

Tudalen 153



Appendix 1

Examples of the types of retail premises that may qualify for assistance under the Wales 
High Street and Retail Relief Scheme:

 Properties that are being used for the sale of goods to visiting members of the public:-

 Shops (such as: florist, bakers, butchers, grocers, greengrocers, jewellers, 
stationers, off licence, newsagents, hardware stores, supermarkets, etc.)

 Opticians
 Pharmacies
 Post offices
 Furnishing shops/ display rooms (such as: carpet shops, double glazing, garage 

doors)
 Car/ caravan show rooms
 Second hard car lots
 Markets
 Petrol stations
 Garden centres
 Art galleries (where art is for sale/hire)

 Properties that are being used for the provision of the following services to visiting 
members of the public:-

 Hair and beauty services 
 Shoe repairs/ key cutting
 Travel agents
 Ticket offices e.g. for theatre
 Dry cleaners
 Launderettes
 PC/ TV/ domestic appliance repair 
 Funeral directors
 Photo processing 
 DVD/ video rentals 
 Tool hire 
 Car hire 
 Cinemas
 Estate and letting agents

 Properties that are being used for the sale of food and / or drink to visiting members of 
the public:-

 Restaurants, including drive through/drive in restaurants
 Takeaways 
 Sandwich shops
 Cafés
 Coffee shops
 Pubs
 Wine Bars

Tudalen 154



Appendix 2

Examples of the types of retail premises that will not qualify for assistance under the Local 
Business Rates Relief Scheme:

 Properties being used wholly or mainly for the provision of the following services to 
visiting members of the public:

 Financial services (e.g. banks, building societies, cash points, ATMs, bureaux de 
change, payday lenders, betting shops, pawn brokers)

 Medical services (e.g. vets, dentists, doctors, osteopaths, chiropractors)
 Professional services (e.g. solicitors, accountants, insurance agents, financial 

advisers, tutors)
 Post office sorting office
 Tourism accommodation, e.g. B&Bs, hotel accommodation and caravan parks
 Sports clubs
 Children’s play centres
 Day nurseries
 Outdoor activity centres
 Gyms
 Kennels and catteries
 Show homes and marketing suites
 Employment agencies

In addition, the following properties will not be eligible to relief under the scheme: 

a) Properties with a rateable value of more than £50,000
b) Properties that are not occupied
c) Properties that are owned, rented or managed by a local authority
d) Properties that are in receipt of mandatory charitable relief

Tudalen 155



Tudalen wag



Appendix 3

Proposed local business rate reduction scheme
In order to further support our town centre and retail businesses for 2020/21 it is proposed that a new local discretionary Non 
Domestic Rate (NDR) Relief be provided of up to a maximum of £300 per qualifying business.  Based on current information, it is 
estimated that 485 businesses would benefit from this support.

The Council already has a number of packages in place to support our valued Town Centres and Retail Business and this 
proposed new discretionary NDR relief provides businesses with additional help in paying their NDR for 2020/21.

This will be in addition to other support already available including the Welsh Governments High Street and Retail Rates Relief 
Scheme (HSRR).  The same qualifying criteria as the HSRR will be applied.

Consultation results

 The online survey was live for 8 weeks between December 2 2019 and January 27 2020 

 26 people responded to the consultation online

 96.2% of respondents agreed that the Council should continue to support town centres and retail businesses within Rhondda 
Cynon Taf

 84.6% of respondents agreed that providing additional support towards the payment of Non Domestic (Business) Rates 
through a local discretionary relief is a positive way of helping sustain Town Centres and Retail Businesses

 76.9% of respondents agreed with The Council’s proposal to use the same qualifying criteria for this local scheme as that 
used for the Welsh Government High Street and Retail Rate Relief Scheme

T
udalen 157



 62.5% of respondents agreed that £300 per qualifying business is an appropriate discretionary relief

T
udalen 158



T
udalen 159



Views on how the Council might further or alternatively support our town 
centres and retail businesses
This should be done ASAP
you could offer free rent for a trial time to see if business could get established also I have been 
shocked at the high rates you charge at the craft centre/model house Llantrisant. please consider 
reducing rate, i as a tax payer would rather see these unit & others like in in use rather than empty & 
deteriorating !!!! it will aid regeneration of our towns.
Reduce car parking fees or introduce free parking after 10am - if even for only 3 or 4 hours
See below.
In what way discretionary ? Businesses should pay towards upkeep of the local community.
Changes to planning regulations are needed to stop national chains 'hoovering-up' small 
businesses. I am lucky enough to live in Treorchy (which is doing well) but if ever a weatherspoons, 
Tesco or Starbucks move in we'll end up like Tonypandy (and no-one wants that).
Consider zero rate for new businesses for 2-3years.
Through more careful planning decisions, trying to ensure there is a more varied and versatile type 
of shop/business..
Organise and communicate communal opening hours in return for the discounts. Shops opening 
hours change daily and reduce trade. On a Saturday many shops close early, others are open until 
two and others are open until four or five. Would just like predictability.
Charge owners of empty retail / commercial land and properties empty building fees 100% same as 
the proposed residential charges.
Properties used for domestic and non domestic purposes should be exempt from business rates to 
encourage start ups.
Any help to businesses in general is great. More support is needed for martial art businessess, we 
give such great value to health and fitness members of the public and its not being heard enough.
local small independent businesses should have 100% relief. There is already tremendous pressure 
on independent shops on the high street and the business rates bill could make these businesses 
close and then that has a detrimental effect on our high street. Shops such as cross-nation travel 

T
udalen 160



agents like Tui/Greggs/Banks etc should pay rates as they make huge profits nationwide unlike 
small shops who only trade in the community. They are ones who need help not businesse of their 
profit. Make the criteria profit based not size of property

Additional comments:
Whilst in principle I agree with assistance for small business, I do wonder if the money is needed 
more elsewhere e.g. social care. I admit that our town centres are dying off, but I'm not certain that 
financial assistance for business rates for small business is what will save it. Town centres are dying 
because people don't use them, we're all guilty of flooding to retail parks or shopping online, before 
heading to the town centre to shop. This is what kills off small businesses, so I'm not entirely certain 
financial relief of £300 will make any difference. To be clear, this is the fault of us as consumers, not 
the local authority.
I am generally supportive of the proposals but I think petrol stations and take-aways should be 
excluded; both are bad for the environment and take-aways can contribute to the obesity epiddemic.
No rates for first twelve months of a new business.
Fees needed for empty properties to pay for the relief for properties in use. The empty and 
damaged properties need to be charged 100% in addition to the normal council/business rate to be 
in line with new proposed changes for residential charges.
We run a Local business on aberaman ind. est. Would that apply to us? All small business could do 
with more support.

T
udalen 161



T
udalen w

ag


	Agenda
	2 Cofnodion
	4 Argymhellion Grwp Llywio'r Cabinet ar faterion yr Hinsawdd
	Atodiad 1
	Atodiad 2

	5 Gwneud Gwahaniaeth: Cynllun Corfforaethol y Cyngor 2020-2024 (Drafft)
	6 Trafod swyddi Swyddogion Ymgysylltu â Theuluoedd
	7 Canlyniadau Arholiadau Cyfnod Allweddol 4 a Chyfnod Allweddol 5 a Chategorïau Ysgolion Cynradd ac Uwchradd ar gyfer 2019/20
	8 Cydweithio ar yr Uned Trafnidiaeth Integredig
	9 Cefnogi Busnesau Tref a Manwerthu yn Rhondda Cynon Taf – Cynllun Lleihau Ardrethi Busnes Lleol
	Atodiad 3


